Ніжинський державний університет імені Миколи Гоголя

Таран О. М., Карпенко Н. М., Ларіна Т. В., Пономаренко О. В., Сливка В. П., Смелянська В. В., Давиденко О. В.

FIRST YEAR GRAMMAR COMPANION

Навчальний посібник для студентів І курсу факультету іноземних мов Рекомендовано Вченою радою Ніжинського державного університету імені Миколи Гоголя (НДУ ім. М. Гоголя) Протокол № 13 від 26.06.2019 р.

Рецензенти:

Шевченко С. І. – доцент кафедри прикладної лінгвістики Ніжинського державного університету імені Миколи Гоголя, кандидат педагогічних наук;

Чувакова Т. Г. – доцент кафедри прикладної лінгвістики Ніжинського державного університету імені Миколи Гоголя, кандидат педагогічних наук.

Таран О. М., Карпенко Н. М., Ларіна Т. В., Пономаренко О. В., Сливка В. П., Смелянська В. В., Давиденко О. В.

Т19 First Year Grammar Companion: навч. посіб. для студентів І курсу факультету іноземних мов / кол. авторів під керівн. О. М. Таран. Ніжин: НДУ ім. М. Гоголя, 2019. 173 с.

Посібник розроблений відповідно до рекомендацій Комітету з питань освіти при Раді Європи щодо навчання іноземних мов та Програми з англійської мови для університетів. Його мета — сприяти досягненню необхідних умінь і навичок усвідомленого вживання граматичних форм, а також надати студентам можливість вдосконалювати свої знання шляхом самостійної роботи над граматичних матеріалом.

Призначений для студентів першого курсу факультетів іноземних мов, що навчаються за напрямом підготовки 6.020303 Філологія*, викладачів та всіх, хто вивчає англійську.

УДК 811.111(075.8)

- © О. М. Таран, Н. М. Карпенко,
 - Т. В. Ларіна,
 - О. В. Пономаренко,
 - В. П. Сливка, В. В. Смелянська
 - О. В. Давиденко, 2019
- © НДУ ім. М. Гоголя, 2019

CONTENTS

ПЕРЕДМОВА	4
EXERCISES	5
The Verb	5
Impersonal Sentences	5
Imperative Sentences	8
There is / are	12
The Present Indefinite Tense	19
The Past Indefinite Tense	25
The Future Indefinite Tense	31
Be going to	34
Conditional 1	36
The Present Continuous Tense	40
The Past Continuous Tense	45
The Future Continuous Tense	49
The Present Perfect Tense	53
The Past Perfect Tense	58
The Future Perfect Tense	64
The Present Perfect Continuous Tense	69
Modal Verbs	74
The Passive Voice	92
The Reported Speech	103
The Noun	115
The Pronoun	118
The Adjective	128
The Numeral	134
The Adverb	137
GRAMMAR REFERENCE	141
LIST OF IRREGULAR VERBS	169

ПЕРЕДМОВА

Посібник «First Year Grammar Companion» призначений для студентів першого курсу факультетів іноземних мов, що навчаються за напрямом підготовки 6.020303 Філологія*. Посібник розроблений відповідно до рекомендацій Комітету з питань освіти при Раді Європи щодо навчання іноземних мов (A Common European Framework of Reference, 2001) та Програми з англійської мови для університетів (Ніколаєва та ін., 2001).

Збірник вправ призначений для студентів із середнім рівнем володіння англійською мовою, які вже мають базові знання і прагнуть систематизувати та поглибити їх. Він може стати корисним для викладачів практики усного та писемного мовлення як додатковий матеріал у роботі із студентами з окремих розділів англійської граматики.

Посібник містить вправи з усіх основних розділів граматики англійської мови: безособові речення, наказовий спосіб, часи дієслова, умовні речення, модальні дієслова, пасивний стан, частини мови. У нього включено комплекс вправ, які є рецептивно-репродуктивними, умовно-комунікативними та комунікативними. Вправи є як одномовні, так і перекладні. Дане видання доповнено фонетичними вправами, теоретичним матеріалом та списком неправильних дієслів.

Передбачається, що даний збірник вправ сприятиме розвитку і закріпленню граматичних навичок студентів та допоможе зробити процес навчання граматиці більш інтерактивним та ефективним.

Посібник може також бути використаний у навчанні студентів немовних закладів вищої освіти, учнів шкіл із поглибленим вивченням англійської мови, а також для тих, хто вивчає англійську мову самостійно.

EXERCISES

The Verb

IMPERSONAL SENTENCES

Exercise 1. Read the impersonal sentences with proper intonation.

- 1. [It IZ $\Delta\alpha:k$ |/IZnt It || 'jes It IX || Its $\Delta\alpha:k$ ||]
- 2. [It IZ 'not \glu:mi in \mathfrak{D} ə ja:d |/IZ It || 'jes It \IZ || Its \glu:mi ||]
- 3. [It IZ 'not $\sl | /$ IZ It || ' not It IZ 'not $\sl ||$]
- 4. [ıt ız $fogi \mid /ıznt$ ıt $|| n3v \mid its not ||$ ıt ız 'not fogi ||]
- 5. [it iz 'not \k3vld no Pə hil |/iz it || \jes | it \iz || it iz \k3vld ||]
- 6. [its 'i:zi tə \la:n it | /iznt it || \n3υ | it iz \not || it iz \difikəlt ||]

Exercise 2. Respond using impersonal sentences.

Model: Let's go for a walk. (too cold) – Oh, no. It's too cold today.

- 1. Get up. (too early)
- 2. Let's have a walk. (rainy)
- 3. Switch off the light. (dark)
- 4. Take off your hat. (windy)
- 5. Put on a sweater. (summer)
- 6. Let's open the window. (cold)
- 7. Let's take a taxi. (not far from here)
- 8. I want to go there by plane. (expensive)
- 9. Phone Michael. He can help you. (too late)
- 10. Go to the next room and wait for me there. (dark)
- 11. Mummy, may I play with Mike? (time to go home)
- 12. Hurry up! We are going to be late for the concert. (5 o'clock)

Exercise 3. Disagree with the statements and explain the reason.

Model: It's late. $(only\ 4\ pm)$ – It is not late. It's only $4\ pm$.

- 1. It's wet outside. (dry)
- 2. It is cold today. (warm)
- 3. It's early to go home. (dark)
- 4. It is late spring. (early summer)
- 5. It's difficult to find her house. (easy)
- 6. It's dangerous to play with that dog. (safe)
- 7. It's exhausting to do the research. (interesting)
- 8. It's cheap to buy a new laptop. (very expensive)
- 9. It's easy to understand his letters. (quite difficult)
- 10. It is bad for your health to jog in the morning. (useful)
- 11. It's so exciting to go somewhere by plane. (frightening)
- 12. It's far away from the Hall of Residence to the university. (2 minutes' walk)

Exercise 4. Paraphrase the following using impersonal sentences.

Model: I can't understand you well. (difficult) – It's difficult for me to understand you.

- 1. I am happy to see you again. (nice)
- 2. She can easily translate the text. (easy)
- 3. You must do this task properly. (important)
- 4. Their place is really pleasant to live in. (lovely)
- 5. We can't afford to stay in this hotel. (expensive)
- 6. The evening is good for a long walk, I think. (pleasant)
- 7. I don't like to go out in such nasty weather. (unpleasant)
- 8. The children are afraid to walk in the thick wood. (scary)
- 9. We can go for a drive on such a wonderful day. (splendid)
- 10. I like this arm-chair. It is cozy to sit in. (comfortable)
- 11. My mom always laughs when she listens to my stories. (funny)
- 12. We can't stay indoors long because of the high temperature. (hot)

Exercise 5. Ask questions as in the models. Let your partner answer them.

Model 1: Ask your partner if it is safe to go there at night.

- − *Is it safe to go there at night?*
- Yes, it's quite safe. There are 5 of us.

Ask your partner:

- 1. if it is cloudy today;
- 2. if it is a warm day today;
- 3. if it isn't hot in the kitchen;
- 4. if it is difficult to do this task;
- 5. if it is time to start the concert;
- 6. if it is pleasant to walk in the rain;
- 7. if it isn't comfortable to work at this desk;
- 8. if it isn't a good idea to make her such a present;
- 9. if it is possible to learn English without a teacher;
- 10. if it is popular with young people to wear extra-huge bags.

Model 2: Ask your partner if it is true it is (not) safe to go there.

- 1. It's safe to go there, isn't it? Yes, it is./ No, it isn't.
- 2. It isn't safe to go there, is it? No, it isn't./ Yes, it is.

Ask your partner:

- 1. if it is true it's Monday today;
- 2. if it is true it is splendid weather today;
- 3. if it is true it's time to start our lesson;
- 4. if it is true it isn't dark in the next room;
- 5. if it is true it is pleasant to swim in the sea;
- 6. if it is true it isn't expensive to stay at a hotel;
- 7. if it is true it is not difficult to repair a computer;
- 8. if it is true it is important to clean the house regularly;
- 9. if it is true it is not difficult to find the way to your house;
- 10. if it is true it is not necessary to have a mobile phone nowadays.

Model 3: Ask your partner when it is safe to go there.

- When is it safe to go there?
- It's safe to go there early in the morning.

Ask your partner:

- 1. what day it is;
- 2. what date it is;
- 3. what time it is;
- 4. what temperature it is;
- 5. when it is possible to meet;
- 6. why it is impossible to call on her today;
- 7. when it is necessary to start the concert;
- 8. where it is possible to buy a modern bag;
- 9. how far it is from the station to his/her house;
- 10. why it is important to know English nowadays.

Exercise 6. Describe the current situation. Make use of impersonal sentences.

Model: It's autumn now. It's October, 1 today. It's a wet and windy day. It's unpleasant to stay outside in such weather. But it's quite nice to be at home with your family and friends. It's 8 o'clock. It's time to go to University. It's not far from my house to the University. It's better to leave earlier, because it's good to be in time for classes. It's important to follow the university rules.

IMPERATIVE SENTENCES

Exercise 1. Read the imperative sentences, pay attention to the intonation of order and polite request.

['luk ət 'Di:z \sentənsız ||] ['kli:n Də \bo:d ||] ['gɔʊ tə Də /pɑ:k ||]

['kɔ:l mi· ət /ten ||] ['dɔʊnt 'sʊpən Də /bʊk ||] ['help hɔɔ tə \du: ɪt ||]

['pʊt ' on jə· /kɔʊt ||] ['lɔɔ \vɔ:bz ||] ['pɑ:s Də \bɔ:l ||]

Exercise 2.

A. Complete the conversations.

Model: – What's the matter, Mary?

- -I'm hungry.
- Have a sandwich.

1. I'm thirsty.	a. Take some aspirin.
2. I'm hot.	b. Take a cold shower.
3. I'm cold.	c. Put on a sweater.
4. I'm tired.	d. Have some rest.
5. I'm angry.	e. Go to the cinema.
6. I'm bored.	f. Calm down.
7. I have a headache.	g. Go to the dentist.
8. I have a toothache.	h. Drink some water.

B. Act out similar dialogues.

Exercise 3. Respond to the sentences.

Model: It's very slippery outside. (to be careful/ to go there by car) - Be careful. Don't go there by car.

- 1. It's late. (to hurry up/ to make the music loud)
- 2. It's rainy outside. (to take an umbrella/ to go out)
- 3. It's too early. (to stay in bed/ to wake sb up)
- 4. It's stuffy here. (to air the room/ to close the window)
- 5. It's very foggy. (to stay at home/ to ride a moped)
- 6. It is boring to read the book. (to take another one/ to read it)
- 7. It's cold in the corridor. (to enter the living-room/ to open the door)
- 8. It's hot in the room. (to take off a sweater/ to switch on the heater)
- 9. It's muddy outside. (to wear rubber boots/ to play football in the yard)
- 10.It's time to do the homework. (to switch off the TV/ to talk with friends on the phone long)

Exercise 4. Write positive and negative imperatives with the same meaning. Use the adverbs in the box.

Model: to behave politely - Behave politely. Don't behave	ve rudely.
1. To sing/ well	Slowly
2. To eat/ slowly3. To get up/ early	Carelessly
4. To walk/ fast5. To write/ legibly	Quickly
6. To wait/ patiently	Casually
7. To speak/ quietly8. To dress/ smartly	Loudly
9. To listen/ carefully	Impatiently
10.To read/ distinctly	Badly
	Late
	Indistinctly
	Illegibly
Exercise 5. Complete the letter with the verbs in the	imperative form.
to make to wait to come to ask (2) to to take to forget	see to open to go
Dear Suzie,	
1 and2 me this weekend. I'm in the	Hall of Residence. It's not
expensive but it's quite comfortable there. It's easy to	find it. The hostel is not far
from the station3 bus 12 and4 as far as the	central square. Then5
any passer-by how to get to the University Hall of Resi	
clothes. It's rather cold. I can be late so7 for me	· · ·
you the key9 the door and10 yourself comformation. See you soon, Steve.	rtable in the room.
Emanciae (Males and a) maridine and b)	

Exercise 6. Make up a) positive and b) negative imperatives using the verbs from the table.

Model: Tell the truth. Don't tell lies.

to go to read to come to leave to go out to drink to call to tell (3) to help to speak to put on to call on to clean to have to look to take to skip to invite

1	the truth.	a lies.
2	me alone.	b classes.
3	there on time.	c cold water.
4	the blackboard.	d home alone.
5	_ a cup of hot tea.	e loudly. It's late.
6	_ me with English.	f her. She is away.
7	_ out of the window.	g without an umbrella.
8	_ us about your trip.	h the dress. It's too old.
9	the book from the library.	i him now. He is asleep.
10.	your friend to a birthday party.	i. the book. It isn't interesting.

Exercise 7. These are library regulations. Transform them using imperatives.

Model: Appropriate behaviour is expected in all the sections of the library. – Behave properly in all the sections of the library.

- 1. Smoking is not permitted in the library.
- 2. Loan for students is 4 books for two weeks.
- 3. All members of the library must be registered.
- 4. You must not bring food or drink to the library.
- 5. Books must not be marked or damaged in any way.
- 6. You must not talk to one another in the reading halls.
- 7. You must not give your reader's card to any other person.
- 8. You must switch off the mobile phone when entering the library.
- 9. You must inform the librarians of your address and phone number.
- 10.Reader's card must be shown each time you want to borrow a book.

Exercise 8. Respond as in the model:

Model: I'm hungry. – Let's go to the café.

- 1. Mike is ill. (to visit)
- 2. Mary is lonely. (to call)
- 3. The apple is tasty. (to eat)
- 4. The dog is hungry. (to feed)
- 5. The dinner is cold. (to warm)
- 6. The game is exciting. (to play)
- 7. The dress is beautiful. (to buy)
- 8. The book is interesting. (to read)
- 9. The lunch is ready. (to set the table)
- 10. We are late for the bus. (to take a taxi)
- 11. The dinner is ready. (to sit down to table)
- 12. The exercise is difficult for Mary. (to help)

Exercise 9. Write your teachers', parents', friends' requests, advice, orders, instructions, etc.

Model: Don't go home alone after classes. Wash the dishes. Don't read late at night. Don't be late for classes.

Exercise 10. Write 10 dos and don'ts for those who want to become top students.

Model: Do your homework regularly. Meet deadlines. Don't play truant from classes. Don't cheat your teacher.

THERE IS/ ARE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences with *there is/ are*, pay attention to the sentence-stress.

- 1. [ℙεər ız 'lıtl \f3:nıt∫ər ın mεərız sıtıŋru:m | /ıznt ℙεə || 'jes ℙεər \ız || bət hɜ· 'bedru:m ız 'verı 'wel\f3:nı∫t ||]
- 2. ['α: Đεər eni /kv∫nz on Đə sɜvfə || \nɜv | Đεər \α:nt eni || Đεər iz ə 'bju:tıfvl \kwilt insted ||]
- 3. ['ız Φεər enı ,kæfı∕tıərıə nıəbaı || \jes | Φεər \ız || bı∕saıdz | Φεər ız ə 'spe∫əl \dannıŋ εərıə ın Φə ru:m ||]

Exercise 2. Read the sentences, pay attention to the pronunciation of the adverbial groups.

- 1. On the right there is a garage for the hosts' car and children's bicycles.
- 2. Downstairs there is a sitting-room with a fireplace.
- 3. There isn't much furniture in my room.
- 4. On the left there is a built-in wardrobe with a lot of drawers.
- 5. Opposite the wardrobe there is a sofa with some pretty cushions.
- 6. There is a computer table in the right-hand corner next to the window.
- 7. At the table there are two chairs.
- 8. On the walls there are nice pictures.
- 9. In front of the house there is a beautiful flower-bed with bright multi-coloured flowers.
- 10. On the mantelpiece there are some knick-knacks from some far-away countries.

Exercise 3. Fill in is or are.

A.	
1.	What there in the garage?
2.	How many rooms there in your house?
3.	There several dogs and a cat in the yard.
4.	How much money there in your purse?
5.	there anybody at home?
6.	Why there so many chairs in the room?
7.	there a lawn in front of the house?
8.	There three rooms downstairs and only one upstairs.
9.	there all modern conveniences in the house?
10	. There only built-in furniture in their house.
	·
В.	
1.	There a comfortable sofa and two soft arm-chairs in the living-room.
2.	There something wrong with my computer.
3.	there much important information in that book?
	There nothing but truth in his words.

5. There too much furniture in such a tiny room.
6 there any new clothes in the wardrobe?
7. There only love and understanding in his family.
8. There no sense in returning home now.
9 there much to do about the house?
10 there enough food for all?
C.
1. There a dozen of chairs in that room.
2. There a number of interesting books in the library.
3. There a wide range of furniture shops in the capital.
4. There a lot of sheep in the field.
5. There a number of journalists at the conference today.
6. There a pair of jeans in the washing machine.
7. There a pack of hungry dogs behind her house.
8. There only 4 dollars left.
9. There about two miles between their houses.
10. There 20 minutes to finish the test.
Exercise 4. Fill in it or there.
11 is much snow in winter, isn't2_?
23 is a modern sofa in that furniture shop4 is very expensive.
3. What's the matter with you? –5 is something in my eye.
46 is a new bicycle behind the cottage. Is7 your son's?
58 is a war film at 16.359 is very instructive.
610 is some misunderstanding between them11 is unbelievable.
7. 12 is a lovely day today, isn't13?
8. Why is14 so cold in the room? –15 is no radiator there.
916 are a lot of people in the yard17 is so noisy there.
1018 is pleasant to be at home19 is always somebody to smile at you.
11. Is20 convenient to meet at 5 near the post office? - Yes,21 i
enough time to get there in time.
12. Look!22 is a photo of Mary in the newspaper23 is strange.
1324 is too much sugar in your tea, isn't25? - Yes,26 is too
sweet.
1427 isn't much paper, is28?
1529 is a long way from my house to the airport.
16. 30 isn't a cloud in the sky.
<u> </u>

Exercise 5. Disagree with the statements and explain the reasons.

Model: There is a potted flower on the window sill. – There isn't a potted flower on the window sill. (There is no potted flower on the window sill). There is a vase there.

1. There is a lot of jam in the fridge.

- 2. There is much traffic in the street.
- 3. There are some people in the park.
- 4. There is a lake in front of the house.
- 5. There is only one photo in the album.
- 6. There are three big rooms in the house.
- 7. There are 12 students in the classroom.
- 8. There is a washing machine in his room.
- 9. There is much furniture in their bedroom.
- 10. There are a few pictures in this text-book.
- 11. There is a small garden not far from their house.
- 12. There are students only from Nizhyn in our group.

Exercise 6. Ask questions as in the model.

Model: Ask your partner if it is true there is a small cottage on the hill. – There is a small cottage on the hill, isn't there?

- Yes, there is./ No, there isn't.

Ask your partner if it is true there aren't any pets in the house. – There aren't any pets in the house, are there?

- No, there aren't./ Yes, there are.

A. Ask your partner if it is true:

- 1. there is no light in the room;
- 2. there is much dust on the table;
- 3. there are two bedrooms upstairs;
- 4. there are a lot of toys in her child's room;
- 5. there is a beautiful Chinese vase in the picture;
- 6. there are a lot of domestic animals on their farm;
- 7. there is a two-storied house in the picturesque area;
- 8. there is a cheap cafe round the corner;
- 9. there is little water in the kettle;
- 10. there is much humour in the story;

B. Ask your partner if it is true:

- 1. there is no choice:
- 2. there is nothing to eat in the house;
- 3. there aren't many apple trees in the garden;
- 4. there isn't a flowerbed in front of the house;
- 5. there is no time to discuss this problem;
- 6. there isn't a hall of residence within easy reach of the University;
- 7. there are no spelling mistakes in his test;
- 8. there aren't enough candies to treat everybody;
- 9. there is nothing wrong with his laptop;
- 10. there is not my best friend in the photo.

Exercise 7. Ask questions as in the models. Let your partner answer them.

Model 1: Ask your partner if there is a lipstick in her bag. – Is there a lipstick in your bag?

− No, there isn't. But there is a mascara wand there.

A. Ask your partner:

- 1. if there is a toy on the sofa;
- 2. if there is a vase on the table;
- 3. if there is a bookcase in the study;
- 4. if there is a lift in their block of flats;
- 5. if there is a garden behind the house;
- 6. if there are wooden houses in that street;
- 7. if there is a two-room flat on the third floor;
- 8. if there are two armchairs in the sitting-room;
- 9. if there are many houses in the centre of the city;
- 10. if there is a wall between the kitchen and the dining-room;

Model 2: Ask your partner what there is in her pantry. — What is there in your pantry?

- There are some old things there.

B. Ask your partner:

- 1. what there is behind her house;
- 2. what there is on the window sill;
- 3. why there is nothing in the garage;
- 4. how many rooms there are upstairs;
- 5. what amenities there are in the house;
- 6. why there is no cable TV in there house;
- 7. what flowers there are in the flower bed;
- 8. how many rooms there are in his/her flat;
- 9. how many storeys there are in the skyscraper;
- 10. how many houses there are in the suburbs of Nizhyn.

C. Ask your partner:

- 1. what there is on those shelves;
- 2. how many days there are in December;
- 3. how much paper there is in the printer;
- 4. why there are so many people in the hall;
- 5. if there are many students at the meeting;
- 6. how many spoons there are in the drawer;
- 7. if there is a house-warming party next door;
- 8. why there aren't any dresses in her wardrobe;
- 9. if there is modern equipment in the laboratory;
- 10. if there are fresh vegetables on the kitchen table;

Exercise 8. Put the words in the right order. Put as many questions to the sentences as possible.

Model: in/ there/ evening/ to/ is/ nothing/ do/ the — There is nothing to do in the evening.

There is nothing to do in the evening, is there? Is there anything to do in the evening? Is there nothing to do in the evening or in the morning? What is there to do in the evening? When is there nothing to do?

- 1. much/ to/ work/ is/ there/ do/ today;
- 2. no/ village/ there/ river/ is/ their/ in;
- 3. is/words/in/anger/there/much/his;
- 4. food/ isn't/ in/ much/ fridge/ there/ the;
- 5. only/ there/ problem/ out/ way/ is/ of/ the/ one;
- 6. a/ end/ the/ funny/ there/ at/ story/ is/ episode/ of/ the;
- 7. some/in/there/hall/strict/of/the/residence/are/rules.
- 8. a/ English/ in/ library/ there/ our/ are/ books/ of/ lot/ local;
- 9. of/ that/ there/ many/ in/ country/ the/ aren't/ fields/ region/ good;
- 10. bench/ a/ there/ garden/ my/ tree/ a/ under/ aunt's/ wooden/ shady/ in/ is;

Exercise 9. Paraphrase the sentences using there is or there are.

Model: I have got some new furniture in my room. – There is some new furniture in my room.

A.

- 1. What has he got in the pantry?
- 2. They have got pink walls in the corridor.
- 3. Why has he got two wardrobes in the room?
- 4. The house hasn't got all modern conveniences.
- 5. She hasn't got curtains in her bedroom, has she?
- 6. We have much housework to do at the weekend.
- 7. They have got two fridges in the kitchen, haven't they?
- 8. Peter has got a car, a motor-bike and an old bicycle in his garage.

В.

- 1. What has he got in his pocket?
- 2. Haven't you got any relatives in Kiev?
- 3. She has got a golden watch on her wrist.
- 4. I have no problem finding my way in Kiev.
- 5. Have you got famous people in your family?
- 6. They have a problem with the tape-recorder.
- 7. Has she got any new pictures in her collection?
- 8. He has got a lot of products in his shop, hasn't he?
- 9. How many animals has he got in his private zoo?
- 10. They haven't got any problems at work, have they?

Exercise 10. Expand on the statements using sentences with *there is* and *there are*.

Model A: – Mike's kitchen is modern and well-equipped. – There is a modern microwave, a food processor, a new coffee maker and a toaster in the kitchen. Besides, there is a washing machine and a freezer there.

- 1. His room is poorly furnished.
- 2. It's very noisy in the next room.
- 3. We like to have walks in this park.
- 4. It's better to live in a detached house.
- 5. Kate's flat is not large but comfortable.
- 6. It's so depressing to live in the centre of the city.
- 7. Her room in the hall of residence is a complete mess.
- 8. The house is picturesquely situated in the suburbs of London.

Model B: We are ready to start our lesson. – There are 13 students and a teacher in the classroom. There are textbooks and notebooks on the desks. There is enough chalk on the board.

- 1. You can't go there alone.
- 2. I can't find anything on my table.
- 3. We can move into our new flat today.
- 4. We can die of boredom in this village.
- 5. It's impossible to have a picnic in this area.
- 6. You can stay in this comfortable hotel room.
- 7. Everything is ready for the house-warming party.
- 8. You can use this magazine for your presentation.

Exercise 11. Describe the place you would like to be now without naming it. Use *there is* and *there are*.

Model: There is only me and nobody else there. There is silence and peace everywhere. There are a lot of shady trees and exotic flowers there. There is much clean sand, salt water and the bright sun in my dream place. (an uninhabited island)

Exercise 12.

A. Find and correct mistakes in this text.

Peter's two-storey cottage is a dream of a house. There is in the centre of the city. They are three spacious rooms downstairs and four comfortable rooms upstairs. There are a shower, two bathrooms and two lavatories in the cottage. It is only modern wooden furniture in every room. The cottage it is always kept in apple-pie order. No wonder, Peter's mother Mary she is very house proud. They are always a lot of visitors to their house. Everybody is welcome.

B. Speak on a house of your dreams.

Exercise 13. Translate the sentences into English.

A.

- 1. Чи ϵ хто-небудь у тій кімнаті? Там зараз нікого нема ϵ .
- 2. У цьому районі ϵ чимало ресторанів.
- 3. У підручнику багато кольорових малюнків.
- 4. Ввечері зазвичай нічого робити. У нашому селі немає ані кіно, ані театру. Тут ϵ лише одне кафе та клуб.
- 5. Скільки комп'ютерів у вашому університеті? Там достатньо комп'ютерів для всіх студентів.
- 6. Скільки днів у тижні? Сім.
- 7. Чи ϵ що-небудь поїсти? У холодильнику ϵ піца та бутерброди з сиром. На газовій плиті ϵ каструля з супом.
- 8. На небі немає хмар.
- 9. У вашому містечку ϵ доступ до Інтернету? Ні, тут ϵ лише радіо та телебачення.
- 10. Чи ϵ які-небудь новини? Сьогодні жодних новин.

В.

- 1. Немає нічого кращого за мою зручну м'яку канапу.
- 2. Існує цілий спектр недорогих товарів для дому.
- 3. У твоєму списку є які-небудь книжки про тварин? Так, дві.
- 4. Щось не так із моїм пилососом. У нашому місті ϵ майстер із ремонту пилососів?
- 5. Що в коробці? Там плитка для нашої ванної кімнати.
- 6. Існують різні види парканів: дерев'яні, металеві, з цегли.
- 7. В їхньому приватному будинку ϵ всі сучасні зручності: електрика, газ, холодна і гаряча вода, телефон та кондиціонер.
- 8. Що на твоєму малюнку? Там хатинка з димарем, а біля неї яблуневий сад.
- 9. Скільки поверхів у цьому хмарочосі? Більше ста.
- 10. На окраїні міста багато занедбаних одноповерхових будинків.

THE PRESENT INDEFINITE TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the verbs, pay attention to the pronunciation of their endings in the 3d person singular.

a) [-z] after vowels and voiced consonants except [z], [3], [d3].

 $[g3\upsilon] - [g3\upsilon z] \qquad [ste3] - [ste3z] \qquad [kli:n] - [kli:nz] \qquad [tel] - [telz]$ $[pla\upsilon] - [pla\upsilon z] \qquad [si:] - [si:z] \qquad [rein] - [reinz] \qquad [ri:d] - [ri:dz]$ $[gr3\upsilon] - [gr3\upsilon z] \qquad [ste1] - [ste1z] \qquad [l3:n] - [l3:nz] \qquad [sin] - [sinz]$

b) [-s] after voiceless consonants except [s], [\int], [t \int].

 $[w3:k] - [w3:ks] \qquad [te1k] - [te1ks] \qquad [ra1t] - [ra1ts]$ $[stop] - [stops] \qquad [r1'pi:t] - [r1'pi:ts] \qquad [in'va1t] - [in'va1ts]$ $[get] - [gets] \qquad [sli:p] - [sli:ps] \qquad [ki:p] - [ki:ps]$

c) [-ız] after [s], [z], [\int], [3], [t \int], [d3].

 $[mis] - ['misiz] \qquad [d3 \land id3] - ['d3 \land id3iz] \qquad ['præktis] - ['præktisiz] \\ [wis] - ['wisi] \qquad [t \cdot fend3] - ['t \cdot fend3iz] \qquad [pre'nauns] - [pre'naunsiz] \\ [raiz] - ['raiziz] \qquad [wisit] - ['wisit] \qquad [ri'vaiz] - [ri'vaiziz]$

Exercise 2. Read the sentences, observe the pronunciation of the auxiliary verb to do.

- 1. ['du: ju· 'w3:k /hα:d ət jɔ· prə,n\nsı/e\ln || 'jes aı \du: | bət ıt 'te\ls 'ta\m ənd 'efət tə ə't\li\:v 'g\ud rı\z\ls ||]
- 2. ['d\znt 'pɔ:l 'teik eni ıg\zæmz ət $\mathfrak{D}i$ end əv \mathfrak{D} ə kɔ:s || \jes | hi \ \d\z || 'hav meni ıg'zæmz dəz hi \ 'ju:zvəlı \ teik || hi \ 'teiks \ \tu: ||]
- 3. [Pei dv 'not kən'd^kt rı's3:t] on ə $\k | t$ mætə | /du: Pei || \n3v | Pei \d3vnt ||]

Exercise 3. Write the third person singular form of these verbs. Read them aloud.

Model: read – reads

Play, hurry, watch, have, give, speak, miss, fix, do, stay, go, come, jump, die, make, lie, study, keep, get, teach, be, take, practise, boil, study, begin, know, sing, want, live, differ, listen.

Exercise 4. Agree with the statements using the prompts.

Model: He is never absent from his classes. (to attend) – He attends all the classes.

- 1. Autumn is a rainy season. (to rain)
- 2. Who is eager to answer? (to want)
- 3. He is usually free on Saturday. (to do)
- 4. Our classes are over at 5.30. (to finish)
- 5. Nina is interested in sport. (to go in for)

- 6. My brother is good at Math. (to do well in)
- 7. My neighbour is always in after 7. (to stay)
- 8. I am poor at using English tenses. (to misuse)
- 9. Pete is fond of Chinese culture. (to like/ to admire)
- 10. Ukraine is rich in customs and traditions. (to have)
- 11. She is away from most of her lectures. (to miss/ to skip)
- 12. What's your favourite amateur art activity? (to enjoy)
- 13. We are all familiar with these learning strategies. (to know)
- 14. They are always late for their lessons. (not to come in time)
- 15.Is your teacher always satisfied with your answers? (to like)
- 16. Are you for the idea of going out of town for the weekend? (to support)

Exercise 5. Disagree with the statements and explain why you disagree.

Model: He attends all the classes. - He does not attend all the classes. He is often ill.

- 1. He often meets his sister. (busy)
- 2. He gets up early on Saturday. (to be a heavy sleeper)
- 3. Jason wants to become an interpreter. (a teacher)
- 4. Alice spends much money on books. (to borrow)
- 5. My parents watch TV every evening. (to read a lot)
- 6. Mike goes for a walk after dinner. (to do homework)
- 7. My cousin speaks 3 foreign languages. (to speak one)
- 8. They study physics. (to be language learners)
- 9. We stay at home in summer. (to go to the seaside)
- 10.My grandparents keep a lot of domestic animals. (to live in a flat)
- 11. Mary doesn't learn a lot from her new teacher. (experienced, well-read)
- 12.My sister teaches Ukrainian. (a lawyer)

Exercise 6.

A. Ask questions as in the model. Let your partner answer them.

Model: Ask your partner if it is true he likes classical music. – You like classical music, don't you?

- Yes, I do. It's very relaxing. (No, I don't. I prefer rock.)

Ask your partner if it is true he doesn't like classical music. — You don't like classical music, do you?

- No, I don't. I prefer rock. (Yes, I do. It's very relaxing.)

Ask your partner if it is true:

- 1. he doesn't miss classes;
- 2. Eric never helps his parents;
- 3. Jack doesn't understand the rule;
- 4. he never reads modern novels;
- 5. all students like linguistics;
- 6. she has lunch in the University canteen;

- 7. she raises her hand when she knows the answer;
- 8. the teacher explains everything clearly;
- 9. she stays after classes at the University;
- 10.her group-mates enjoy winter sports;
- 11.the students of the English Department often write tests;
- 12.all first-year students want to master the language.

B. Report on the information you've learned from your partner.

Exercise 7. Ask questions as in the models. Let your partner answer them.

Model 1: Ask your partner if he attends all classes. — Do you attend all classes? — Yes, I do. I want to graduate from the University with honours. (No, I don't. It's difficult to combine work and studies.)

Ask your partner if:

- 1. the bell goes at 5 sharp;
- 2. she buys her textbooks;
- 3. she knows the poem by heart;
- 4. they go for a walk after dinner;
- 5. Jack answers all the teacher's questions;
- 6. the students get excellent marks for the tests;
- 7. she always does the shopping at the weekend;
- 8. Alison doesn't visit her friends at the weekend;
- 9. his tutor helps the students to master the language;
- 10. the students get their tests back after the marking;
- 11. the teacher keeps her students busy at the lessons;
- 12. the teacher explains grammar rules to her students.

Model 2: Ask your partner what he wants to be. — What do you want to be? — I want to be an English teacher. Teaching is my calling.

Ask your partner:

- 1. where he goes after classes;
- 2. who teaches English in their group;
- 3. when her classes finish on Friday;
- 4. why they don't go to the cinema at weekends;
- 5. what their teacher does in her free periods;
- 6. where Nick gets information for his reports;
- 7. what she does to master the language;
- 8. how often she works out at the stadium;
- 9. why Mary never puts up her hand at the lessons;
- 10.how students usually relax after a long working day;
- 11.how much she pays for her dinner at the students' canteen;
- 12. when her group-mates do their homework.

Exercise 8. Comment on the chart showing what people do at the weekend. Speak on your weekend activities. Then compare with a partner.

Model: Mike <u>always</u> plays computer games at the weekend. Jack and Jill <u>seldom</u>, if ever surf the net at the weekend. I <u>never</u> play computer games at the weekend while my partner does it frequently.

	play computer games/ surf the net	watch a movie/ rent a video	go out with friends	go out of town/ go on a picnic	stay in	go dancing
Mike	always	sometimes	never	occasionally	normally	frequently
Jack and Jill	seldom	usually	often	never	usually	rarely
You						

Exercise 9. Say more about the situation.

Model: Andy is an irresponsible teenager. – He never does his work and blames everyone for his mistakes. Besides, he causes a lot of anxiety to his parents as he comes home late and hangs out with a bad crowd.

- 1. We work hard to master English.
- 2. We never stay at home at the weekend.
- 3. Mike and Sandy are our friends.
- 4. Our teacher keeps us busy at the lessons.
- 5. There aren't enough hours in a day for me.
- 6. We spend much time in the open air.
- 7. He is out of work.
- 8. Jack is a day person and Jim is a night person.
- 9. They are lucky to have a very experienced teacher.
- 10. A lot of students are party animals.
- 11. The students of our group go to the gym after classes.
- 12. I know a lot about my class-mates.

Exercise 10. Surf the net to find out some interesting information about the life (habits, interests, likes/ dislikes, etc.) of your role-model (actor, writer, singer, designer, politician, etc.). Introduce this person to your group-mates and let them ask you follow up questions about the life and work of your role-model.

Exercise 11. Make up 10 interesting questions of different types in the Present Simple. Address them to a) a party animal; b) a book worm; c) a gambler; d) a live wire; e) an exchange student; f) a farmer. Let your group-mates answer these questions as if they were these people.

Model: Questions to a chef: 1. What makes your job interesting/ difficult? 2. Do you have a passion for food and a real talent for cooking it? 3. You do the cooking at home, don't you? 4. Is it harder to cook yourself or to teach somebody else to cook?

Exercise 12. Translate the sentences into English.

A.

- 1. Ці дерева не ростуть у нашому регіоні. Тут занадто холодно для них.
- 2. Мій брат ніколи не допомагає мені по господарству. Він завжди працює допізна і приходить додому виснажений та голодний. Я не заздрю його майбутній дружині. Важко жити з трудоголіком. Я згодна з тобою, але не забувай, що він отримує гарні гроші за свою роботу.
- 3. Ти звідки? Я з Мексики. Як цікаво! Але ж це далеко від України, чи не так? Як часто ти їздиш додому? Нажаль, я не можу дозволити собі часто відвідувати свою родину. Зазвичай я літаю додому на Різдво.
- 4. –У Пітера ϵ час, щоб допомогти мені? Це залежить від того, що ти хочеш.
- 5. Коли прибуває потяг зі Львова? Я хочу зустріти сестру на станції.
- 6. Лише уяви. Вчора Сем приходить додому, заходить до своєї кімнати і бачить змію на підлозі посеред кімнати. Він кричить і всі сусіди збираються подивитися на плазуна. Усі впевнені, що змія отруйна. І лише Мері розуміє, що це не так. Вона бере її в руки, кладе у паперову коробку і разом із Семом відносить до зоопарку. Дивно, що Сем боїться плазунів. Він же вивчає біологію в університеті. А Мері дуже хоробра дівчина. Не дивно. Вона працює в цирку з дикими звірами.
- 7. Хто з вас говорить китайською? Ніхто. Але Олена говорить англійською. Я впевнена, що всі китайці розуміють цю мову.
- 8. Ти завжди снідаєш так пізно? Ні, не завжди. Тільки коли мама забуває розбудити мене перед тим, як іде на роботу.
- 9. Джон не робить багато помилок у своїх тестах, чи не так? Ні, він дуже старанний студент і зазвичай отримує лише гарні оцінки.
- 10.— У чому справа? Ти виглядаєш сумною. Я не розумію ці правила. Вони занадто складні для мене. Не хвилюйся. Я знаю, хто може тобі допомогти.
- 11.— Хто живе у тому старому будинку на розі вулиці? Наш дідусь. А з ким він там живе? Сам. А хто з вас йому допомагає? Ніхто. Ми багато працюємо і у нас на це нема часу. Мені шкода вашого дідуся.
- 12.— Чому він не хоче купити нову машину? Я не впевнена, але думаю, що його дружина не дає йому гроші на машину, бо хоче купити собі дороге хутро.

В.

- 1. Давай повечеряємо. Вже пізно. Я ніколи не вечеряю після шостої голини.
- 2. Чому у тебе немає власного ключа? Моя мама домогосподарка. Вона зазвичай вдома.

- 3. Ти приймаєш теплий чи холодний душ увечері? Зазвичай я приймаю ванну.
- 4. Вони зараз в Індії. А вони часто подорожують улітку? Так. Це їхнє хобі.
- 5. Чому вона лежить у ліжку? Вона завжди дрімає після обіду. Вона все ще слабка після хвороби.
- 6. Я захоплююся фотографією. А в тебе ϵ фотоапарат? Так, але він дуже старенький.
- 7. Давай поїдемо на прогулянку машиною за місто на вихідних. Я хотів би, але в мене немає вільного часу.
- 8. Чому ти нерегулярно харчуєшся? Ось чому ти маєш проблеми із своїм здоров'ям.
- 9. У мене ϵ декілька шоколадних цукерок. Давай вип'ємо кави. Я не п'ю каву ввечері.
- 10.— Чому в тебе немає англо-українського словника? У мене ϵ електронний словник. Ним дуже зручно користуватися.

THE PAST INDEFINITE TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the regular verbs in the past, pay attention to the pronunciation of their endings.

a) [-d] after vowels and voiced consonants except d.

[kraı] – [kraıd]	[ste1] - [ste1d]	['lsn] - ['lsnd]	[fil] - [fild]
[spa1] – [spa1d]	['folsv] – ['folsvd]	[b:ch] - [k:ch]	[si:m] - [si:md]
[ple1] – [ple1d]	['wɔ:tə] – ['wɔ:təd]	[smaɪl] – [smaɪld]	[kli:n] – [kli:nd]

b) [-t] after voiceless consonants except t.

[w3:k] – [w3:kt]	[kvk] – [kvkt]	[step] – [stept]
['præktıs] – ['præktıst]	$[w_1] - [w_1]t]$	[help] – [helpt]
[sm3vk] – [sm3vkt]	[woit] - [woit]	[mɪks] – [mɪkst]

c) [-id] after t, d, te, de.

[weit] – ['weitid]	[steit] – ['steitid]	[rı'maınd] – [rı'maındıd]
$[p\alpha:t] - ['p\alpha:t1d]$	[maind] – ['maindid]	['vızıt] – ['vızıtıt]
$[d_1'sa_1d] - [d_1'sa_1d_1d]$	[kən'klu:d] – [kən'klu:dıd]	[brbrcv'e] – [brcv'e]

Exercise 2. Read the sentences, observe the pronunciation of the verb *to be* and the auxiliary verb *to do* in the past.

- 1. ['dɪd ju· həv ə /sæləd fə Φə stɑ:tə || 'nɜʊ wi· `\dɪdnt || wi· 'tʊk `\bredstɪks ınsted ||]
- 2. ['w3: Pei Inagri a:ftə Pə mi:tiŋ || \n3v | Pei 'w3:nt \haŋgri || Pei w3· \\theta3:sti ||]
- 3. ['waı 'dıdnt ∫i· 'ɔ:də \mılk∫eık fə dızɜ:t || ∫i· 'laıks ıt ↑'sɜυ \m∧t∫ || ıt 'woznt on ூə \menju: ||]
- 4. ['frent∫ 'fraiz ənd 'pepsi α·r 'aut əv ூə \kwest∫ən || aim 'ki:piŋ tə ə \daiət ||]
- 5. ['woz \mathfrak{D} ə 'keık dı/lı \mathfrak{J} əs || 'jes ıt \woz || ju· α ·r ə 'w \wedge ndəfvl \kvk nelı ||]
- 6. ['wen did jo. 'sıstə həv \brekfəst || \int i. həd it ət 'eit əz \ju:\\ zuəl ||]

Exercise 3. Write the Past Indefinite forms of these verbs and arrange them into three groups:

- I. **[d]** boiled
- II. [t] cooked
- III. [id] roasted

Cook, bake, roast, taste, sprinkle, melt, boil, scramble, fry, grill, heat, turn, clean, grate, chop, mince, dice, add, blend, combine, mix, pour, stir, peel, drain, dress, listen, stop, ask, answer, like, play, divide, pack, decide, serve, dine, stuff, treat, help, pass, fetch.

Mo	del: eat – <u>at</u>	<u>e – eaten</u>				
1.	_	_	drunk	13. –	_	burnt
2.	_	had	_	14. –	bit	_
3.	_	cut	_	15. –	_	fallen
4.	_	_	made	16. give	_	_
5.	_	were	_	17. –	sold	_
6.	go	_	_	18. –	_	begun
7.	spend	_	_	19. break	_	_
8.	_	_	kept	20. –	saw	_
9.	smell	_	_	21. fly	_	_
10.	_	_	chosen	22. –	came	_
11.	_	felt	_	23. –	_	done
12.	buy	_	_	24. run	_	_
Ind Too yes	erday, in th	se. ny, next weel ne XIX cent	k, last month cury, yesterd	, in a year, two ay morning, i	o months ago, n 2009, at th	the day before e moment, the
Exerting 1. 2. food 3.	efinite Tens lay, yesterday, in the er day, last Mercise 6. Cockets. One of the lay brother d. (be, eat, so	se. ay, next weel ne XIX cent Monday, toni mplete the verb is not the the breakfast is never mell)	k, last month cury, yesterd ight, tomorro e sentences. to be used. in the morning pizza in hi	a, in a year, two ay morning, in we afternoon, leads the corning and now I _ is childhood.	o months ago, n 2009, at th ast night. rect forms of hungry. (b Now it	the day before e moment, the

Exercise 4. Fill in the missing forms of the irregular verbs below.

10. My first day at work terrible. I 20 minutes late. The boss
at me. I the tray with hot dishes and one of the customers' arm. (be,
look, shout, be, burn, drop)
11. Last year I my best to pass all my exams successfully. Unfortunately, I
my exam in Calculus. (take, do, fail)
12. Jane it. (say,
eniov, tell)

Exercise 7. Disagree with the statements and explain why you disagree.

Model: He attended all the classes last semester. – He didn't attend all the classes last semester. He was often ill.

- 1. I had lunch in the University canteen. (cafe)
- 2. We dined out every day last week. (expensive)
- 3. I ordered mashed potatoes and steak. (to be a vegetarian)
- 4. James liked the soup he had for dinner. (too much salt)
- 5. Jack met his old friend the other day. (former group mate)
- 6. Jane cooked the dessert very quickly yesterday. (two hours)
- 7. He treated us to wine and whisky at the party. (to be under age)
- 8. We baked our traditional pie for our son's birthday. (to try a new recipe)
- 9. Jane and I had a walk in the park last night. (to stay at home and watch a film)
- 10. My aunt always kept to a diet when she was young. (to be fond of sweets and cakes)
- 11. Last weekend I did the shopping and cleaned the house. (to go and visit my friend in Kyiv)
- 12. Last week I made a very interesting report on Italian cuisine. (eating habits in Ukraine)

Exercise 8.

A. Ask questions as in the models. Let your partner answer them.

Model 1: Ask your partner if it is true he sold his house a month ago. – You sold your house a month ago, didn't you?

- Yes, I did. I needed money to pay for the University. (No, I didn't. I only let it to my friends.)

Ask your partner if it is true he didn't sell his house a month ago. — You didn't sell your house a month ago, did you?

- No, I didn't. I only let it to my friends. (Yes, I did. I needed money to pay for the University.)

Ask your partner if it is true:

- 1. Ann had a substantial supper;
- 2. the teacher marked our tests:
- 3. she didn't order coffee at that cafe;
- 4. Mary cut her finger in the morning;
- 5. mother tried a new recipe yesterday;

- 6. Joe helped his mother to lay the table;
- 7. that cookery book cost much at the fair;
- 8. he surfed the net for five hours yesterday;
- 9. her friend didn't enjoy the New Year party;
- 10. Michael didn't buy anything at the market;
- 11. her friends didn't stay home last weekend;
- 12. the waitress didn't serve the second course.

Model 2: Ask your partner if he sold his house a month ago. – Did you sell your house a month ago? – Yes, I did. I needed money to pay for the University. (No, I didn't. I only let it to my friends.)

Ask your partner if he didn't sell his house a month ago. — Didn't you sell your house a month ago? — Yes, I did. I needed money to pay for the University. (No, I didn't. I only let it to my friends.)

Ask your partner if:

- 1. father went fishing on Sunday;
- 2. Jim paid the bill at the restaurant;
- 3. he heard the news in the morning;
- 4. Jason won the competition last year;
- 5. the children saw monkeys at the zoo;
- 6. Alison missed the train in the morning;
- 7. the students didn't have a test the other day;
- 8. the students had a snack after the second class;
- 9. Ann added a pinch of salt to the soup a minute ago;
- 10. she didn't do her homework the day before yesterday;
- 11. the tutor didn't explain grammar rules to her students;
- 12. mother cooked a three-course dinner for six hours yesterday.

Model 3. Ask your partner why he sold his house a month ago. – Why did you sell the house a month ago?

- I needed money to pay for the University.

Ask your partner:

- 1. where he had his lunch;
- 2. how he spent his day-off;
- 3. what he had for breakfast;
- 4. when he baked a cake last;
- 5. who broke the cup at tea break;
- 6. how much cream Ann put to her dish;
- 7. who he invited to the party yesterday;
- 8. which of them sent me roses for my birthday;

- 9. why Mary didn't join the group on Monday;
- 10. how much he paid for his three-course dinner;
- 11. who tasted Mary's famous cocktail at the party;
- 12. how long it took the cook to cut all the vegetables.

Exercise 9.

A. Change the sentences to past time. Expand on them.

Model: My mum bakes a cake every Sunday (delicious/ busy). – She baked a cake last Sunday too. It was delicious.

B. Make your sentences in the past negative and expand on them.

Model: She didn't bake a cake last Sunday. She was busy.

- 1. I go to the sea-side every summer. (hot/rainy)
- 2. I pass all my exams every year. (easy/ difficult)
- 3. Every time I cook soup I taste it. (too salty/ tasteless)
- 4. Mr Smith cleans his flat every Friday. (tiring/ not dirty)
- 5. Nick moves to a new flat every year. (bigger/ satisfied)
- 6. Jack falls in love with a new girl every month. (excited/ strange)
- 7. I meet my group-mates at university every afternoon. (happy/ill)
- 8. Peter reads local newspapers every morning. (interesting/ in a hurry)
- 9. We order borsch at our University canteen every day. (cold/ not fresh)
- 10. My friends come to my place for dinner every evening. (friendly/ angry)
- 11. I have a cup of tea before going to bed every night. (soothing/ not thirsty)
- 12. Every time we go to a restaurant Tom pays for my dinner. (generous of him/short of money)

Exercise 10. Respond with a question. Let your partner answer your questions.

Model: Mother baked a cake last Sunday. — Did you like it? — Yes, I did./ Was it delicious? — Yes, very. It was something out of this world./ Did you eat it yourself? — Yes, I did. I ate the whole cake myself./ Did you treat your friends to it? — No, I didn't. I ate the whole cake myself./ Was it a fruit or a chocolate cake? — Neither. It was a carrot cake./ The cake was rich, wasn't it? — Yes, it was a rich, moist carrot cake.

- 1. I read a story yesterday.
- 2. I had a bad dream last night.
- 3. I saw him last two years ago.
- 4. Peter moved to London last week.
- 5. The teacher asked me a lot of questions.
- 6. My relatives came to see me last Sunday.
- 7. Crisps only spoilt my appetite before lunch.
- 8. My friend had food poisoning at the weekend.
- 9. Frank and Nelly quarrelled yesterday morning.
- 10. Uncle Jack ate only home-cooked food when he was a child.
- 11. I was so busy in the afternoon that I had only a quick snack in a cafe.
- 12. I bought some canned and frozen food at the supermarket the other day.

Exercise 11. Make questions to the given answers.

Model: A fruit cake. — What did you eat for dessert?/ What did you order for dessert?/ What is your favourite food?/ What can you cook well?, etc.

- 1. GM foods.
- 2. A substantial meal.
- 3. A couple of eggs, some milk and a pinch of salt.
- 4. A pea soup and a cheese sandwich.
- 5. At the canteen.
- 6. Two weeks ago.
- 7. John did.
- 8. It was so delicious.
- 9. Yes, very.
- 10. I'm not sure.
- 11. It is bad for my health.
- 12. For an hour and a half.

Exercise 12. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Коли мої батьки одружились, вони жили у селі, тримали багато домашніх тварин та вирощували свої овочі та фрукти. Коли вони переїхали до міста?
- 2. Я не знала відповіді на запитання вчителя. Мені було соромно, коли я отримала погану оцінку того дня.
- 3. На днях я зустріла Мері в парку. Я хотіла поговорити з нею, але у Мері не було часу.
- 4. Скільки часу у тебе пішло на те, щоб приготувати такий смачний пиріг? Зазвичай іде дві години, але сьогодні я пекла його три години.
- 5. У тебе був урок плавання минулого тижня? Так, але я не ходила, бо хворіла.
- 6. Хто намалював цю картину? Запитай Сема. Він вивчав мистецтво у коледжі.
- 7. Було холодно і волого. На вулиці нікого не було, і ми вирішили залишитися вдома.
- 8. Тед повернувся додому пізно. У холодильнику не було нічого смачного, і він вирішив замовити піцу.
- 9. Чому ти не прийшов на збори вчора? Я побоявся виголошувати промову.
- 10. Хто з вас прибиратиме у кімнаті? Я прибирала минулого тижня, а Майкл не допомагав мені. Нехай сам прибирає у кімнаті цього тижня.
- 11. Минулого року ви відпочивали у Єгипті, чи не так? Так. Вам сподобалось там? Ні. Було дуже спекотно, а в морі було безліч акул, і я боялась плавати.
- 12. Де ти купила таку чудову сукню? Я не купувала цю сукню. Мама подарувала $\ddot{\text{ii}}$ мен $\dot{\text{i}}$ на день народження.

Exercise 13. Speak on the happiest/unhappiest day in your life.

THE FUTURE INDEFINITE TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences, observe the pronunciation of the auxiliary verb will in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. ['wɪl 'pɔ:l 'skɪp ∠lekt∫əz || \nʒυ | hi· \wʒυnt || Đɪ· ə'tendəns ız kəm\p∧lsərı ||]
- 2. ['wen wıl ju⋅ 'kʌm tə \si: əs || aı wıl 'kʌm əz 'su:n əz aım \fri: ||]
- 3. ['wɜvnt ju· 'help mı· wıΦ maı rı/pɔ:t dʒu:lı || 'nɜv \davt sju: || 'kɔ:l mi· wen jɔ· 'lesnz α·r \ɜvvə||]

Exercise 2. React to the following sentences informing of your instant decision. (Use the prompts in brackets or/ and give your own answer).

Model: Someone is knocking on the door. (to answer/ not to answer) - I'll answer it. (I won't answer it.)

- 1. It's late. (to go home)
- 2. Ann is in hospital. (to visit)
- 3. The dog is hungry. (to feed)
- 4. You look tired. (to go to bed)
- 5. Our fridge is empty. (to do the shopping)
- 6. The poem is very long. (not to learn by heart)
- 7. Jack is waiting for you at the entrance. (to join)
- 8. The telephone is ringing. (to get it/ not to get it)
- 9. Your daughter likes these sweets so much. (to treat)
- 10. Jane's train arrives at 5 sharp. (to meet at the station)
- 11. Your breakfast is almost ready. (to skip/ to be free in a minute)
- 12. The dress is too expensive. (to buy/ not to buy/ to try on/ not to try on)

Exercise 3. Express your opinion, hope, uncertainty, fear, threat, warning or assumption regarding the future. Make use of the following words: to think, to expect, to hope, to believe, to be sure, to be afraid, probably, perhaps, etc.

Model: Julia is a diligent student. (to pass exams) -I think she'll pass all her exams.

- 1. Where is Ann? (to be late)
- 2. Their house is so old. (to buy)
- 3. I have a headache. (to be better)
- 4. I have a problem at school. (to understand)
- 5. The match is on Monday. (to win the game)
- 6. When can I meet Jack? (to come back tomorrow)
- 7. Which dress do you like? (to buy the blue one)
- 8. The Smiths are having a party at the weekend. (to go)
- 9. They are ready for the lesson. (to get excellent marks)
- 10. Adam is always absent from his classes. (to fail an exam)
- 11.Jenny forgot her umbrella. (to get wet through and catch a cold)
- 12.Max broke his mom's favourite vase the other day and didn't tell her about it. (to punish)

Exercise 4. Make a promise to do or not to do something regarding the future.

Model: The traffic is heavy in New York. – Don't worry. I'll be careful.

- 1. I am in a hurry. (not to take long)
- 2. She doesn't know the way. (to show)
- 3. It is difficult for her to do it. (to help)
- 4. I lost my keys in the park. (to look for)
- 5. I need to know Susan's opinion. (to ask)
- 6. The meeting starts at 3 pm. (to be in time)
- 7. Smoking is bad for your health. (to give up)
- 8. I'm afraid to fail my test. (not to be difficult)
- 9. There are four bags and only two hands. (to carry)
- 10. Sandra is afraid to go home alone. (to see her home)
- 11. These grammar rules are so difficult. (to explain sth to sb)
- 12.I don't want my group-mates to know about it. (not to tell a secret)

Exercise 5. Say the opposite and explain why you or somebody else will/won't perform this or that action.

Model: She'll explain to you how to bake this cake. – She won't explain to you how to bake this cake. She doesn't know it either.

- 1. It will rain soon. (no clouds)
- 2. I'll phone you tonight. (to be busy)
- 3. Steve will be a famous singer. (to have no talent)
- 4. They won't come on time. (to take a taxi)
- 5. He will see Jane tomorrow. (to be out of town)
- 6. I'll join you in half an hour. (to have much work to do)
- 7. Our team will never win the game. (to train a lot)
- 8. Tom won't go dancing tonight. (to have nothing to do)
- 9. I'll show you the way. (to be in the city for the first time)
- 10. Sue will buy the cake for the party. (to be short of money)
- 11. This snowman will melt in a couple of days. (the middle of January)
- 12. The students won't stay at school after classes. (to prepare for the concert)

Exercise 6. Ask questions as in the model. Let your partner answer them.

Model: Ask your partner if he will drive you into town. — Will you drive me into town?

- Of course I will. You won't catch a bus so late.

Ask your partner:

- 1. if his friends will join us;
- 2. if his parents will buy a new car;
- 3. if he won't invite Jack to the party;
- 4. if he will show you his new cell phone;
- 5. if he will buy a book as a birthday present;
- 6. if he will go to the meeting of the English speaking club;
- 7. where you will meet;

- 8. who will arrange a picnic;
- 9. what will make him happy;
- 10. when the dinner will be ready;
- 11. when his parents will be back;
- 12.what you will have for dessert.

Exercise 7. Next year you will be second year students. What are your predictions, expectations, hopes, etc. for the coming year.

Model: I think next year will be more difficult than my first year at this University. I expect we'll have a new teacher of English. I hope my pronunciation will improve next year. I promise I'll do my best to win scholarship. I'm afraid I won't have any time for extra-curricular activities. I'm sure my group will go on an excursion to Lviv.

BE GOING TO

Exercise 1. Say that the same is going/ isn't going to happen regarding the future.

Model: Alice skipped her breakfast yesterday. – She is going to skip her breakfast today too.

- 1. We wrote a test last month.
- 2. I always order pizza for lunch.
- 3. I stayed home yesterday evening.
- 4. Every weekend I visit my parents.
- 5. Steve didn't propose to Ann last year.
- 6. They didn't buy a new car last year.
- 7. He didn't paint the fence last week.
- 8. They didn't listen to the latest news yesterday.
- 9. I didn't help my younger sister with her homework.
- 10. Judy spent her holidays in the mountains last winter.
- 11.Last year David invited all his group-mates to his birthday party.

Exercise 2. Say what is going to happen judging by the evidence.

Model: Nick missed all his classes of English. – He is going to fail his exam.

- 1. Sandra is pregnant. (to have a baby)
- 2. He has an incurable disease. (to die)
- 3. It's too noisy in the room. (not to hear)
- 4. The Smiths sold their house. (to move)
- 5. Michael is a talented actor. (to be famous)
- 6. Look at the grey clouds in the sky. (to rain)
- 7. The road is so slippery. (to have an accident)
- 8. Sam is allergic to sea food. (not to eat lobster)
- 9. There isn't a single cloud in the sky. (to be hot)
- 10. The bridge is broken in several places. (to fall)
- 11.Larry likes classical music. (to enjoy the concert)
- 12. Carrie's leg is broken. (not to take part in the competition)

Exercise 3. Ask questions to find out more information about the intention.

Model: They are going to buy a new house. -1. Are they really going to buy a new house? 2. What house are they going to buy? 3. Where are they going to buy a new house? 4. Are they going to buy a cheap or expensive house? 5. Why are they going to buy a new house? 6. They are going to sell their old house, aren't they?

- 1. Steve is going to write a book.
- 2. Angela is going to open a restaurant.
- 3. Bred is going to move to a bigger town.
- 4. My friend is going to keep a snake as a pet.
- 5. Peter is going to visit his friends tomorrow.
- 6. I am going to arrange a party for my group.
- 7. The children are going to play computer games.
- 8. We are going to meet regularly after we leave school.
- 9. The Browns are going to paint the walls in the corridor.

- 10. Samantha isn't going to work in the garden tomorrow.
- 11. My parents are going to plant some trees behind the house.
- 12. Our group isn't going to take part in the concert next week.

Exercise 4. Answer the questions. Expand on your answers.

Model: You are going to wear jeans and a T-shirt at the conference, aren't you?

- No, I'm not. It's an official occasion and I am going to be in a suit.
- 1. Your friend is going to give up smoking, isn't he?
- 2. You are going to get married in summer, aren't you?
- 3. You are going to start a new hobby soon, aren't you?
- 4. You are going to learn Chinese next year, aren't you?
- 5. You are going to watch TV the whole evening, aren't you?
- 6. Your parents are going to buy you a flat in Kiev, aren't they?
- 7. Your friend is going to visit you in a couple of days, isn't he?
- 8. You aren't going to throw a birthday party this year, are you?
- 9. You are going to spend your summer holidays in the USA, aren't you?
- 10. Your relatives are going to stay at your place next month, aren't they?
- 11. You aren't going to give your house a big clean at the weekend, are you?
- 12. You are going to help your mother about the house at the weekend, aren't you?

Exercise 5. Say what Simon is going to do next year. Then say about your plans and intentions.

	Simon	You
January	to rent a new flat	
February	to throw a surprise party for his girlfriend	
March	to visit his parents in the village	
April	to start learning Chinese	
May	to take part in the conference	
June	to take exams	
July	to go camping in the mountains	
August	to travel abroad	
September	to look for a job	
October	to take driving lessons	
November	to buy a car	
December	to propose to his girlfriend	

CONDITIONAL I

Exercise 1. Read the sentences with adverbial clauses of time and condition, mind their intonation. Transcribe and intone them.

- 1. If I have to stay indoors, I'll be busy with my homework.
- 2. Students will have profound knowledge if they work systematically.
- 3. Stacy will improve her pronunciation greatly if she listens to the lab-work tasks.
- 4. If they go on a tour around the city, they will have the excellent opportunity to get acquainted with local sights.

Exercise 2. Put the verbs in brackets into the correct tense.

- 1. If Tom (not to win) this year tournament, it (to be) the end of his tennis career.
- 2. I (to put on) a raincoat in case it (to rain).
- 3. If the weather (to change) for the worse, they (to cancel) the flight.
- 4. I (not to be) sure if their relationship (to last) long.
- 5. I (to be) happy when I (to find) a job, but I (not to know) if I (to find) it soon.
- 6. Jane (to get) this job as soon as she (to learn) French.
- 7. Can the doctor say when the patient (to recover)?
- 8. I wonder if he (to keep) his promise.
- 9. Wait for me till I (to call) you. Tell me the exact time when you (to call) me.
- 10. She (to get) fat unless she (to stop) eating cakes.
- 11.I (to relax) after I (to hear) the results of the examination.
- 12.I (to stay) here till you (to come) back.
- 13. Everybody (to doubt) if Mr. Smith (to agree) to occupy the position, but if he (to do) it (to be) great.
- 14. Tell me if you (to come) back if I (to need) your help.
- 15. Everybody wonders if Sue (to marry) William when he (to propose) to her.

Exercise 3. Combine the given sentences as in the model using *when/if* clauses.

Model: Nick will come to see me tomorrow. I'll be happy. – If Nick comes to see me tomorrow, I'll be happy.

- 1. Peter will hurry. He won't be late.
- 2. Her tea will be hot. She won't drink it.
- 3. Father will come soon. We'll have dinner.
- 4. I'll travel to Brazil. I'll take part in the carnival.
- 5. They will be free tomorrow. They will join you.
- 6. I'll return in five minutes. We'll continue our lesson.
- 7. It will rain tomorrow. The children won't go for a walk.
- 8. Sara will arrange a party. She'll invite all her group-mates.
- 9. She won't write down his telephone number. She'll forget it.
- 10. She will graduate from the University. The parents will be proud of her.
- 11. Simon will make progress in learning English. The teacher will praise him.

12. The students will have difficulty in reading these words. The teacher will help them.

Exercise 4. Say on what condition or when the action will take place.

Model: I want to go to the theatre. (to get tickets) - You'll go to the theatre if when Father gets tickets.

- 1. I don't want to stay at home. (warm)
- 2. They want to go for a picnic. (not to rain)
- 3. Phil wants to use Simon's computer. (to allow)
- 4. He wants to work in England. (to learn English)
- 5. The workers want to have a rest. (to finish work)
- 6. She wants to eat something sweet. (to bake a cake)
- 7. Ann wants to go to the party. (to get an invitation)
- 8. They don't want to prepare supper. (to order pizza)
- 9. I want to buy a new fridge. (to get rid of the old one)
- 10. The children want to have a swim in the sea. (no storm)
- 11. Peter wants to become a doctor. (to enter the university)
- 12. Jack doesn't want to watch TV in the evening. (to call on)

Exercise 5. Say on what condition you and/ or your group-mate will make progress in learning English/ make a brilliant career. Use the prompts.

Model: I'll make progress in learning English on condition that/ if I do all my homework in English. (My group-mate will make progress in learning English on condition that/ if he/ she does all her homework in English.)

Prompts:

I. to practise every day; to learn new words; to attend all the classes; to read English books in the original; to watch films in English; to listen to English TV and radio programs; to enjoy learning; to do a lot of grammar exercises; to speak English whenever and wherever possible, etc.

II. to work hard; to be determined and persistent; to speak foreign languages; to develop talents and skills all the time; to be ready for change; to be computer literate; to generate new ideas; to be a good team player; to have good communicative skills; to be a lifelong learner, to be a positive personality, etc.

Exercise 6. Ask questions as in the model. Let your partner answer them.

Model: Ask your partner what he will do if he is late for his lesson.

- What will you do if you are late for your lesson?
- If I'm late for my lesson, I'll apologize to my teacher.

Ask your partner:

- 1. if he will eat anything before he goes to bed;
- 2. if he will take an aspirin if he has a headache;
- 3. if he will have a rest after he does his homework;
- 4. if he will call his parents as soon as he comes home today;
- 5. if he will work at school when he graduates from the University;

- 6. if their teacher will explain the material to the students until every student understands it;
- 7. what he will do if the weather is nasty;
- 8. who will give him a hand if he needs help;
- 9. what he will buy if he has a million dollars;
- 10. what he will do in case he loses his way in a city;
- 11.how he will get to the University if he is in a hurry;
- 12. where he will go for his holiday when summer comes.

Exercise 7. Unscramble the words to make sentences.

- 1. if/ where/ to/ go/ you/ will/ you/ London/ stay?
- 2. I/ tired/ cook/ together/ will/ we/ if/ am/ pizza/ not.
- 3. you/ louder/ unless/ you/ speak/ won't/ grandpa/ hear.
- 4. you/ with/ her/ I/ her/ if/ tell/ am/ see/ tomorrow/ Mary/ angry.
- 5. she/ free/ help/ you/ will/ mother/ your/ is/ when/ homework/ with.
- 6. unless/ by heart/ everything/ won't/ a/ learn/ you/ you/ mark/ good/ get.
- 7. time/ when/ to/ he/ he/ a/ chocolates/ of/ box/ will/ comes/ bring/ visit/ next/ us.
- 8. Jack/ have/ money/ if/ he/ to/ a/ wins/ enough/ buy/ this/ car/ new/ lottery/ will.
- 9. to/ question/ you/ your/ if/ what/ you/ know/ don't/ will/ the/ say/ answer/ teacher's?
- 10.for/ strong/ breakfast/ have/ I'll/ a/ the/ of/ be/ I/ day/ don't/ sleepy/ whole/ if/ coffee/ cup.

Exercise 8. Continue the sentences.

1	10
1.	If you practise more
2.	If Sandra comes while I am out
3.	Simon won't help you
4.	If it is a nice day
5.	If we have no homework for tomorrow
6.	I will join you
7.	The student will be discouraged
8.	She will go to see her doctor
9.	If you are lucky
10	.What will your friend do?
11	.Will you go to the concert?
12	.What will happen?
13	I'll be entirely satisfied with my life

Exercise 9. Agree or disagree with the statements. Explain your answer.

Model: If you go to the USA, you will visit Boston. — I think I won't visit Boston. If I go to the USA, I'll visit New York. It is one of the largest cities in the world. (It's true. If I go to the USA, I will visit Boston. My distant relatives live there.)

- 1. If it rains tomorrow, you'll stay at home.
- 2. If you fail your test, you won't be disappointed.

- 3. You will go to see your doctor if you catch a cold.
- 4. If you look out of the window now, you'll see a park.
- 5. Your best friend will like the film if it is about love.
- 6. You will never have a rest until you do your homework.
- 7. If you arrange a party, you'll invite all your group-mates.
- 8. You will go travelling when you graduate from the University.
- 9. If you have no classes tomorrow, you will sleep the whole day.
- 10. You will like your teacher if he/ she doesn't give you any homework.
- 11. Your friend will be happy if he/ she gets an excellent mark in English.
- 12. You will read an interesting book if you have some free time in the evening.

Exercise 10. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Що ти збираєшся робити зі своєю старою машиною? Я збираюся її продати. Ти думаєш її хтось купить?
- 2. Коли ти будеш готова з доповіддю? Я не впевнена, чи знайду потрібну інформацію. Якщо ти допоможеш мені з цим, то доповідь буде готова за декілька днів.
- 3. Сьогодні я залишаюся вдома. А я йду на концерт. Я маю намір взяти автограф у свого улюбленого виконавця.
- 4. Повідом мене, коли повернеться Джек. Я маю йому дещо сказати.
- 5. Яким кольором ти збираєшся пофарбувати стіни? Я сподіваюсь, ти не пофарбуєш їх у свій улюблений жовтий колір.
- 6. Що ти скажеш мамі, якщо вона помітить розбиту вазу? Я вибачусь і скажу, що куплю їй нову вазу, щойно отримаю свою першу стипендію.
- 7. Якщо він залишиться на вечірці, то я піду. Я не маю наміру залишатися з ним в одній кімнаті.
- 8. Поквапся! У тебе завжди йде більше години, щоб вдягтися. Ми запізнимося на зустріч.
- 9. Стережись, Сем! Драбина зламана. Ти зараз впадеш.
- 10. Якщо ти не помиєш машину, я не поїду з тобою на вечірку. Якщо ти не хочеш цього робити, давай візьмемо таксі. Тільки ти будеш платити.
- 11.— Ти голодна? Так. Зараз я принесу тобі щось смачне. Не турбуйся. Я сама схожу на кухню і знайду щось поїсти.
- 12.Скажи Тому, що я не чекатиму на нього після занять. Якщо не побачиш його, я йму сама зателефоную.

THE PRESENT CONTINUOUS TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences, mind the pronunciation of the auxiliary verb to be and Participle I.

- 1. ['ız 'mɛərı 'pleɪɪŋ 'nɪə Pə /flavəbed || \nsv | ʃi· ız wıP hɜ· 'grænı ın Pi· \capta:tʃıd || 'wot α· Peɪ \du:ɪŋ || 'α: Peɪ 'gæPərɪŋ /æplz Pɛə || \nsv | Peɪ α·r ɪn'dʒɔɪɪŋ 'lʌvlɪ \i:vnɪŋ əz fɑ:r əz aı nsv ||]
- 2. ['hu: ız 'meıkıŋ 'Đæt \nɔız || 'Đæt ız avə 'nju: \neɪbə | mıstə \waıtəkə || 'ıznt hi· 'breıkıŋ Đə /si:lıŋ || hi·z 'probəblı 'hæŋıŋ ə 'nju: $\sqrt{$ endəlıə ||]
- 3. ['weər ız maı λm\brelə || aı 'kα:nt 'faınd ıt \eniweə || its on Də 'ʃelf ın Də \entrənshɔ:l || bət 'waı α· ju· \lu:kıŋ fɔ:r ıt || 'ız ıt /reınıŋ || \not /jet | bət ıts \windı | ənd 'da:k 'klaudz α· 'gæDərıŋ ın Də \skaı ||]

Exercise 2. Complete the dialogue using the prompts in brackets.

Model: 1) – Look at the girl.

- Which girl? (to stand in the corner of the room)
- The one who is standing in the corner of the room.
- 2) Look at the girls.
 - Which girls? (to stand in the corner of the room)
 - The ones, who are standing in the corner of the room.
- 1. Look at the boy.
 - Which boy? (to ride a bicycle)
- 2. Look at the students.
 - Which students? (to argue)
- 3. Look at the girl.
 - Which girl? (to walk the dog)
- 4. Look at the people?
 - Which people? (to carry the piano)
- 5. Look at the man.
 - Which man? (to paint the fence)
- 6. Look at the woman.
 - Which woman? (to sit on the bench)
- 7. Look at the married couple.
 - Which couple? (to quarrel)
- 8. Look at the dog.
 - Which dog? (to bark at the passers-by)
- 9. Look at the children.
 - Which children? (to play football)
- 10. Look at the birds.
 - Which birds? (to build a nest)
- 11. Look at the campers.
 - Which campers? (to lie in the sun)

- 12. Look at the policeman.
 - Which policeman? (to run after the thief)

Exercise 3. Say the opposite and expand on the situation.

Model: - Jack is hurrying to work. - Oh, no. Jack isn't hurrying to work. He is hurrying to the station. His bus leaves at 5. Jack is afraid to be late.

- Jack isn't hurrying to work. You are mistaken. Jack is hurrying to work. He is afraid to be late. His boss is very strict.
- 1. Nick is taking an exam now.
- 2. Sue is meeting me for lunch.
- 3. The wind isn't getting stronger.
- 4. Sandra is looking for a better job.
- 5. I am having dinner at the moment.
- 6. My parents are talking on the phone.
- 7. Mother isn't cooking dinner right now.
- 8. My friends are making a party on Sunday.
- 9. I'm not working at my accent at the moment.
- 10. Charles and Mary aren't staying at the hotel at present.

Exercise 4. Ask questions as in the models. Let your partner answer them.

Model A: Ask your partner if he /she is working at his/ her report at the moment.

- Are you working at your report at the moment?
- No, I'm not. I am working at my presentation.

Model B: Ask your partner what he / she is working at. — What are you working at?

-I'm working at my presentation at the moment.

Ask your partner:

- 1. if the birds are singing;
- 2. if it is raining at the moment;
- 3. if he/ she is working hard today;
- 4. if his/ her English is getting better;
- 5. if he/ she is trying to concentrate now;
- 6. if the students are taking an exam now;
- 7. if anybody is waiting for him/her now;
- 8. if he/ she is going to the theatre on Sunday;
- 9. if his/ her friends are having a party on Saturday;
- 10. if his/ her friend is studying English at the moment;

Ask your partner:

- 1. why the girl is crying;
- 2. what he/ she is doing now;
- 3. why everybody is laughing;
- 4. what he/ she is doing tonight;
- 5. who is spending next weekend at home;

- 6. why he/ she is constantly talking in class;
- 7. what book he/ she is reading at the moment;
- 8. why his/ her friend is living in a rented flat these days;
- 9. what article his/her friend is translating at the moment;
- 10. which of his/ her friends is taking music lessons this winter.

Exercise 5. With the help of gestures show one of the actions. Let your group-mates guess what you are doing at the moment.

Model: – You are taking a photograph, aren't you?

- Peter is fixing a car, isn't he?

Sweep the floor; dust the furniture; play computer games; speak on the telephone; milk a cow; drive a car; walk a dog; arrange furniture, do homework, make coffee; do yoga; climb a mountain; lie in the sun; paper the walls; play the piano; water flowers.

Exercise 6. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Де Майкл? Він на подвір'ї. А що він там робить? Грається з другом. Нехай іде додому. Холодно.
- 2. Чому ти плачеш? Не питай мене. У мене проблеми на роботі.
- 3. Чому ти не їси мого пирога? У ньому багато цукру. Я худну. Зроби мені зеленого чаю, будь-ласка.
- 4. Що ви робите увечері? Ми вечеряємо з друзями в кафе. Приєднуйся до нас.
- 5. У моєму будинку немає зараз опалення, тому я мешкаю у сестри.
- 6. Приємно бути в лісі весною, чи не так? Пташки співають. Не жарко. Дме прохолодний вітер в обличчя. Лише поглянь. Мурахи будують свій будинок.
- 7. Наступного тижня я їду до Києва. Ти їдеш сама чи з сестрою?
- 8. Ти постійно щось мене питаєш. Я втомилася від твоїх запитань.
- 9. Що вони роблять із тією собакою? Вони намагаються її одягти.
- 10. Xіба ти не ідеш зі мною на вечірку? Ні. Сьогодні ввечері я зайнята. У мене багато роботи.
- 11.- Мамо, він постійно дражнить мене. Пітер, будь гарним хлопчиком і не дражни брата.
- 12. Чому ти не допомагаєш мамі? У мене болить голова.

Exercise 7. Match the sentences with the meaning of the tense used in them. *Model:* 1-c

1. Water boils at 100° C.	a) permanent action or state;
2. The Smiths are having a hard time.	b) repeated action or habit;
3. Jane works as a teacher.	c) general truth;
4. My brothers are always fighting.	d) future timetabled action;
5. Father is taking us to the zoo	e) temporary situation;
tomorrow.	f) action going on at the moment of
6. Their bus arrives at 5.10.	speaking;

7. Phone a bit later. Jane is taking a repeated with action "always/ g) irritation, constantly" shower. expressing 8. I always have a cup of coffee in the criticism, etc.; h) changing or developing situation; morning. i) fixed arrangement in the near future. 9. Meat is getting more and more expensive.

Exercise 8. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Present Indefinite or the Present Continuous Tenses.

- 1. My neighbour is on holiday, and I (to feed) her dog this week.
- 2. Ukrainian cooking (to use) a lot of dairy products.
- 3. Look at the children! You (to understand) what game they (to play)?
- 4. Helen, just listen to this. Yesterday I (to come) home, (to open) the door and (to see) a terrible mess in the entrance-hall.
- 5. You always (to come) late and it really gets on my nerves.
- 6. Wendy (to taste) the salad to see if there is enough salt in it.
- 7. The Linguistics course (to consist) of ten lectures and seven seminars.
- 8. Mmm. I (to taste) vanilla in the pie. It's delicious.
- 9. Hurry up and finish doing the room! Here (to come) home Mum and Dad.
- 10. You (to hear) it? Somebody (to cry).
- 11. What language they (to speak) in Switzerland?
- 12. My friend (to get) married in May.
- 13. Tomorrow our classes (to begin) at 11.20.
- 14. They can't buy a new TV set. They (to save) money for their daughter's tuition.
- 15. If nothing (to go) wrong, they (to deliver) the furniture today.

Exercise 9. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Present Indefinite, the Future Indefinite or the Present Continuous Tenses.

- 1. The concert (to take place) on Friday night. They still (to sell) tickets.
- 2. Don't worry. You (to understand) everything if you (to listen) to me carefully.
- 3. According to the timetable the train (to start) in 20 minutes. It's a late train. Believe me, you (to find) a seat.
- 4. I'm so happy. We (to take) a cruise around the Mediterranean in September.
- 5. Do you know that my friends (to come) for the weekend?
- 6. We (to have) a picnic next Saturday. You (to join) us?
- 7. You know Sue (to get) married in a fortnight.
- 8. All right. I (to explain) it again.
- 9. We (to throw) a party tomorrow. You (to come)?
- 10. Come to our party, I'm sure you (to like) it.

Exercise 10. Translate the sentences into English.

1. — Подивися на того високого чоловіка в сірому капелюсі. Що він робить? — Я думаю, він нюхає тістечко, яке їсть дівчина за сусіднім столиком. — Кумедна ситуація. Дівчина виглядає занепокоєною.

- 2. Чим ти займаєшся? Зараз я безробітний, а взагалі я бухгалтер за професією. А що ти робиш так далеко від дому в Харкові? Я тимчасово живу у своєї сестри. Наступного тижня я повертаюся додому.
- 3. Мій чоловік танцює набагато краще за мене, тому цієї осені я беру уроки танців. Скільки коштують такі уроки?
- 4. Що ти думаєш про своїх нових друзів? Я не впевнена, що вони щирі зі мною. Вони роблять все можливе, щоб виглядати привітними.
- 5. Не відкривай вікно. Дме холодний вітер. Я хочу провітрити кімнату. Мені важко зосередитись, коли у кімнаті задушливо.
- 6. Я знаю того хлопця. Він живе на сусідній вулиці. У нього гарний будинок і дорога машина. Моя сестра сьогодні з ним зустрічається. Вона хоче працювати у його фірмі. Сподіваюсь, він гарний бос.
- 7. Про що ти думаєш? Поспіши. Вже половина по шостій. Вистава починається о сьомій. У тебе завжди йде купа часу, щоб зібратися в театр. Ти така повільна. Я майже готова. Не хвилюйся. Ми зазвичай ніколи не запізнюємося.
- 8. Мері все ще п'є каву? Ні, я її не бачу на кухні. А хто сьогодні миє посуд? Не знаю. Сьогодні субота, а я прибираю кухню у вівторок та четвер.
- 9. Що ти шукаєш? Свої окуляри. Ти знаєш, де вони? Ні. Ти постійно щось губиш у моїй кімнаті.
- 10. Хто з цих дівчат Мері? Ти пам'ятаєш, як вона виглядає?
- 11.— Ти думаєш, він розуміє, про що ми говоримо? Думаю, частково. Йому складно зрозуміти наш акцент, але я над ним працюю.
- 12.— Я ненавиджу великі міста. Люди постійно кудись поспішають. Я віддаю перевагу життю в тихій провінції. Чому ж ти тоді живеш у Києві? Я доглядаю за старенькою бабусею.

THE PAST CONTINUOUS TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences.

- 1. ['wot wəz 'sju:zı /du: ıŋ | wen ju· 'kɔ:ld on hɜ· \jestədı || \int i· wəz \nıtıŋ || 'waı 'woznt \int i 'raıtıŋ \mathbb{P} ə ,kompə\zı \int n || \int i· həd tə \fini\ ıt əz fa:r əz aı rımembə ||]
- 2. ['weə did Pei \si: him || Pei 'sɔ: him in Pə \pa:k || hi· wəz həviŋ ə \wɔ:k | /wznt hi· || \jes | hi· wəz in'dʒɔiɪŋ Pə 'nais 'sʌmər /i:vniŋ | in Pə 'kʌmpəni əv Pə 'klsus \frendz ||]
- 3. ['w3: ju· 'stein ət ∕h3vm Də h3vl dei on sætidi || √və | it wəz 'reinin frəm ↑3:li /mɔ:nin | til 'leit ət `nait ||]

Exercise 2.

A. It was 6 pm in Pleasantville. What were the inhabitants of the town doing?

- 1. Ms Slim/ to jog round the park;
- 2. Mr Swot/ to prepare for the test;
- 3. Mr Late/ to hurry to a business meeting;
- 4. Mr Active's children/ to play hide and seek;
- 5. Mr and Mrs Rich/ to dine at the restaurant;
- 6. Ms Chatty/ to have a talk over the telephone;
- 7. Ms Pretty/ to try on a new dress in the boutique;
- 8. Mr and Mrs Spendthrift/ to browse around the shops;
- 9. Mrs Hen/ to play with the children on the playground;
- 10. Mr Fat/ to eat a huge sandwich at the fast food restaurant;
- 11. Mr and Mrs Proud/ to look at their reflection in the mirror;
- 12. Mr Handsome and Ms Lovely/ to walk in the park hand in hand.

B. What were these people doing at that time yesterday? Try to guess.

Mr Painter; Mr and Mrs Sporty; Mrs Cook; Ms Lazy; Mr Clever; Mr and Mrs Gardener; Ms Inquisitive; Mr Dreamer; Mr and Mrs Lier; Ms Melody; Mr Friendly; Mr Hungry and Ms Thirsty; Mrs Clean; You.

Exercise 3. Say that the information is not true. Make use of the phrases: it's impossible, you are mistaken, it's not true, you are wrong, etc.

Model: I saw you yesterday afternoon. You were reading a book in the library, weren't you? – It's impossible, I'm afraid. I wasn't reading in the library. I was working in the laboratory at that time.

- 1. Your group mates were preparing for the concert from 3 till 6 on Friday, weren't they? (to have a fancy dress party)
- 2. You were surfing the net when Jack called you yesterday, weren't you? (to make a shopping list)
- 3. Nick was complaining about the weather when you overheard his conversation with Jessica, wasn't he? (to pay sb a compliment)
- 4. Your parents were looking for a new washing machine to buy when I saw them in the shopping centre, weren't they? (to shop for clothes)

- 5. The children were watching cartoons when their father came home yesterday, weren't they? (to play video games)
- 6. Your neighbour was playing the piano at midnight, wasn't he? (to listen to music)
- 7. Luke was riding a bicycle when he met with an accident, wasn't he? (to cross the street)
- 8. Your teacher was explaining the rule to the students when the monitor entered the classroom, wasn't she? (to mark students' papers)
- 9. The boy was climbing the tree when sb called him, wasn't he? (to tease the dog)
- 10. You were laying the table when you broke the plate, weren't you? (to wash up)
- 11. Your mother was working in the garden when it began to rain, wasn't she? (to lie in the sun)
- 12. Peter was doing his homework when a brilliant idea came to his mind, wasn't he? (to read a scientific journal)

Exercise 4. Put questions to the underlined words.

- 1. I was <u>dancing to the music</u> while my sister was doing her morning exercises.
- 2. Jack was parking his car when his mobile phone rang.
- 3. Susan was frying potatoes when she burnt her finger.
- 4. Sandra was browsing round the shops when somebody stole her purse.
- 5. The children were running fast when one of them fell down.
- 6. The teacher was speaking over the telephone when the bell rang.
- 7. I was looking for my key from 5 till 6.
- 8. They were waiting for their colleague when they heard that strange noise.
- 9. I was standing outside the caf? when Richard approached me silently.
- 10. When mother opened the door the nanny was reading <u>a fairy tale</u> to the children.
- 11. Steve was crying with pain when the ambulance brought him to hospital.
- 12. The thief was hiding in the park when the police found him.

Exercise 5. Ann had a tight schedule yesterday.

A. Guess what Ann was doing during the day.

Model: Was Ann making breakfast at 7.00 yesterday? – No, she wasn't. She was taking her children to school at that time.

B. Find out what she was doing at: 6.30; 6.45; 7.00; 8.00; 10.00; 11.00; 12.30; 14.00; 14.30; 15.00; 16.30; 18.00; 19.00.

Model: I wonder what Ann was doing at 6.30 yesterday. – She was making breakfast.

6.00 - 6.35	to make breakfast
6.35 - 6.50	to have breakfast

6.50 - 7.30	to take children to school
7.30 - 9.45	to clean the flat
9.45 – 10.30	to do the shopping
10.30 – 12.15	to have a chat with a friend over the telephone
12.15 – 13.30	to watch a favourite soap opera
13.30 – 14.10	to have lunch
14.10 – 14.45	to pick up children from school
14.45 – 16.00	to help children with their homework
16.00 – 17.50	to do the washing
17.50 – 19.15	to walk the dog
19.15 – 19.45	to plan next day with her husband

Exercise 6. Remember your day yesterday in detail. Work with a partner and guess what each of you was doing during the day.

Model: Were you working at your pronunciation at 7 pm yesterday? — Yes, I was. Pronunciation is my weak point. (No, I wasn't. I was dancing to music at that time. It usually helps me to relax after classes.)

Exercise 7.

A. Mr White works at school. Yesterday he was late for his first lesson. What did he see when he entered the classroom? Make use of the information about his class.

Model: Richard is a swot. – When Mr White entered the classroom he was revising his lesson.

- 1. Jackie is a clean freak.
- 2. Susan adores Barbie dolls.
- 3. Michael is fond of painting.
- 4. Sandra is interested in poetry.
- 5. Mary is fond of potted plants.
- 6. Peter and Jason like card games.
- 7. Simon is keen on classical music.
- 8. Nick and Larry don't like each other.
- 9. Lucy and Kate enjoy doing crosswords.
- 10. Tom and Jerry are in the habit of teasing girls.

B. Remember your school days. What were your former classmates doing when once your teacher entered the classroom at break time?

Exercise 8. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Past Simple or the Past Continuous Tenses.

- 1. I (to lie) in the sun for half an hour and then (to go) swimming.
- 2. You (to see) her in the morning? Yes. She (to stand) at the entrance to the University.
- 3. He (to come) in and (to see) his daughter who (to draw) a strange picture.
- 4. Ann and Lily (to pick) up apples in the garden when the thunderstorm (to start).
- 5. The tourists (to fly) to the Netherlands yesterday.
- 6. I (not to hear) what he (to say). I (to speak) on the phone at the moment.
- 7. When it (to happen)? It (to happen) when they (to drive) home.
- 8. We (to sit) in silence for 5 minutes, then he (to speak).
- 9. Sorry, what you (to say)? I (not to listen).
- 10. You (to enjoy) your picnic in the country? No, I (not to go) out of town as it (to rain).
- 11. Why you (to make) so many mistakes in the last test? I (to think) about my trip to London.
- 12. I can't believe it! I (to wait) for you for an hour yesterday and you (to play) computer games at that very time!
- 13. Rameses II (to rule) over ancient Egypt for fifty years.
- 14. I (to do) my homework yesterday, when my roommate (to come) and (to say) that a visitor (to wait) for me downstairs in the hall.

Exercise 9. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Що ти робила вчора о сьомій вечора? Розмовляла по телефону з подругою.
- 2. Коли ми вийшли на вулицю, світило сонце і співали птахи.
- 3. Коли я робила покупки в супермаркеті, я побачила свого старого приятеля. Він обирав сир.
- 4. Ми познайомилися з ним, коли він жив у свого приятеля.
- 5. Коли він повернувся додому, його дружина саме накривала на стіл.
- 6. Я дзвонила йому о десятій. Чому він не відповідав? Що він робив?
- 7. Коли ми приїхали на вечірку, всі танцювали, і лише Пітер сидів на дивані й переглядав журнал. У нього був стомлений вигляд.
- 8. Вона все ще чекала на тебе, коли ти з'явився на годину пізніше? Ні, її там не було.
- 9. Я чула ваш сміх у сусідній кімнаті. Над чим ви сміялися? Ми сміялись над котом, який намагався впіймати рибку в акваріумі. Тваринки виглядали кумедно.
- 10. -3 ким ти розмовляла вчора на вулиці? -Я не була вчора на вулиці. -Я бачила тебе на власні очі.
- 11. Де і коли ти купила такого чудового капелюха? Я купила його минулого року, коли відпочивала в Іспанії.
- 12. Він насправді купався у крижаній воді, коли в нього стався серцевий напад?

THE FUTURE CONTINUOUS TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences.

- 1. ['hu: wɪl 'si: \nætəlɪ tənaɪt || \t∫elsɪ wɪl || ∫ɪ· wɪl bi· 'mi:tɪŋ hɜ·r ət \sevn ||]
- 2. ['dɜunt 'kɔ:l on mi· 'nekst \sʌndɪ || aɪ wɪl bi· 'vɪzɪtɪŋ maɪ \grænɪ || 'wɪl jɔ· 'brʌΦə bi· 'vɪzɪtɪŋ 'grænɪ /tu: || \nɜu | hi·l bi· prɪ'pɛərɪŋ fə hɪz 'faɪnəl 'test ɪn \ɪŋglɪʃ ||] ['lets 'gɜu \opin təgeΦə || 'Φæt ɪz ə 'greɪt 'aɪdıə || 'wɛə ʃəl wi· \mi:t || 'lets 'mi:t ət Φə \opin sentə || aɪl bi· 'weɪtɪŋ fə ju· ət Φi· 'entrəns ət ɪ\levn ||]

Exercise 2. Respond to the sentences as in the model.

Model: I want to call on you tomorrow. (to help one's Granny in the garden) – I'm sorry, I will be helping my Granny in the garden all day tomorrow.

- 1. Let's arrange a picnic at the weekend. (to redecorate the room)
- 2. What about coming to my place at 6 pm? (to come up to Kyiv)
- 3. What do you think of skating on Saturday? (to repair one's bike)
- 4. Why can't they phone you tomorrow? (to travel in the mountains)
- 5. Will your husband take part in that project in July? (to have holidays)
- 6. Will you join me tomorrow morning? (to do the shopping at the market)
- 7. What do you say to going to a caf? tonight? (to get ready for tomorrow's concert)
- 8. Why not go on an excursion to Lviv next Sunday? (to celebrate one's son's birthday)
- 9. I'd like your nephew to come to my place in the afternoon. (to have a German lesson)
- 10. Let's invite Dick to play tennis at the stadium at noon. (to meet one's Mum at the station)
- 11. Can the monitor be present at the sitting of the students' council? (to take an exam in English)
- 12. Can your group-mates help me with the wall newspaper after classes? (to have a meeting with the headmaster of the local school)

Exercise 3. Answer the questions using the suggested words.

Model: My group-mates will be rehearsing a new play tomorrow. And yours? (to participate in the sports competition) — Mine won't be rehearsing a new play. They will be participating in the sports competition.

- 1. I will be reciting a poem in the concert. And you? (to sing a song)
- 2. Mrs Jason will be performing on the stage tonight. And Mr Jason? (to shoot a film)
- 3. Susan will be working abroad next year. And your brother? (to do one's military service)
- 4. Vitaly Klychko will be fighting in the match tonight. And Volodymyr? (to watch the fight)
- 5. My father will be watching a football match on TV tonight. And yours? (to do some research in the laboratory)

- 6. I will be serving the dishes in the restaurant in the afternoon. And your sister? (to work on a fruit farm)
- 7. My friend will be consulting his music teacher after the lesson. And yours? (to work in the library)
- 8. We will be picking mushrooms tomorrow. And your neighbours? (to work on one's allotment)
- 9. My room-mates will be sightseeing in London all Saturday. And yours? (to lie in the sun on the sea beach)
- 10. My elder brother will be playing football at the stadium from 5 till 7. And yours? (to teach English to his pupils)
- 11. The junior pupils will be painting portraits in the next lesson. And the senior pupils? (to draw landscapes)
- 12. You will be interviewing celebrity guests after the ceremony. And your colleagues? (to hold a survey)

Exercise 4. Ask questions as in the model. Use the suggested words.

Model: I will be busy tomorrow. (to read up for the exam in Ukrainian) – Will you be reading up for your exam in Ukrainian?

- 1. I want to switch on the TV. (to watch a talk show)
- 2. I will be at home all day long. (to do a spring clean)
- 3. There are a lot of clouds in the sky. (to rain heavily soon)
- 4. She will be out on Saturday morning. (to do the shopping)
- 5. My aunt will be away next week. (to have a rest at the sanatorium)
- 6. They will be in Kyiv the whole month. (to stay at their Grandmother's)
- 7. She will go to the computer club in a few minutes. (to surf the Internet)
- 8. He will practise his English tomorrow. (to listen to the English podcasts)
- 9. My mother is looking for some recipes in the Internet. (to cook a new dish)
- 10. The Smiths will go to the caf? on Sunday. (to celebrate Mr Smith's Birthday) 11. Mr Bricks will be on a business trip on Friday. (to make a report on one's
- research at the conference)
 12. The teacher will hold a lecture on the great Ukrainian poet Shevchenko. (to speak on one's biography or analyze one's poems)

Exercise 5. Make up sentences.

- 1. Your wife/slim/soon?
- 2. You/listen to e-book/ at break?
- 3. Where/ she/ fly/ at this time tomorrow?
- 4. The Jacksons/ not have any barbecue/ at noon.
- 5. When/ Susan/ talk with her Mum on the phone?
- 6. The girls/ do an aerobic workout/ from 7 till 8 pm?
- 7. We/ not sunbathe on the river bank/ on Sunday afternoon.
- 8. I/ take photos of different sights/ during my stay in London.
- 9. What musical instrument/ Lucy/ learn to play/ next month?
- 10. Our sportsmen/ compete in the international events/ in a month.
- 11. Our athletes/ travel overseas for training purposes/ next month.

12. The pupils/ not discuss Shakespeare's works/ in the next lesson of Foreign Literature.

Exercise 6. Complete the sentences.

- 1. When I come home, my parents
- 2. At this time tomorrow I
- 3. While the students are writing a test, the teacher
- 4. My group-mates ... tonight.
- 5. My best friend ... all summer.
- 6. While my room-mate is doing the cooking in the kitchen, I
- 7. While the teacher is lecturing, my group-mates
- 8. When I am sleeping on Sunday morning, my mother
- 9. When the teacher enters the classroom, we
- 10. My fellow students ... from 5 till 7 pm on Monday.
- 11. When the bell goes, I
- 12. When my room-mates go to bed, I

Exercise 7.

A. Translate the situation.

- Коли ти їдеш до Єгипту?
- Завтра. Уяви, що через два дні я буду плавати у Червоному морі.
- Звучить чудово!

B. Make up similar dialogues about your plans for the coming weekend.

Exercise 8. Say what will happen in these situations. Follow the model.

Model: Spring has come. Soon the weather will be getting better. The days will be becoming longer and the nights shorter. The birds will be returning back from the warm countries. The farmers will be ploughing their fields and sowing seeds. The trees will be budding. The flowers will be blooming.

- 1. Autumn has come.
- 2. Winter has come.
- 3. Summer has come.

Exercise 9. Translate into English.

Α.

- 1. Я буду зайнятий після обіду. Я буду займатися роботою по дому.
- 2. Хлопчику не віриться, що завтра у цей час він буде летіти на літаку до Лондона.
- 3. Вийдіть з аудиторії після заняття. Чергові будуть провітрювати її під час перерви.
- 4. Не дзвони мені протягом наступних кількох хвилин. Я буду розмовляти з деканом.
- 5. Не потрібно заходити до нього увечері. Він буде доглядати за своїм племінником.
- 6. Вона вирушить у подорож завтра? Ні, завтра вона буде пакувати речі.

- 7. Я впевнена, що коли я прийду додому, мій брат буде спати. Він такий сонько.
- 8. Люсі не зможе приєднатися до нас завтра вдень. У цей час вона буде показувати визначні місця нашого міста своїй двоюрідній сестрі.
- 9. Чим ти будеш займатися на канікулах? Я думаю, я не буду сидіти вдома ціле літо. Я поїду до бабусі, а потім проведу декілька тижнів у будинку відпочинку.
- 10. У понеділок лікар не буде приймати пацієнтів. Він буде робити дуже складну операцію у цей день.
- 11. Що ти будеш робити з 6 по 7 годину увечері у п'ятницю? Нічого, я буду відпочивати.
- 12. У студентів не буде лекції з зарубіжної літератури. У цей час вони будуть зустрічатися з представниками молодіжної організації.

В.

- 1. Я вже вивчив нові слова. А я буду робити домашнє завдання з англійської мови сьогодні увечері.
- 2. Ти забереш мене з аеропорту завтра о 5 годині ранку? Боюся, що ні. В цей час я буду їхати у ділову поїздку до Києва.
- 3. Він гарно грає у бейсбол? Так, він займається цим видом спорту протягом 7 років. У четвер його команда буде брати участь у місцевих змаганнях. Ми можемо піти та подивитися їх.
- 4. Твоя сестра зараз зайнята? Так, вона готує святковий обід. Завтра ми будемо святкувати її ювілей.
- 5. Сьогодні дуже холодно. Так, погода гіршає з кожним днем. Мабуть, скоро буде морозити.
- 6. Вчора мій одногрупник запросив мене на день народження. Ти вже вибрав подарунок? Ні, я буду робити це завтра. Ти мені допоможеш?
- 7. Коли приїжджає Ваша подруга? У середу після обіду. Коли вона прибуде до, ми будемо чекати на неї. Вона не знає дороги до нашого дому.
- 8. Сьогодні спортсмени відпочивають. Завтра у них важкий день. Вони будуть бігти марафон.
- 9. Дощ іде вже два дні. Я сподіваюся, що завтра, коли я прокинуся, буде сяяти сонце.
- 10. Ваші батьки будуть на вихідних у місті? Ні, вони будуть за містом на дачі. У них буде пікнік.
- 11. Давайте зустрінемося у цьому таборі наступного року. Шкода, але я не зможу. У цей час я буду готуватися до випускних екзаменів.
- 12. Мені необхідно поїхати за кордон, тому взимку я буду відвідувати мовні курси. А яку мову ти вивчав у школі?

THE PRESENT PERFECT TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences, pay attention to the pronunciation of the auxiliary verb to have in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. [\ste1/s1 | 'hæv ju· həd jɔ· /brekfəst jet || \not /jet || aıl həv 1t ət Də ,ju:nı'v3:sıtı kæn\ti:n ||]
- 2. ['waı 'hævnt ju· 'woıst \np α:ftə s\np || aı 'hævnt \d\n ıt /jet | bət aı həv 'swept Də \flɔ:r ın Də kıtsən ||]
- 3. [hi·z 'i:tn hız \su:p | \sharp haznt hi· || 'jes hı· \haz mædm || bət hi· həz 'not 'teıstıd enı dı\z3:t ||]
- 4. [ju·v \pækt jɔ· θιŋz | \(\sigma\)hævnt ju· ||\\jes | aıv 'd3\\st 'fını∫t \pækιŋ Dəm ||]

Exercise 2. Explain why you/ somebody else can't perform the action.

Model: Why can't you go camping with us?(to break an arm) -I can't do it because I have broken my arm.

- 1. Why can't we taste your cake? (to burn)
- 2. Why can't you show me your flat? (to sell)
- 3. Why can't you ask Sam for help? (to quarrel)
- 4. Why can't you put on your new dress? (to tear)
- 5. Why can't you peel potatoes? (to lose the knife)
- 6. Why can't Alice go to the party? (to have a baby)
- 7. Why can't Sally wash the dishes? (to cut a finger)
- 8. Why can't her parents come together? (to divorce)
- 9. Why can't he sing at the concert? (to catch a cold)
- 10. Why can't Nicholas join us now? (to miss the train) 11. Why can't Mary make an omelet? (to run out of eggs)
- 12. Why can't Jack take part in the competition? (to break a leg)

Exercise 3. Explain the reason for your/ somebody else's state or action.

Model: Why are you smiling? -I 've bought a new dictionary.

- 1. Why is Willy sad? (to fail an exam)
- 2. Why is it so quiet in the room? (to leave)
- 3. Why are you so frightened? (to see a ghost)
- 4. Why is Sam so clever? (to read a lot of books)
- 5. Why is it dark in the room? (to switch off the light)
- 6. Why is your Mother so tired? (to do all the housework)
- 7. Why is it cold in the room? (to turn on the air conditioner)
- 8. Why are you angry with your brother? (to break a vase)
- 9. Why is the child lying on the ground? (to fall off the tree)
- 10. Why is Ally screaming with excitement? (to win the lottery)
- 11. Why is Ann so happy? (to receive an invitation to the party)
- 12. Why aren't you satisfied with your answer? (to make a lot of mistakes)

Exercise 4. Answer the questions.

Model 1: When did you skate last? – I haven't skated since my childhood.

- 1. When was Simon abroad last? (since 2005)
- 2. When did he fall in love last? (since he met Alice)
- 3. When did Carrie visit her granny last? (since August)
- 4. When did you eat ice-cream last? (since last summer)
- 5. When did Mary bake a cake last? (since her birthday)
- 6. When did your sister swim in the sea last? (since last autumn)
- 7. When did you see your former classmates last? (since the prom)
- 8. When did your teacher praise you last? (since we wrote our test)
- 9. When did you climb the mountains last? (since my last vacation)
- 10. When did Peter write a letter last? (since he entered the university)
- 11. When did your parents go to a restaurant last? (since their honeymoon)
- 12. When were you last at the concert of classical music? (since my trip to Odessa)

Model 2: Can you skate? – Yes, I can. But I haven't skated for 10 years.

- 1. Can you swim?
- 2. Can you fly a kite?
- 3. Can your sister ski?
- 4. Can you ride a bike?
- 5. Can your mother sew?
- 6. Can you speak French?
- 7. Can your parents play chess?
- 8. Can your father cook borsch?
- 9. Can your friend drive a lorry?
- 10.Can your group mates play poker?
- 11. Can your boyfriend play the guitar?
- 12.Can your granny dance rock-n-roll?

Exercise 5. Reject the suggestion and explain why you reject it.

Model: Let's go for a walk. – Unfortunately I can't go now. I haven't done my homework yet.

- 1. Let me send your letter. (not to write)
- 2. Let's order something. (not to decide)
- 3. Let Peter find some chalk. (already, to fetch)
- 4. Let's play with the baby. (just, to fall asleep)
- 5. Let's have a picnic in the garden. (just, to rain)
- 6. Let's have a rest. (just, to have a coffee break)
- 7. Let's go to the theatre. (already, to see this play)
- 8. Let me help you with this exercise. (already, to do)
- 9. Let's cook something for dinner. (already, to order pizza)
- 10. Would you like something to eat? (already, to have lunch)
- 11. Would you like another helping of this cake? (just, to eat two pieces)
- 12. Would you like something to drink? (just, to have a cup of green tea)

Exercise 6. Answer the questions as in the model.

Model: Is the cake tasty? – Yes, it is the tastiest cake I have ever eaten.

- 1. Is Sam's bill big? (to pay)
- 2. Is your car fast? (to drive)
- 3. Is the case heavy? (to carry)
- 4. Is your tea strong? (to drink)
- 5. Is your teacher strict? (to meet)
- 6. Is the mountain high? (to climb)
- 7. Is the article interesting? (to read)
- 8. Is Sally's dress expensive? (to buy)
- 9. Is Sam's girlfriend beautiful? (to see)
- 10.Is Amy's story interesting? (to write)
- 11. Is the exercise difficult for Pete? (to do)
- 12. Is your friend's voice pleasant? (to hear)

Exercise 7. Respond as in the model. Use the suggested words.

Model: Peter is an experienced teacher. – No wonder. He has worked as a teacher for 20 years.

- 1. They are champions. (to win all matches)
- 2. His face seems familiar to me. (to meet before)
- 3. She is a well-known writer. (to write 20 novels)
- 4. I can't find Sandra anywhere. (to be ill for a week)
- 5. Luke knows this film by heart. (to watch it 15 times)
- 6. Simon is sick. (to smoke 20 cigarettes since morning)
- 7. Sally knows every street in London. (to live for 20 years)
- 8. Sam is an excellent driver. (to have a car since he turned 16)
- 9. Anny and Mike have no children. (to be married for 3 months)
- 10.I can't help admiring Luke's picture. (always, to be good at painting)
- 11.Peter and Alice are best friends. (to know each other since childhood)
- 12. My friend's parents are quite rich. (to work in a bank for many years)

Exercise 8. Write questions for the given answers.

Model: They have been married for 5 years. – How long have they been married?

- 1. No, I have never been to England.
- 2. He says he has never seen a ghost.
- 3. No, I think we've never met before.
- 4. She has been in hospital since Monday.
- 5. Oh, I've been in love only once in my life.
- 6. Almost, but I haven't bought any milk yet.7. No, they have painted only half of the wall.
- 8. Not yet. But he is finishing the last exercise.
- 9. Yes, he is already in and he wants to see you.
- 10. She has had these earrings since she left school.
- 11. Yes, I saw a crocodile in the zoo when I was a child.
- 12.He saw it twice only last week. It's his favourite film.

Exercise 9. Ask and answer about Simon, Fred and Judy and yourself as in the model.

Model: Has Simon ever been abroad? – No, he has never been abroad.

	Simon	Fred and Judy	You
to be abroad	never	many times	
to write a poem	once	never	
to see a ghost	never	recently	
to cook pizza	recently	many times	
to ride a horse	several times	never	
to build a sandcastle	twice	several times	
to smoke cigars	never	twice	
to fly a kite	many times	once	
to swim in the ocean	never	recently	
to run a marathon	never	never	
to make a parachute jump	once	never	
to have a blind date	recently	once	

Exercise 10. Imagine you haven't seen one of your friends for 10 years. Tell him/ her what has happened in your life and in the life of your friends since you last saw each other.

Model: You know, I've met my better half and got married.

Exercise 11. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Я боюся їхати в гори. Я ніколи не каталась на лижах.
- 2. Ви бачили мій гаманець? Я не можу його знайти?
- 3. Ці події нас нічому не навчили.
- 4. Чому він такий сумний? Він не склав іспиту з історії.
- 5. Нарешті я закінчила цей твір. Я вперше написала такий довгий твір.
- 6. Він знає звичаї африканських країн. Так. Він багато подорожував Африкою.
- 7. Подивись, що подарував мені Саймон. Він завжди вмів обирати подарунки.
- 8. Як довго ви одружені? Ми одружені з тих пір як почали працювати у цій школі, а знаємо одне одного з дитинства.
- 9. Завтра у Сема екзамен. Я думаю він вивчив достатньо, щоб скласти його на відмінно.
- 10. Мері вже повернулася? Ще ні, але вона щойно телефонувала і просила зачекати на неї.
- 11. Я працюю лікарем вже багато років і ніколи не думала змінити роботу.

12. Ти вже закінчила вправу? – Ні. Це найскладніша вправа, яку я колинебудь робила.

Exercise 12. Put the verbs in brackets into Past Indefinite or Present Perfect.

- 1. She (to forget) her Italian since she (to leave) Rome.
- 2. Andrew can commute easily now, as he (to buy) a new car.
- 3. Jane (to lose) her gloves and cannot remember where she (to see) them last.
- 4. My granny cannot see well as she (to become) short-sighted.
- 5. What you (to do) last night?
- 6. Agatha Christie (to write) a lot of interesting detective stories.
- 7. How's your cousin? When you (to see) him? Oh, I (not to meet) him for ages!
- 8. What you (to achieve) since I last (to see) you?
- 9. You (to hear) from your friend lately? Yes, I (to get) a message from her last night, but I (not to answer) it yet.
- 10. It's the most delicious cake I ever (to taste). When and where you (to buy) it?
- 11. J.Rolling (to write) five books about Harry Potter.
- 12. When and where you (to get) this wonderful watch? -I don't remember. I (to have) it for years.
- 13. Yesterday I (to work) at my report for five hours, but I (not to finish) it yet.
- 14. It is the worst comedy I ever (to see).
- 15. He is much smarter than I (to think).
- 16. I (to live) in Kyiv for seven years and now I miss it a lot.

Exercise 13. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Чому ти не подзвонила мені у понеділок? Я не мала часу.
- 2. Чому ти не прибрала у кімнаті? Я не маю на це часу. Я ще не підготувала доповідь на завтра.
- 3. Мері чудово виглядає у цій сукні. Вона завжди любила гарний одяг.
- 4. Пітер завжди заходив до нас, коли жив у сусідньому будинку.
- 5. Де Capa? Вона поїхала до Іспанії. Коли вона поїхала? Як довго вона вже там?
- 6. Коли ти востанн ϵ водила автомобіль? Я вже рік не водила автомобіль.
- 7. Це найдорожчі квіти, які я коли-небудь купувала. Так, вони набагато дорожчі, ніж я очікувала.
- 8. Я впевнена, ми зустрічалися раніше. Де і коли ми зустрічалися?
- 9. Вчора він чекав на тебе дві години. Чому ти не прийшла?
- 10. Ми не бачились з ним з тих пір, як посварились минулого року.
- 11. Ти вже накрила на стіл? Десять хвилин тому.
- 12. За останні декілька тижнів він бачив родину лише двічі. Це тому, що він працює над важливим проектом. Минулого року він практично жив у офісі.

THE PAST PERFECT TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences in the Past Perfect Tense.

- 1. ['hæd 'mɛərɪ /fɪnɪ∫t kli:nɪŋ hɜ· ru:m baɪ ten || \jes | ∫ɪ· həd 'dʌn \evrɪθɪŋ baɪ Φæt taɪm || 'ɜυ \nɜυ | ∫ɪ· 'hædnt 'wɔ:təd 'ɪndɔ: \plɑ:nts ||]
- 2. [wi· 'put 'of auə 'pıknık ın Də 'wud tıl 'nekst /wi:k | əz ıt həd 'reınd /hevılı ət naıt | ənd ıt wəz 'ra:Də \wet autsaıd ||]
- 3. ['emili hæd 'n $\wedge\theta$ iŋ tə\rait wi $\mathbb{P} \mid J_1 \cdot h$ əd 'left hɜ\' 'pen bi\haind || \ai \/n\u00e3\u00b1 |\ 's\u00e3\u00b1 's\u00b1 'maindid ||]

Exercise 2. Use the verbs in brackets in the Past Perfect Tense.

- 1. Jack (not to arrive) by the time we went out.
- 2. She (to live) in Singapore before she went to Thailand.
- 3. When I arrived at the theatre, the film (to start).
- 4. When we (to finish) dinner, we went to the park.
- 5. Julia understood that she (to meet) the young man somewhere before.
- 6. Martha told me she (to study) the whole night before the exam.
- 7. After the young people (to eat) fish, they began to feel sick.
- 8. We were late for the train because we (to leave behind) our passports.
- 9. The students were talking about the film they (to watch).
- 10. Father (to pay) the bill before we left.
- 11. She said she (not to visit) the USA before.
- 12. Martin (not to study) before the test, so he was very nervous.
- 13. The grass was yellow because it (not to rain) all summer.
- 14. The lights were cut off because we (not to pay) the electricity bill.
- 15. The students (not to do) their home exercises, so they were in trouble.
- 16. The old man (not to use) Skype before, that's why I showed him how to use it.
- 17. George and Julia (not to meet) before the party.
- 18. We (not to eat) anything so we went to a caf?.
- 19. They couldn't go to the symphony concert because they (not to bring) their tickets.
- 20. Mother (not to cook) dinner when Bryan came back from the office.

Exercise 3. Explain the statements using the Past Perfect Tense.

Model: We couldn't tell the time. (Bert/ to lose the only watch) - We couldn't tell the time. Bert had lost the only watch.

- 1. There was nobody in the room. (everybody/ to leave)
- 2. Wendy couldn't send the e-mail. (the internet/ to disappear)
- 3. The lights suddenly went out. (the hurricane/ to destroy the electricity power station)
- 4. The woman got frightened. (she/ to see the crime committed)
- 5. The turkey was overcooked. (mother/ to forget about it)
- 6. The children felt sleepy. (they/ not to sleep long enough)
- 7. There was a mess in the kitchen. (children/ to bake a cake)

- 8. All the flowers faded. (Betsy/ not to water)
- 9. Jenny was wet to the skin. (she/ to fall into the river)
- 10. George was fired from his job. (he/ to be an hour late)
- 11. The grass was dry. (it/ not to rain)
- 12. The police arrived. (somebody/ to make a call)
- 13. Betsy spoke fluent French. (she/ to live in France)
- 14. Luckily the Browns didn't miss the plane. (they/ to take a taxi)
- 15. Jill couldn't explain the rule. (she/ not to learn)
- 16. Students were short of money. (they/ not to get scholarship)

Exercise 4. Give negative answers to the following questions. Develop the situation following the model.

Model: – Had you translated the text before you went to bed? (to read) – No, I had not translated the text before I went to bed. I had only read it.

- 1. Had you baked a cake when the guests arrived? (to find the recipe)
- 2. Had Kate and Nick got married by August? (to get engaged)
- 3. Had Victor repaired the car when the client came? (to check the engine)
- 4. Had mother written a letter before the lights went out? (to find an envelope)
- 5. Had you washed the linen when the water disappeared? (to put into the washing machine)
- 6. Had Peter lived in Glasgow before he moved to London? (to live in Edinburgh)
- 7. Had the students finished writing the test when the bell rang? (to cope with the first task)
- 8. Had you learned Spanish before going to Barcelona? (to meet a Spaniard once)
- 9. Had Joan spent all her money before she decided to buy another purse? (not to buy anything at all)
- 10. Had you managed to collect your thoughts before the interview began? (to sort out some items)
- 11. Had you done all exercises from that book by the time Jane came to borrow it? (to write half of the exercises)
- 12. Had Mary learned the part of Juliette before the rehearsal began? (to read twice)

Exercise 5. Make up questions using the Past Perfect Tense. Let your partner answer them.

- 1. (he/ to repair) the laptop when your cousin came to get it?
- 2. (you/ to go) to the opera by last summer?
- 3. (he/ to record) the song before the equipment failed?
- 4. (you/ to cook) the chicken before the guests arrived?
- 5. (they/ to travel) by plane before they took a trip to Mexico?
- 6. (she/ to take) the photo of the landscape when the battery went low?
- 7. (they/ to eat) breakfast when you called?
- 8. How much (he/ to study) before they wrote the test?
- 9. What (you/ not/ to eat) before you became a student?

- 10. Who (to play) the saxophone by midnight?
- 11. What (they/ not/ to see) before they went to the British Museum?
- 12. What (you/ to hear) about the University before you entered it?

Exercise 6. Ask questions as in the model. Let your partner answer them.

Model: Ask your partner if he had planned his weekend by Friday. – Had you planned your weekend by Friday?

- Yes, I had planned my weekend by Friday. I had planned to spend it in the country.

Ask your partner if:

- 1. he/ she had planted roses by the evening;
- 2. he/ she had drunk milk with honey before he fell asleep yesterday;
- 3. he/ she had read "The Wizard of Oz" by last weekend;
- 4. he/ she had been to Lviv before going to Kyiv;
- 5. he/ she had eaten raw fish before he went to the Japanese restaurant;
- 6. he/ she had spoken to the Professor by the final exam;
- 7. he/ she had made plans for his/ her vacations before he/ she decided to stay at home:
- 8. he/ she had communicated with Mary before she moved to Scotland;
- 9. he/ she had been to the language laboratory before he/ she went home;
- 10. he/ she had watched films in English before he entered the department of foreign languages;
- 11. he/ she had had breakfast before the classes began;
- 12. he/ she had taken lessons before she tried to ride a horse.

Exercise 7.

A. Yesterday your friends had a party. Say what they had/ hadn't done before they went to bed. Use the suggested prompts.

Model: to eat the turkey – Before my friends went to bed they had eaten the turkey.

- to open all the presents;
- to drink lemonade;
- to eat all the cake;
- to let the cat in;
- to feed the hamster and fish;
- to walk the dog;
- to wash the dirty dishes;
- to tidy the room

B. Make up some sentences of your own.

Exercise 8. Make up sentences according to the model.

Model: No sooner he (to graduate) from the University than he (to open) his business. – No sooner had he graduated from the University than he opened his business.

- 1. No sooner she (to complete) one project than she (to start) the next.
- 2. No sooner they (to start) for the beach than it (to begin) to rain.
- 3. No sooner Professor (to finish) his lecture than students (to start) asking lots of questions.

- 4. No sooner she (to hear) the news than she (to have) a heart attack.
- 5. No sooner mother (to cook) dinner than the guests (to arrive).
- 6. No sooner the plane (to take off) than the child (to feel) sick.
- 7. No sooner the accident (to happen) than there (to be) a large crowd.
- 8. No sooner he (to eat) his breakfast than the phone (to ring).
- 9. No sooner John (to come) back from Alaska than he (to start) for South Africa.
- 10. No sooner Victoria (to get married) than she (to bear) the twins.
- 11. No sooner mother (to finish) singing the lullaby than the baby (to fall) asleep.
- 12. No sooner he (to enter) a stuffy room than he (to get) a headache.

Exercise 9. Make up sentences according to the model

Model: Hardly I (to find) my umbrella when it (to stop) raining. — Hardly had I found my umbrella when it stopped raining.

- 1. Hardly the thunderstorm (to begin) when the lights (to go out).
- 2. Scarcely she (to put) the receiver back on the cradle when the phone (to ring up) again.
- 3. Hardly the bell (to ring) when the children (to run) out of the classroom.
- 4. Scarcely we (to board) the train when it (to start) to move.
- 5. Hardly the child (begin) to cry when his mother (to take) him in her hands.
- 6. Scarcely mother (to enter) the kitchen when Ann (to give) her a glass of juice.
- 7. Hardly she (to finish) writing the message when the telephone (to ring).
- 8. Scarcely father (to receive) the telegram when his hands (to begin) to tremble.
- 9. Hardly Jack (to buy) a scooter when he (to get) into an accident.
- 10. Hardly the company (to start) with a new product when it (to go) bankrupt.
- 11. Scarcely the trip (to begin) when they all (to quarrel).
- 12. Hardly the article (to appear) in the newspaper when Jane (to wake up) famous.

Exercise 10. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Present Perfect or the Past Perfect Tenses.

- 1. My granny asked who (to break) her glasses.
- 2. Look! Somebody (to break) my glasses.
- 3. You ever (to see) a UFO? No, I (not). But my uncle once told me he (to see) it.
- 4. I am sure Jane (to miss) her 5.15 train. That's why she (not to come) yet. It looks like her. She never (to come) on time so far.
- 5. I looked at the children and understood I (to see) them somewhere before.
- 6. When I came home I saw that the puppy (to tear) the morning paper to pieces.
- 7. I am hungry because I (to have) nothing to eat since morning.
- 8. I just (to buy) the strawberries at the market. Have some!
- 9. It (to stop) raining and the sun is shining.
- 10. There (to be) no post delivery all this week. The postman (to fall) ill.
- 11. I wondered who (to send) me that message?
- 12. The girls looked very suntanned. They (to be) to Mexico.
- 13. Mr. Brown (to be) an architect for twenty years.

Exercise 11. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Past Indefinite or the Past Perfect Tenses.

- 1. The woman in front of me was a complete stranger. I never (to see) her before.
- 2. The house was very quiet when I (to get) home.
- 3. I felt relieved when they (to leave).
- 4. The librarian gave him the book he (to want) to read for a long time.
- 5. They (to finish) the homework by ten o'clock.
- 6. We (to go) out to buy a drink, but the pub (to close).
- 7. At six o'clock he (to know) they (not to come).
- 8. She (to go on) with the story where her Mother (to stop).
- 9. Tom wasn't at home when I (to arrive). He just (to go) home.
- 10. Margaret was late for work. Her friend (to be) very surprised. She never (to be) late before.
- 11. There was nobody in the sitting-room when I (to get) home. Everybody (to go) to bed.
- 12. I didn't recognize him. He (to change) a lot.
- 13. By the time we (to arrive) the party (to finish).
- 14. Before we (to take) Paul to the theatre, he never (to see) a play on the stage before.
- 15. He (to be) an American citizen for 20 years when the war (to break out).
- 16. He (to say) he (to spend) the last 15 years of his life exploring the world.
- 17. I (not can) buy the record because I (to lose) the money.
- 18. I (not to go) to the museum with my class because I (to be) there before.
- 19. When we (to buy) the house, it (to be) empty for several years.
- 20. No sooner I (to eat) the mushrooms, than I (to feel) sick.
- 21. When I (to see) Jack yesterday he (to look) very upset: someone (to steal) his car.
- 22. In the morning I (to find) a baby bird in our garden. It (to fall) out of its nest.

Exercise 12. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Past Indefinite, the Past Continuous or the Past Perfect Tenses.

- 1. I (to run) into Wendy yesterday. I (to ask) her to join us for dinner tonight but she (to say) she (to arrange) to have dinner with Paul.
- 2. When I (to come) to Nick's house I (not to find) him in. His sister (to say) that she (not to know) where he (to go) and what he (to do) but (to think) he probably (to play) football.
- 3. The mouse (to hide) while the cat (to watch).
- 4. How you (to break) your leg? I (to slip) on the ice and (to fall) down when I (to cross) the street. The worst of it (to be) that it (to be) just before the holidays and I (to plan) to go away.
- 5. Yesterday customers (to ring) up all morning complaining about getting incorrect bills. I (to understand) something (to go) wrong with our computer.
- 6. Last night I (to meet) Jack, he (to have) a black eye. He (to fight) again?
- 7. While I (to wonder) whether to buy the sweater or not, someone else (to come) and (to buy) it.

- 8. I (to not get) much sleep last night because the people next door (to have) a noisy party. I (to ring) them up and (to say) that they (to make) too much noise. They (to point out) that it (to be) Saturday and that people often (to have) parties on Saturday nights. I (to say) that they always (to have) parties till early in the morning.
- 9. When Debbie (to come) home in the evening I (to think) I (to smell) smoke on her clothes. I (to be) sure she (to smoke).
- 10. Jack (to be) late last evening but his friends (to wait) for him. They (to promise) to wait till he (to come).

Exercise 13. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Я спізнилася на роботу, тому що забула документи на столі.
- 2. Ми захоплювалися картиною, яку намалювала Кейт.
- 3. Викладач виправив помилки у тестах, які напередодні написали студенти.
- 4. Мій друг у лікарні, оскільки він поковзнувся на шкірці від банана та зламав руку.
- 5. Кошенята перевернули вазон із квітами, тому я була змушена помити підлогу.
- 6. Ми жили у будинку, який побудував мій дідусь ще у минулому столітті.
- 7. Ти отримала гарну оцінку за екзамен. Ти багато працювала, щоб підготуватись?
- 8. Вчора я отримала сукню, яку мені поштою надіслала подруга.
- 9. Він виглядав так, як його описувала тітка Еліс.
- 10. Вона спакувала валізу задовго до того, як по неї приїхало таксі. А вона поклала у валізу фотоапарат? Вона вирішила взяти із собою відеокамеру.
- 11. Гроші, які Мері заробила, працюючи офіціанткою, вона витратила на освіту.
- 12. Після того як Сенді успішно склала іспити, вона врешті відчула полегшення.
- 13. Ніхто не зрозумів, як усе трапилося.
- 14. Не встигли ми зайти у літак, як стюардеса почала розносити напої.
- 15. Щойно годинник пробив дванадцять, як карета перетворилася на гарбуз, коні на мишей, а кучер на пацюка.

THE FUTURE PERFECT TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences with the verbs in the Future Perfect Tense.

- 1. [ʃi·l həv rı'tɜ:nd 'hɜvm baɪ Đə 'taĐm ɪt bı'gınz \reiniŋ | ∠wɜvnt ʃi· || əv \kɔ:s || fi· kən 'wɔ:k 'verı \fα:st ∠rıəlı | 'sɜv ʃi· 'wɜvnt 'get 'wet \θru: ||]
- 2. ['sæm wil 'not həv 'pα:st hiz ig'zæmz bai Đi· 'end əv Đi· ig,zæmi'nei∫n \piəriəd || hi·l həv tə 'teik Đəm ə/gein | wen hi· həz pri'pɛəd \wel ||]
- 3. [wi· məst 'hʌrɪ \ʌp dʒeɪn | aɪm ə'freɪd wi· 'ʃa:nt həv 'got tə $\mathfrak P$ ə 'steɪʃn bɪfɔ: avə 'treɪn \li:vz ||]

Exercise 2. Answer the questions as in the model.

Model: Will the dinner be ready when you come? - Yes, I will have cooked dinner by the time you come.

- 1. Will the luggage be packed before you call a taxi?
- 2. Will our tests be checked before the lesson starts?
- 3. Will your homework be done before you go to bed?
- 4. Will their new flat be decorated before they move there?
- 5. Will the sandwiches be made before the girls set the table?
- 6. Will your room be cleaned before mother returns from work?
- 7. Will the documents be typed before the working day is over?
- 8. Will your article be written before the academic year begins?
- 9. Will the problem be solved before we leave for our native place?
- 10. Will the garage be cleaned up before your father buys a new car?
- 11. Will he be operated on before his wife comes back from the expedition?
- 12. Will the accommodation be booked before they set out on their journey?

Exercise 3. Respond to the statements as in the model.

Model: Will you come to my place at 5? (to do homework) — I'm afraid, I won't have finished my homework by that time.

- 1. Let's meet in the buffet at break. (to write a test)
- 2. Shall we go for a bike ride at the weekend? (to repair the bicycle)
- 3. We'll have a talk about it in the morning. (to finish the night shift)
- 4. I hope the child will sleep peacefully when I come. (to have supper)
- 5. What about going to the mountains in August? (to complete the course)
- 6. Will your sister apply for a job in June? (to get one's degree)
- 7. In a few years he'll become a famous film producer. (to make a single film)
- 8. Sally wants to drop in at your shop tomorrow evening. (to receive new stock)
- 9. Can I have an appointment with the director at 9 am tomorrow? (to come to the office)
- 10. Will your cousin be able to work as a taxi driver in summer? (to pass one's driving test)
- 11. Will the Greens arrange a house-warming party next week? (to move to a new apartment)
- 12. Will the head of your department sign the agreement on Friday? (to read the document)

Exercise 4. Ask questions as in the model.

Model: I'm busy with my report now. (to finish it/ by tomorrow) — Will you have finished it by tomorrow?

- 1. Susan is in hospital. (to recover/ by New Year Holiday)
- 2. Bertha is staying at her Granny's now. (to leave/ before I come)
- 3. I'm writing a detective story. (to publish/ by the end of the year)
- 4. They are going to London by plane. (to get there/ by the evening)
- 5. The actors are rehearing a new play. (to stage it/ by the holidays)
- 6. They are on a walking tour now. (to cover 10 kilometers/ by the evening)
- 7. The students are working in the garden. (to gather harvest/ by September)
- 8. The population of Nizhyn is 80000 people. (to grow substantially/ by the year 2020)
- 9. My Mother is cooking dinner now. (to set the table/ by the time you come home)
- 10. We are planning a trip to Norway. (to start for that country/ by the end of the season)
- 11. They are building a new stadium not far from the centre of the city. (to open it/by the end of the decade)
- 12. My daughter is dating her former classmate. (to get married/ before she graduates from the university)

Exercise 5. Make up sentences with the verbs in the Future Perfect Tense.

- 1. The cherry trees/ bloom/ by that time.
- 2. Mr. Harris/ leave for/ the airport/ by 8.30.
- 3. By what time/ they cover/ all the distance?
- 4. We/ not send/ the invitation cards/ by Friday.
- 5. He/ finish reading/ the novel/ by the weekend?
- 6. The delegation/ not get/ to Venice/ by morning?
- 7. Who/ open/ a new caf?/ by the end of the month?
- 8. The students/ pass/ all their state exams/ by July, 1?
- 9. Which of these appliances/ you/ fix/ by tomorrow?
- 10.We/ receive/ any news from him/ by the end of the expedition?
- 11. The dinner/ be served/ in the dining room/ by the time we arrive?
- 12. The secretary/ not reserve/ plane tickets/ by the end of the working week.

Exercise 6.

A. Ask and answer questions about Betsy's schedule for Monday.

Model: – Will Betsy have got up by 7.15? – Yes, she will. She will have got up by 7.15.

- She will have taken a shower by 7.15, won't she? Yes, she will. She will have taken a shower by 7.15.
- What will Betsy have done by quarter past 7? She will have got up and taken a shower.

7.00 am.	wake up, shower
7.15	morning exercises
7.30	breakfast
8.00	classes
2.30 pm.	lunch
3.00	household chores
4.00	aerobics
6.00	homework
8.00	supper
8.30	TV, books, Internet
10.00	bed

B. Ask your partner similar questions about his/her schedule for tomorrow. Report the information you've learned from your partner.

Exercise 7. Complete the following sentences.		
1. By the time the lesson starts,		
2. When the summer holidays are over,		
3. By the end of the month,		
4. By the beginning of the new term,		
5. When I am through with my homework,		
6. When I come home,		
7. By the year 2020,		
8. Before the bell goes,		
9. By September,		
10. When I come home tonight,		
11.Before I go to bed,		
12.By the time I complete the University degree,		

Exercise 8. What do you think you will have done by the year 2020?

Will you have

- received a University degree?
- got married?
- had a child?
- got a job?
- made a career?
- built a house?
- gone abroad?
- been 30?
- moved to another city?

Exercise 9. What do you think will have happened on our planet by the year 2050? Make up sentences according to the pattern. You can use some of the ideas from the list below.

Model: I think, people will have found a cure for AIDS by the year 2050.

- find a cure for AIDS;
- learn to live under the water;
- start to travel to other planets;
- introduce a common language;
- start using digital money instead of the notes and coins;
- construct taxis driven by robots;
- implant mobile phones into their bodies;
- invent time-travel;
- solve the pollution problem;
- start to buy things from the producers via the Internet;
- begin to study online only.

Exercise 10.

A. Say how the life in Nizhyn will have changed by 2050. Make use of the word-combinations given below the table.

Model: It is dangerous to walk along the streets of Nizhyn but in 2050 the streets will be quite safe. So, the level of crime will have decreased by 2050.

now	2050
dangerous at night	safe
much litter	clean streets
many stray animals	shelters for stray animals
many unemployed people	no unemployment
bad roads	broad avenues
few places for entertainment, sport	new cinema, playgrounds, sports grounds
poor hospitals	modern medical equipment

- 1. to decrease/ the level of crime
- 2. to solve the problem of pollution
- 3. to organize shelters for stray animals
- 4. to provide unemployed people with employment opportunities
- 5. to widen and pave the roads with asphalt
- 6. to build a new cinema, sports grounds and playgrounds
- 7. to improve medical care system

B. What do you think will have changed in your native place by 2050?

Exercise 11. Translate into English.

Α.

1. Ти встигнеш багато зробити до того часу, як я прийду до тебе?

- 2. Думаю, ми відремонтуємо машину до 2 години, а потім зможемо поїхати на прогулянку за місто.
- 3. Боюся, я не орендую квартиру до того часу. Можна, я поживу у тебе?
- 4. До якого часу працівники закінчать будівництво висотного будинку, що знаходиться біля університету?
- 5. Чому ти говориш, що ми не перескладемо цей екзамен до початку нового семестру?
- 6. Вони прийдуть до назначеного часу, чи не так?
- 7. Поспіши, інакше фільм почнеться до того часу, як ми прийдемо до кінотеатру.
- 8. Візьми ключ. Ми ляжемо спати до того часу, як ти повернешся додому.
- 9. Ми дійдемо до села до того, як стемніє.
- 10. Сподіваюся, ми влаштуємося на новій квартирі до Різдва, а на свято зможемо запросити наших друзів.
- 11. Моя молодша сестра дуже наполеглива і працьовита. Я впевнена, що до того часу, як вона вийде заміж, вона зробить кар'єру.
- 12. На небі багато важких хмар. Ми доберемося додому до того, як почнеться дощ, якщо візьмемо таксі?

В.

- 1. Що тут відбувалося? Скоро прийдуть гості, а у вітальні такий безлад. Не хвилюйся. До того часу, як вони прийдуть, я приберу кімнату.
- 2. Документи готові? Ще ні, секретар говорить, що декан їх не підписав. Однак вона запевняє нас, що до кінця робочого дня ми їх одержимо.
- 3. Тобі подобається фільм? Він такий нудний. Мені здається, до того часу, як він закінчиться, я засну.
- 4. Давай вирушимо на пікнік. Я не зможу до тебе приєднатися. Я повинна підготувати реферат до вечора. У нас завтра семінар з історії України.
- 5. Чи можу я поговорити з Робертом? Його немає вдома. Він повернеться додому до вечора? Ні, він поїхав у експедицію.
- 6. Дощ іде з ранку, і, здається, він не перестане йти до самого вечора. День зіпсований. Нам доведеться сидіти вдома.
- 7. Ти можеш мені сказати, що відбувається у світі? Я не знаю останніх новин. Сьогоднішні газети ще не принесли. Боюся, що ми не одержимо їх до вечора. Наш листоноша хворий.
- 8. Якщо до ранку не випаде сніг, ми підемо кататися на лижах до лісу. Опадів не буде до кінця тижня.
- 9. Вчитель повідомить нам результати тестів до 3 години? Він зараз їх перевіряє. У нього залишилося лише кілька робіт.
- 10. Ми живемо далеко від школи, але сподіваємося, що до 1-го вересня ми переїдемо до нового житла, що знаходиться лише у кількох хвилинах ходьби від школи.
- 11. Ця аудиторія зайнята? Так, там члени студкому обговорюють майбутню поїздку до Києва. Вони закінчать це обговорення до кінця перерви?
- 12. Він зараз зайнятий роботою над бізнес-планом. Якщо ми не будемо йому заважати, він звільниться до обіду.

THE PRESENT PERFECT CONTINUOUS TENSE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences in the Present Perfect Continuous Tense.

- 1. [aɪm 'sɜʊ 'sorī aɪm /leɪt || 'haʊ 'loŋ həv ju· bi·n \weitiŋ fɔ: mi· || \dɜʊnt /wʌrī | aɪ 'hævnt bi·n 'weitiŋ fə ju· /loŋ ||]
- 2. ['wen did Dei \kam hiə || Dei 'keim 'hiər ət \ten || 'wot həv Dei bi·n 'du: iŋ 'ɔ:l Dis \taim || Deiv bi·n dis'kasıŋ ə \ten || veri im'pɔ:tənt \probləm sins Den ||]
- 3. [sins 'wen həz 'mɛəri bi·n 'wɜ:kiŋ fə \mathfrak{D} is `kʌmpəni || $\int i \cdot 'g dt hɜ \cdot 'd d dt$ in 'twenti /ten | ənd $\int i \cdot z bi \cdot n$ 'wɜ:kiŋ 'hiə `sins ||]

Exercise 2. Say since when the action has been taking place.

Model: We are sightseeing. We started doing it at 11 am. - So, you have been sightseeing since 11 am.

- 1. We live in Manchester. We moved there in 2004.
- 2. He is doing the shopping. He left home early in the morning.
- 3. James acts in commercials. He first acted in the commercial in 2010.
- 4. My mother is cooking dinner. She turned on the gas-stove at 11 am.
- 5. Mr Morris goes in for horse-riding. He began doing it when he was 20.
- 6. The secretary is checking her e-mail. She switched on the computer at 9 am.
- 7. Joan dates Sam. They started dating when they were first-year students.
- 8. My aunt is standing in a queue to pay the bills. She entered the bank at 3 pm.
- 9. I'm taking care of my friend's cat. I started doing it when my friend left for Lviv.
- 10. Betsy is teaching the alphabet to her younger sister. She began to do it on Monday.
- 11. The workers started decorating my room in January, so my sister and I are sharing one room now.
- 12. The students are translating the poem by Byron. They started doing it at the beginning of the lesson.

Exercise 3. Say how long the action has been taking place.

Model: She is reading the individual course outlines. She opened the University directory half an hour ago. – She has been reading the individual course outlines for half an hour.

- 1. The scientists are conducting an experiment. It started two years ago.
- 2. My cousin is reciting a poem. He came out on the stage 5 minutes ago.
- 3. Andrea is surfing the Internet. She began doing it a quarter of an hour ago.
- 4. The programmer is installing new software. He started doing it three hours ago.
- 5. My uncle is working with his laptop. He sat down to table a quarter of an hour ago.
- 6. Father is repairing a vacuum cleaner. He got down to this work several minutes ago.

- 7. Mother is doing the washing. She switched on the washing machine several minutes ago.
- 8. The teacher is checking the students' tests. She opened the first test-book an hour ago.
- 9. The sportsmen are exercising at the stadium. They started their training two hours ago.
- 10. Father is watching a documentary about the 2nd World War. The programme began an hour ago.
- 11. The journalist is interviewing the headmaster. He entered the headmaster's office half an hour ago.
- 12. William is taking the guests round London in his car. They started doing the city an hour and a half ago.

Exercise 4. Respond to the sentences as in the model. Use the suggested words.

Model: Why are your hands dirty? (to work in the garden) -I have just been working in the garden.

- 1. Why is your Mom so tired? (to clean the house)
- 2. Why is there such a mess in your room? (to look for the key)
- 3. Why are the pupils so excited? (to take part in the concert)
- 4. Why are Lily's eyes red? (to cry)
- 5. Why are the sportsmen so exhausted? (to run a marathon)
- 6. Why are the children laughing? (to watch a comedy)
- 7. Why are your roommates in a bad mood? (to quarrel)
- 8. Why are there so many pools outside? (to rain)
- 9. Why is your hair wet? (to take a bath)
- 10. Why is Bill sleepy? (to take a nap)
- 11. Why is there such an unpleasant smell in the kitchen? (to fry fish)
- 12. Why are there so many dirty spots on your T-shirt? (to squeeze juice)

Exercise 5. Ask questions as in the model using the suggested words.

Model: Your friend is angry with you. (to wait/long) – Has he been waiting for me long?

- 1. Bill's clothes are wet. (to walk in the rain/just)
- 2. My former classmate is a chess champion. (to play chess/long)
- 3. Your friend's mother is a librarian. (to work in the library/long)
- 4. The room looks spotless. (to do a spring clean/just)
- 5. Jane's Arabic is perfect. (to learn the language/ long)
- 6. Ben is out of breath. (to run/ just)
- 7. There is an unpleasant smell in the kitchen. (to smoke/just)
- 8. My friends have bought a new flat. (to look for it/long)
- 9. Lucy looks so sad. (to cry/ just)
- 10. It is so cold in the room. (to air it/ just)
- 11. We are going to buy a new car. (to save money/long)
- 12. My grandparents are going to celebrate their golden anniversary this weekend. (to live together/ 50 years)

Exercise 6. Ask questions as in the model using the suggested words.

Model: Don't enter the room. The students are having an exam in English. (How long/ to take it) – How long have the students been taking it?

- 1. Phone Betty a bit later. She is busy washing up. (How long/ to wash the dishes)
- 2. Let's buy them a present for the house-warming party. They are going to move into their new house next week. (How long/ to build it)
- 3. Wait for the doctor in the reception-room. He is examining the patients now. (Since when/ to receive the patients)
- 4. Let's have some tea and cakes. My Mom has just made some. (How long/ to bake them)
- 5. Don't disturb him right now. He is working at his project. (Since when/ to do it)
- 6. Hurry up. We are waiting for you. (How long/ to stay here)
- 7. Look at this picture. That's a masterpiece. (How long/ to paint it)
- 8. Don't be so nervous. I can help you to translate the article. (How long/ to work as an interpreter)
- 9. Come and stay with us as long as you want. We have enough room here. (How long/ to live in this fine cottage)
- 10. Be quick. I am already finishing my composition. (Since when/ to write it)
- 11. Don't be so loud. The child is in bed. (How long/ to sleep)
- 12. Let's visit Mary. She is still feeling unwell. (Since when/ to stay in hospital)

Exercise 7. Answer the questions as in the model, use the suggested adverbial modifiers of time.

Model: Have you just been riding a horse? (never) -No, I have never ridden a horse.

- 1. Has he just been driving a car? (for ages)
- 2. Have the children just been skating on the pond? (since last winter)
- 3. Have you just been redecorating your room? (for several years)
- 4. Has it just been raining? (for a week)
- 5. Have you just been cooking French fries? (never)
- 6. Have your group-mates just been participating in the music festival? (since last year)
- 7. Has Peter just been reciting a poem? (since he left school)
- 8. Has your father been surfing the Internet? (never)
- 9. Have you just been taking your driving test? (never)
- 10. Have you just been having a meal? (since morning)
- 11. Have you just been painting the front door? (for 2 years)
- 12. Have you just been lying in the sun? (since last summer)

Exercise 8. Make up sentences using the suggested word-combinations.

Model: since morning/ to do a spring clean/ to tidy up the kitchen -I have been doing a spring clean since morning but I have tidied up only the kitchen.

- 1. for the last 5 minutes/ to keep silent/ not to say a single word
- 2. since 9 am/ to stay at University/ not to pass the exam

- 3. since December/ to live in London/ not to visit one's native place
- 4. since 1 pm/ to do one's homework/ to do three exercises
- 5. since Saturday/ to try to come in touch with sb/ not to answer a single e-mail
- 6. for a long time/ to study at college/ not to see one's former classmates
- 7. since the beginning of the lesson/ to write a test/ not to answer a single question
- 8. since the 1st grade/ to learn to speak English/ not to visit any foreign country
- 9. for several months/ to play tennis/ to win several local tournaments
- 10. for a few days/ to rain/ not to be sunny

Exercise 9. Fill in the gaps using for or since where it is necessary.

- 1. I knew Ben when he was a child, but I haven't seen him ... many years.
- 2. The children have been playing football ... the last two hours, but they don't seem to be tired.
- 3. Justin works by fits and starts. He has skipped a lot of classes ... the beginning of the semester.
- 4. The child has been watching TV ... morning. Don't you think he should switch off the TVset?
- 5. The Greens have been travelling throughout South America ... the middle of June.
- 6. I have been watching Mr Smith ... an hour. Why is he digging that pit?
- 7. Are the potatoes ready? You have been cooking them ... a long time.
- 8. Are you still looking for your key? Yes, I have been searching the yard ... hours. I've found nothing but an old button.
- 9. It has been raining ... all day. I wonder when it will stop.
- 10. Mr Johnson is an experienced teacher. He has been working at the University ... he moved to this town.
- 11. He seems to hear neither his teacher nor his classmates. He has been daydreaming ... the beginning of the lesson.
- 12. I've been living in my friend's apartment ... the whole month. I can't afford to have my own one because the rent is too high.

Exercise 10. Agree with the following statements. Give your arguments.

Model: Your brother looks so aggressive. (to shout at/ the last two hours) - I'm afraid you are right. He has been shouting at everybody for the last two hours.

- 1. I like his sense of humour. (to tell jokes/ all the party)
- 2. Your neighbours are so quarrelsome. (to argue/ all day)
- 3. Your classmate is very boring (to tell a dull story/ half an hour)
- 4. Your niece is very curious. (to ask questions/ I came to their place)
- 5. The child is surprisingly quiet today. (to paint some pictures/ breakfast)
- 6. I consider him to be very lazy. (to lie on the sofa and do nothing/ he got up)
- 7. Your younger sister looks very shy. (to sit all alone/ the beginning of the party)
 8. The woman seems to be so patient. (to watch one's naughty child calmly/ an hour)
- 9. I know your husband to be very hard-working. (to work on the plot/ early
- 10. I think the boy over there is tactless. (to play stupid tricks on one's friend/some minutes)

- 11. I find him rather stubborn. (to impose one's way on one's colleagues/ the beginning of the sitting)
- 12. Your friend seems to be very energetic. (to play beach volleyball without any rest/ all afternoon)

Exercise 11. Complete the sentences with the correct form of the verb in brackets using the Present Perfect or Present Perfect Continuous Tenses.

- 1. She (practise) the violin since 8 o'clock in the morning. She only just (stop).
- 2. We (cover) ten kilometers already. We (walk) for three hours.
- 3. I'm on a diet. I (eat) nothing but fruit for the whole week.
- 4. He just (eat) two big sandwiches and chocolate ice-cream.
- 5. What you (do) up to now? Nothing special, but I (cook) dinner.
- 6. The police (not find) the robber yet. They (look) for him for three days.
- 7. Roger (fail) his History exam three times because he is so bad at remembering dates. But he (practise) for a week now, I am sure he will pass it in the end.
- 8. What (happen) to the vacuum-cleaner? Something (go) wrong with it.
- 9. My cousin (collect) teddy bears ever since she went to school. Now she (collect) so many that she doesn't know where to put them.
- 10. Where you (put) my dictionary? I can't find it.
- 11. Your eyes are red and swollen. You (cry)?
- 12. Do you think Ann (wake up)? She (sleep) for so long!
- 13. Here you are! I (look for) you everywhere. Where you (be)?
- 14. The students (work) very well this term. I hope they will get good marks.
- 15. You (see) my gloves anywhere? I (look) for them for twenty minutes.

Exercise 12. Translate into English.

Α.

- 1. -Ти так довго говориш по телефону. Ще одна хвилина і я закінчу цю розмову.
- 2. Як довго учені проводять це дослідження? Півроку.
- 3. Дозвольте мені піднести Вашу важку сумку. Ви тільки що ходили за по-купками?
- 4. Вона талановита акторка. Не дивно, вона гра ϵ на сцені з дитинства.
- 5. Я дуже втомилася. Я обираю подарунок для свого хлопця з самого ранку.
- 6. Студенти складають екзамен з самого ранку, чи не так? Так, скоро він закінчиться.
- 7. -3 якого часу Ви чекаєте на декана? -Я тут з початку перерви.
- 8. Чому тут такий безлад? Ти щось шукала?
- 9. Сміти подорожують Європою протягом місяця. Вони вирушили у подорож у червні.
- 10. Ти чудово грає на скрипці. Ти давно займаєшся?
- 11. Дощ іде цілий день. На вулиці багато калюж.
- 12. Ти спостерігаєш за цими птахами з самого ранку. Я не можу не милуватися їх красою і грацією.

MODAL VERBS

Exercise 1. Read the sentences with the modal verbs, mind their pronunciation in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. ['kæn aı /help ju· mædm || \jes s3: || aı 'kænnot 'faınd \pα:kweı ævənju: || 'ız ıt /fα: frəm hıə || \n3υ | ju· kən 'get 'Đεər ın 'faıv \mınıts ||]
- 2. ['æm aı tə 'dʌst Pə /fɜ:nɪtʃər ın Pə sıtıŋru:m || 'jes ju· \α: dıə || ənd 'nel ız tə 'kli:n Pə 'kɑ:pɪt wɪP Pə \vækjvəmkli:nə|| 'wot \els məst wɪ· du: || 'mʌst wi· 'wɔ:tə Pə /flavəz əz wel || \nɔv | ju· \ni:dnt || aı 'wɔ:təd Pəm \jestədı | bət ju· məst 'pvt jɔ· 'θɪŋz ın 'ɔ:dər ʌp\stɛəz ||]
- 3. ['mei ai 'mu:v Dis 'k∧mfətəbl 'α:m't∫εə 'kləvsə tə Də √wınd₃v || 'jes ju· \mei || 'mei ai √₃vpn Də wind₃v || 'n₃v ju· \m∧snt || its 'rα:Də \dα:k avtsaid ||]

Exercise 2. Read the sentences with the modal verbs in the past, pay attention to their reduced forms.

- 1. ['wai 'kodnt ju· 'k\m in \taim nætəli || ai 'ni:did jɔ·r əd\vais || \sori \/dʒeik | ai 'got intə Də \træfik dZæm || ai kəd 'not 'get 'avt əv it fər ə \'loŋ \taim ||]
- 2. ['dıd Peı həv tə 'steı ət ∕hɜvm fə dınə || \sɜ:tnlı Peı ∕dıd || 'hu: kəd 'gɜv 'avt ın ↑'s∧t∫ 'terɪbl \wePə||]
- 3. ['w3: 'lu:s1 ənd 'megən ə'lavd tə 'ste1 ' Λ p t1l 1/levn || \n3v | 'b3v θ 'g3:lz w3· tə 'g3v tə 'bed ət \ten ||]

Exercise 3. Read the sentences, observe the pronunciation of the modal verbs in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. ['wot wıl 'meərı bi· 'eıbl tə 'du: $\wedge ft$ ə $\wedge kl\alpha:sız \parallel \int i\cdot$ 'wount bi· 'eıbl tə 'du: $\wedge m \wedge t \int \parallel \Phi$ ə 'lesnz $\alpha \cdot r$ '30və 'ra: Φ ə \leɪt \parallel]
- 2. ['wen wil Dei həv tə 'teik Di \cdot 1g\zæm || Deil həv tə 'teik 1t on \tju:zdi | ənd Dei α · 'gɔviŋ tə pri'pɛə fər 1t \siəriəsli ||]
- 3. ['wɪl 'ælıs bi· ə'laud tə 'k∧m tə Də ✓ρα:tı tənaɪt || ∫i· ∖wʒunt aı θιηk ||]

Exercise 4. Agree with the following statements.

Model: Jane is good at playing the piano. – You are right. She can play the piano well.

Susan is poor at swimming. – That's true. She can't swim well.

- 1. Julia is a bad cook.
- 2. Alan is a skilled watch-maker.
- 3. Patrick is an interesting story teller.
- 4. Harold is the best runner in our class.
- 5. Edwin is an experienced tennis player.
- 6. David is an excellent volleyball player.
- 7. Mat has only high marks in Mathematics.

- 8. Max is bad at repairing electric appliances.
- 9. Nora is the winner of the chess competitions.
- 10. Mary has difficulty in speaking English fluently.

Exercise 5.

A. Make polite requests. Respond to them using the expressions from the box.

Model: You ask your younger sister to put all the things in her room in order.

- Could you put all the things in your room in order?
- Sure.

You ask:

- 1. your friend to see you home;
- 2. the Dean of the faculty to let you in;
- 3. your friend to show you his pictures;
- 4. your mother to wake you up at 7am;
- 5. your teacher to explain the rule to you;
- 6. your brother to have a look at your CD;
- 7. your younger brother to wash up after dinner;
- 8. the shop-assistant to give you some sugar;
- 9. a passer-by to tell you the way to the station;
- 10.the librarian to give you the English text-book;
- 11. your classmate to water the flowers on the window-sills;
- 12. your neighbour to look after your little niece for some minutes.

Certainly. I'd be happy to. I'd be glad to. Sure (thing). Yes, of course. No problem. OK. With pleasure.

B. Make up similar micro-dialogues between:

a secretary/ a doctor/ a taxi-driver/ a waiter/ a teacher/ a tutor/ the Dean of the faculty/ a patient/ a passenger/ a customer/ a student/ a monitor.

Exercise 6. Paraphrase the statements using may.

Model: You are allowed to go for a walk in the evening. – You may go for a walk in the evening.

- 1. Mary lets Jim call her after 9 pm.
- 2. The children are allowed to see the film.
- 3. He is allowed to participate in the discussion.
- 4. The little child is allowed to eat a little ice-cream.
- 5. The teacher lets us use dictionaries during a lesson.
- 6. We are allowed to ask questions during the lecture.
- 7. She allows her younger brother to use her mobile phone.
- 8. My parents allow me to play computer games as long as I want.
- 9. The students are not forbidden to play football in the gym at break.
- 10. Sarah's parents allow her to stay at her friend's place for the weekend.

Exercise 7. Answer the following questions as in the model.

Model: – May I take the cake? (to be on a diet) – No, you mustn't. You are on a diet.

- 1. May we go sky-diving? (to be dangerous)
- 2. May we have a swim in the lake? (to be cold)
- 3. May he fly a plane? (to have poor eyesight)
- 4. May he have some coffee? (to have a weak heart)
- 5. May John babysit his little niece? (to be too young)
- 6. May we rent this house? (to be under reconstruction)
- 7. May I stay home tomorrow? (attendance / obligatory)
- 8. May the boy take that money? (to have little money left)
- 9. May the children feed animals in the zoo? (to be forbidden)
- 10. May we drive on this side of the road? (to be against the law)

Exercise 8. Give a piece of advice.

Model: – I have a toothache. (to go to the dentist) – You must go to the dentist.

- − He is always very tired. (to overwork) − He mustn't overwork.
- 1. Bill's health is ruined. (to smoke)
- 2. The house is shabby. (to decorate it)
- 3. It's very cloudy. (to take an umbrella)
- 4. John is very thirsty. (to drink mineral water)
- 5. She is angry with me. (to make much noise)
- 6. She is always very sleepy. (to go to bed earlier)
- 7. I have too much work to do. (to ask sb for help)
- 8. My watch is slow. (to take it to the watch-maker)
- 9. Little time is left before the train's departure. (to take a taxi)
- 10. The museum is a long way from the railway station. (to take a bus)

Exercise 9. Answer the following questions.

Model: – Must I call on you tomorrow? (to ring up) – No, you needn't. You can ring me up.

- 1. Must I take my umbrella? (to leave it at home)
- 2. Must I put on an overcoat? (to wear a jacket)
- 3. Must Phil take a bus to get to school? (to go on foot)
- 4. Must the sick child stay at home? (to walk in the park)
- 5. Must we stay for dinner? (to have dinner at the canteen)
- 6. Must I clean the carpet with a vacuum cleaner? (to sweep)
- 7. Must he read the book in the original? (to read the adapted story)
- 8. Must they answer the question immediately? (to consult a teacher)
- 9. Must we go to the library to get ready for the report? (to surf the Internet)
- 10. Must the pupils start early in the morning? (to leave the hostel in the evening)

Exercise 10. Answer the questions.

- 1. Can you stay awake all night?
- 2. Must you attend all the lectures?
- 3. May you go out bareheaded in winter?

- 4. Can your group-mates speak English fluently?
- 5. Can you watch English films in your English class?
- 6. Can you read English books without a dictionary?
- 7. Must you wash the floor in the kitchen every day?
- 8. May you leave the classroom whenever you want?
- 9. May the students come to the hostel any time they want?
- 10. Must the students inform their parents of all the marks they get at the lessons?

Exercise 11. Respond to the following statements as in the model.

Model: I can drive a car. (to ride a bike) – Can you ride a bike?

- Yes, I can. (No, I can't)
- 1. Roy can run fast. (to jump high)
- 2. You must go to bed early. (to get up early)
- 3. Alec can play the guitar. (to play the violin)
- 4. We may wear jeans at the University. (to wear make up)
- 5. My mother can make delicious cakes. (to bake fruit pies)
- 6. He has a weak heart. He can't drink coffee. (to eat chocolate)
- 7. I may swim in the river on a hot sunny day. (to go on a walking tour)
- 8. The students may speak in a whisper in the reading hall. (to make telephone calls)
- 9. Victor must make a speech at the conference. (write an article for the scientific journal)
- 10. We can practise English pronunciation at the language laboratory. (to work at Grammar)

Exercise 12. Put questions to the underlined words.

- 1. Bill must go <u>home</u> now.
- 2. Rose can lend me 10 dollars.
- 3. You can make yourself comfortable in the drawing room.
- 4. Simon must study hard for his examination.
- 5. You mustn't dust the furniture with a wet duster.
- 6. Pete can play the piano.
- 7. \underline{I} may invite my group-mates to the party.
- 8. We can borrow text-books from the library.
- 9. The students must read this text without a dictionary.
- 10. You can park the car <u>here</u>.

Exercise 13. Fill in the blanks with can (can't), may, must (mustn't), needn't.

- 1. -... he go out? No, he He has a sore throat.
- 2. My pen is out of ink. ... I borrow yours?
- 3. You ... drive without license.
- 4. Everybody ... leave the building. It is on fire.
- 5. The bag is so heavy. ... you help me?
- 6. $-\dots$ you buy vegetables at the market? No, we \dots . We have our own allotment.
- 7. He ... climb the trees with ease.

- 8. Jane ... run in the race tomorrow. Her leg is broken.
- 9. My aunt loves music. She ... play the violin.
- 10. Hurry up. We ... be late.

Exercise 14. Paraphrase the sentences using can, may, must.

- 1. Kevin is good at windsurfing.
- 2. Is Michael a good guitarist?
- 3. Is John a keen photographer?
- 4. It's necessary for us to attend lectures.
- 5. No smoking in the University building.
- 6. It's important to train your memory as well as your body, isn't it?
- 7. Do you allow me to leave the classroom now? My composition is ready.
- 8. Will you let me go to Paris with you? I'll be useful because I know French.
- 9. The junior pupils are not allowed to leave the school at break without their teacher's permission.
- 10. It is the students' duty to take the dishes away and to clear the table after a meal in the students' canteen?

Exercise 15. Translate the sentences from Ukrainian into English.

A.

- 1. Відкрий, будь ласка, вікно. У кімнаті задушливо.
- 2. Можна зайти до класу? Так, але більше не запізнюйтеся.
- 3. Олена повинна наполегливо працювати над своєю вимовою. Вона не вміє вимовляти деякі голосні.
- 4. Мені важко перекласти це речення. Чим я можу тобі допомогти?
- 5. Не можна тут палити. Хіба ти не бачиш це попередження?
- 6. Тут дуже шумно. Я тебе не чую. Повтори її адресу, будь ласка.
- 7. Ми повинні написати цю вправу письмово? Ні, не потрібно. Зробіть її усно.
- 8. Можна мені купити морозиво? Ні, у тебе хворе горло.
- 9. Гадаю, Ганна не вміє говорити англійською, чи не так? Вона володіє кількома іноземними мовами, зокрема англійською.
- 10. Допоможіть мені піднести цю сумку. Вона занадто важка. Із задоволенням.

B.

- 1. Ви можете показати мені, де знаходиться місцевий музей? Це далеко звідси. Гадаю, вам потрібно їхати туди автобусом.
- 2. Я хочу попрацювати в Інтернеті. Можна мені включити комп'ютер? Боюся, що ні. Ми не маємо доступу до Інтернету.
- 3. Нам необхідно фарбувати цей будинок? Ні, він зроблений з цегли. Ви можете лише пофарбувати вікна та двері.
- 4. Що ви повинні купити для кімнати в гуртожитку? Нічого, вона повністю умебльована. Ти можеш допомогти мені зробити в ній ремонт?
- 5. Мої друзі тільки-но приїхали до цього міста, а тому не мають, де жити.

- Не турбуйся. Вони можуть орендувати квартиру в моєї тітки за низьку ціну.
- 6. Давай вийдемо на вулицю на п'ятнадцять хвилин прогулятися. Іншим разом. Я повинна допомогти мамі робити генеральне прибирання.
- 7. У тебе такі гарні сукні. Ти вмієш шити? Так, але зараз моя швейна машинка зламана. Я не можу її відремонтувати.
- 8. Як мені зробити дитячу затишною? Не купуй багато меблів, кімната повинна бути просторою. На підлогу поклади м'який килим, а стіни пофарбуй ілюстраціями до казок.
- 9. Не можна кидати сміття на підлогу. У кутку кімнати ϵ кошик для сміття.

Exercise 16. Say that you or somebody else could do it at a certain age, too.

Model: My niece doesn't go to school but she can read. -I could also read before going to school.

- 1. I started walking at the age of ten months.
- 2. I made a chocolate cake for my 16th birthday.
- 3. Listen to that fresher. His English is so fluent.
- 4. Listen to that first-former. His singing is so nice.
- 5. Bill runs very fast and often wins school competitions.
- 6. This is a collection of poems he wrote in his childhood.
- 7. Look at the picture my brother drew at the age of seven.
- 8. Junior pupils learn to knit scarves at the labour training lessons.
- 9. My six-year-old nephew often plays the piano at the family parties.
- 10. My nine-year-old daughter presented me with an embroidered towel on my birthday.

Exercise 17. Say that you or somebody else couldn't do it and explain why.

Model: I mastered English at school. And you? (to study German) – I couldn't master my English at school. I studied German.

- 1. The students of our faculty read books by English and American writers in the original. And your fellow students? (not to have a well-stocked library)
- 2. The scientists discussed the results of the experiments at the meeting. And your supervisor? (not to be present at that discussion)
- 3. My group-mate lent me money to pay for the taxi yesterday. And your neighbour? (to be short of money)
- 4. Your class went on a guided tour last week. And you? (to get ready for the international competitions)
- 5. My friends enjoyed the paintings by modern artists at the gallery on Tuesday. And you? (to be out of town)
- 6. The physician always examines his patients in the morning. And the surgeon? (to perform a serious operation)
- 7. Your colleagues returned back home after the conference before it was dark. And you? (the car/ to be stuck in the mud in the countryside)
- 8. My sister brought a lot of presents when she returned from her business trip to Great Britain. And yours? (not to have any time to do the shopping)
- 9. We took a lot of pictures when we were on a sea voyage. And your parents? (camera/ not to work)
- 10. I always send my former class mistress a post card by e-mail on her birthday. And you? (not to have any access to the Internet)

Exercise 18.

A. Ask and answer questions as in the model.

Model A: Could Sid write letters when he was 5? - No, he could not. Could Sid count till 10? - Yes, he could.

B. Work in pairs. Let your friend guess what you could/ couldn't do at the age of 5?

Model B: You could write letters at the age of 5, couldn't you? – Yes, I could./ No, I couldn't.

C. Work in pairs. Find out what your friend could do at the age of 5 by asking him/ her questions.

Model C: Could you write letters when you were 5?— Yes, I could./ No, I could not.

	Sid/5	You/ 5	Your friend/ 5
to write letters	_		
to count	+		
to spell the name	_		
to do simple sums	+		
to recite rhymes	+		
to tie shoelaces	+		
to wash dishes	_		
to make the bed	_		
to fold the clothes neatly	+		
to play computer games	+		
to sew on a button	_		

Exercise 19. Say that you (or somebody else) were (was) allowed to do it some time ago, too.

Model: I may stay in bed a bit longer on Sunday morning. -I was allowed to stay in bed a bit longer in the morning last Sunday, too.

- 1. My father may go fishing on Saturday.
- 2. We may watch TV all day on Saturday.
- 3. The students may stay at the hostel in summer.
- 4. I may take a nap in the afternoon at the weekend.
- 5. I may go on a picnic in warm weather at the weekend.
- 6. My niece may go to the water park without her parents.
- 7. My friends and I may have tea at the local caf? at the weekend.

- 8. My daughter may invite her friends for tea on Saturday evening.
- 9. My younger brother may play computer games as long as he wishes on Saturday.
- 10. The participants of the conference may ask questions after the speaker finishes his report.

Exercise 20. Ask questions to get some additional information about the situation. Use the suggested words.

Model: The students wrote a test in English yesterday. (to use a dictionary/ to consult fellow students) – Were you allowed to use a dictionary? You were allowed to consult your fellow students, weren't you?

- 1. My sister kept to a diet last year. (to have a meal after 6 pm/ to eat meat)
- 2. She was ill with pneumonia last month. (to have a walk/ to have fizzy drinks)
- 3. His uncle had problems with his heart. (to smoke/ to go jogging in the morning)
- 4. They went to the night club yesterday. (to come home after midnight/ to have a drink)
- 5. When I was a student I lived in the hall of residence. (to cook meals in the room/ to invite guests)
- 6. Our class was on an excursion at the weekend. (to do the shopping/ to choose what sights to see)
- 7. My classmates had a rehearsal yesterday afternoon. (to miss classes/ to rehearse in the assembly hall)
- 8. The history teacher gave us the task to make a report. (to surf the internet/ to consult the tutor)
- 9. My neighbour participated in the reality-show in his youth. (to call relatives/ to go home for a short period)
- 10. She took up the post of secretary in the firm. (to have coffee breaks/ to leave the office when her work is done)

Exercise 21. Answer the questions using the suggested words. Develop the situation.

Model: Why didn't you join us when we went on an excursion on Friday? (to go anywhere) -I was not allowed to go anywhere then. I had a bad cold.

- 1. Why didn't you order the meat salad? (to eat meat)
- 2. Why did the singer cancel the concert? (to sing live)
- 3. Why did you leave the party so early? (to come home late)
- 4. Why did your mother stay in shade on the beach? (to lie in the sun)
- 5. Why did the visitors of the cafe go out to smoke? (to smoke in the caf?)
- 6. Why didn't your friend answer your telephone call? (to take a mobile phone)
- 7. Why didn't the junior pupils play in the school yard after classes? (to go out)
- 8. Why didn't your sister participate in the performance? (to perform on the stage)
- 9. Why did the passengers wait for the train in the waiting room? (to go out onto the platform)
- 10. Why didn't the monitor speak with the headmaster at break? (to enter the headmaster's office)

Exercise 22. Say that you or somebody else had to do it some time ago, too.

Model: The pupils regularly go through medical examination. (yesterday) – The pupils had to go through medical examination yesterday, too.

- 1. I clean my room every day. (the day before yesterday)
- 2. She always washes her clothes on Saturday. (last Saturday)
- 3. The sportsmen train regularly at the stadium. (last weekend)
- 4. We must attend the language laboratory regularly. (on Friday)
- 5. The teacher often gives tutorials to her students. (two days ago)
- 6. My Granny waters the flowers three times a week. (on Monday)
- 7. My parents plant fruit trees in the orchard every spring. (last spring)
- 8. I cook breakfast for my family every morning. (yesterday morning)
- 9. Betsy often helps her younger brother with Biology. (yesterday evening)
- 10. Wendy often looks after her little niece when her elder sister is at work. (the day before yesterday)

Exercise 23.

A. Ann and Jane were very busy yesterday though it was their day off. Say what they had to do.

Model: Ann and Jane's room was in a mess. (to do a considerable turn out) – That's true. They had to do a considerable turn out.

- 1. Their clothes were dirty. (to wash)
- 2. Jane spilt some coffee on the carpet. (to clean)
- 3. There was some dust on the furniture. (to dust)
- 4. They expected their friends to come in the evening. (to cook some dishes)
- 5. There were piles of dirty dishes in the sink. (to wash up)
- 6. There were some grease spots on the floor. (to scrub and mop)
- 7. They had so much homework for Monday (to do a lot of exercises)
- 8. Their printer didn't work. (to take it to the computer service center)
- 9. There was no food left in the fridge. (to go shopping)
- 10. Their Saturday was so busy. (to go to bed late)

B. Tell you friend what you had to do last weekend.

Exercise 24. Ask questions to get some additional information about the situation.

Model: The boy was extremely rude with his neighbour. (to apologize) – Did he have to apologize?

- 1. He put on weight. (to go to the gym)
- 2. My mom had a birthday yesterday. (to bake a cake)
- 3. I failed Mathematics last week. (to retake the exam)
- 4. He needed some extra money. (to get a part-time job)
- 5. They had hardly any bread at home. (to go to the baker's)

- 6. My classmates arranged a party last month. (to help them)
- 7. We are going on a trip to Kaniv. (to reserve a room in the hotel)
- 8. We wanted to become exchange students. (to attend language courses)
- 9. Jane wanted to buy a new dress but it was very expensive. (to borrow money from a friend)
- 10. The dishwasher I bought at the supermarket didn't work. (to make a complaint to the manager)

Exercise 25. Find out some more details about the events using the verbs in brackets.

Model: Kristy did a lot of exercises yesterday. (in writing) - She had to do them in writing, didn't she?

- 1. Bill didn't do well in the exam. (to retake)
- 2. We had too much work for the next day. (to sit late)
- 3. The weather was so rainy yesterday. (to stay indoors)
- 4. I was at a loss doing that exercise. (to explain the rule)
- 5. We took part in project work in Linguistics. (to do research)
- 6. Mike made a lot of spelling mistakes in his essay. (to re-write)
- 7. The first-year students held a concert yesterday. (to participate in the meeting)
- 8. On Monday the Dean made a report about the coming exams. (to attend)
- 9. While reading the text he came across many unknown words. (to look up)
- 10. Roger worked by fits and starts at the beginning of the term. (to catch up with)

Exercise 26. Answer the questions. Develop the situation using the suggested words.

Model: Did you go to work yesterday? (to have a day off) -I didn't have to go to work yesterday. I had a day off.

- 1. Did you call a doctor yesterday? (to feel much better)
- 2. Did the tourists carry the heavy equipment around? (to leave it in the camp)
- 3. Did you buy tickets for the concert yesterday? (to participate in the concert)
- 4. Did your parents book a holiday trip independently? (to book a package tour)
- 5. Did Max borrow the reference book from the library? (to have it in the home library)
- 6. Did your father park the car on the parking lot which is behind the house? (to have a garage)
- 7. Did the students of your group attend yesterday's lecture in Physics? (not to major in Physics)
- 8. Did you get enrolled on an English course before going on a business trip to the UK? (to be good at English)
- 9. Did your neighbour take a bus when going to school yesterday? (to live within a walking distance of the school)
- 10. Did your elder sister do any cooking while your mother was away? (to have meals at the canteen)

Exercise 27. Get more information about the events by asking special questions.

Model: Yesterday I had to learn a poem by heart. – Why did you have to learn it? – I had to recite it at the concert.

- 1. They had to set off very early.
- 2. Louise had to miss classes last Tuesday.
- 3. My friend and I had to join a scientific society.
- 4. We had to consult our teacher in Culture Studies.
- 5. We had to work at that text for a very long time.
- 6. Samuel had to make an appointment with the doctor.
- 7. My group-mates had to do a lot of transcribing yesterday.
- 8. Sandy had to get down to her project work at the weekend.
- 9. Minnie had to borrow some text-books in History from the library.
- 10. The undergraduates had to instruct the first-year students before the presentation.

Exercise 28.

A. Last weekend Ann and Pete organized a party. Say what each of them had or didn't have to do.

Ann		Pete	
✓	make Russian salad		
	grill mushrooms	✓	
	fry fish	✓	
	roast meat	✓	
✓	stew potatoes		
✓	bake a cherry pie		
✓	fill pancakes with fruit		
✓	stuff eggs with minced meat		
	make tea	✓	
✓	set the table		
	clear the table	✓	
	decorate the flat	✓	
✓	wash up		

B. Imagine that you organized a party last weekend. What were your and your friend's responsibilities?

Exercise 29.

- A. Practising good table manners while abroad or while hosting a foreign guest is a vital part of life. Read and say what table manners you must observe visiting different countries.
- In **Tanzania**, it is impolite to get in time to dinner. It is preferable to be 15-30 minutes late.
- When in **Russia**, leave a bit of food on your plate to show the host that there was plenty to eat.
- In **Afghanistan**, a good host has to ask at least three times if the guests want another serving, and these have to refuse at least three times also. If someone drops bread on the floor, this should be lifted, kissed and only after put somewhere else.
- If you are ever invited to have dinner in **Japan**, you need to wait for the host to invite you three times before you start eating.
- In **Germany** do not sit down at the table before the host or hostess has shown you your seat and has sat down.
- If you receive a home invitation to lunch or dinner in **Turkey**, bring flowers, but never bring wine or any other alcoholic beverage.
- B. Imagine that you visited these countries. Tell your friend what you had to do, didn't have to do when you were invited to dinner.

Exercise 30.

A. Yesterday your friend cooked mushroom risotto. Below you see the ingredients of that dish. Find out what your friend did with them using the verbs in the box.

Model: Did you have to slice cheese or grate it? – Well, I had to grate it.

Butter, onion, mushrooms, rice, vegetable stock, cheese.

melt, boil, pour, grate, slice, chop, heat, fry

- B. Say what your friend had to do to cook mushroom risotto.
- C. Say what you had to do when you cooked your favourite dish for the first time.

Exercise 31.

A. Mrs Billstone is a slim woman but some years ago she started to put on weight. So, she had to keep to a diet. Using the suggested expressions say what she had to do, could do, wasn't allowed to do.

To have regular meals, to eat on the run, to have fruit for dessert, to cut down on sweets, to drink skimmed milk, to go jogging, to have a meal after six, to have

much coffee, to drink Coca Cola, to keep off alcohol, to eat fast food, to cook whole-grain cereal, to buy whole-meal bread.

B. Have you or your friends ever been on a diet? What did you/ they have to do, could do, weren't allowed to do?

Exercise 32.

A. Home Magazine decided to conduct a survey to find out if young people were ready for independent life without their parents' care. One of the questions that young people were to answer was if they could do the cooking before they started living independently. Read Mary Smith's answer and fill in the table. Put "+" if she could do it and "-" if she could not.

No! I didn't know how to cook at all before I started living in the dormitory. Though I knew nothing of boiling, stewing, frying or baking my mom never really let me into the kitchen much other than to chop vegetables and maybe peel some potatoes. So, no wonder that when I was cooking rice for the first time, even the top portion was burned to a crisp. My roommate swears I was the only person in the world who was able to burn the rice cooked in a rice cooker. The only things that I coped with were an omelet and coffee. Besides them I also survived on yogurt and pickles and ate out a lot. Actually, I didn't start cooking in the kitchen on a regular basis, until I got married. I wanted to provide my husband with healthy and nutritious meals. So, I got into the kitchen and learned! I read lots of cooking how-to books, watched cooking shows and did tons of experiments. Now I'm pretty good at cooking!

Could	Mary	You
boil		
stew		
fry		
bake		
cook rice		
make an omelet		
cook healthy and nutritious dishes		
peel potatoes		
chop vegetables		
make coffee		

B. Fill in a similar table for yourself. Be ready to answer the same question.

Exercise 33. Translate into English.

A.

- 1. Він не вмів кататися на велосипеді, але дуже хотів навчитися.
- 2. Вам можна було користуватися конспектом під час семінару?
- 3. Пішов сильний дощ, і нам довелося взяти парасольку.
- 4. Мені непотрібно було вставати рано того дня, то був мій вихідний день.
- 5. Ти вмів писати до школи? Ні, але я знав усі літери.
- 6. Їм довелося рано почати працювати.
- 7. Хоча мої батьки не вміли говорити англійською мовою, вони добре розуміли нашого гостя з Великої Британії.
- 8. Чому Вашому однокурснику довелося робити доповідь з географії? Він же зовсім не знається на цьому предметі.
- 9. Ви не повинні були робити ту вправу письмово. То була усна вправа.
- 10. Він не вмів водити машину, і йому довелося взяти таксі.

B.

- 1. Я не міг чути його слів. Я був далеко від нього.
- 2. Мама була хворою, і мені довелося самій робити покупки.
- 3. Він повинен працювати наполегливіше, інакше йому доведеться перескладати екзамен.
- 4. Чому ви не змогли йому допомогти? У нас не було достатньо досвіду у цій галузі.
- 5. Їй не треба було прибирати квартиру. То була черга її брата.
- 6. Мій батько зможе підвезти Вас до села, якщо Ви йому зателефонуєте. У мене немає номера його телефону.
- 7. Можна мені скористатися Вашим комп'ютером? Ні, я зараз готуюся до важливої доповіді.
- 8. Ви вмієте пірнати? Ні, я боюся. Я не вмію плавати.
- 9. Ми повинні перейти в іншу аудиторію? Ні, не потрібно. На цьому поверсі достатньо вільних аудиторій.
- 10. Вам можна буде піти додому раніше за умови, якщо Ви виконаєте Ваше завдання вчасно.

Exercise 34. You are a pupil of the 11th form who wants to enter the Foreign Languages Faculty.

A. Say what you will be able to do if you become a student of this faculty.

Model: I can read adapted books in English. (to read English books in the original) – But I'll be able to read English books in the original if I study at the Foreign Languages Faculty.

- 1. I'm pressed for money. (to combine work and study)
- 2. I make a lot of Grammar mistakes. (to develop Grammar skills)
- 3. It's difficult for me to express my thoughts in English. (to speak English fluently)

- 4. I have only two lessons of English a week. (to spend much more time on English)
- 5. I can't find a good job. (to have a well-paid job after graduating from the University)
- 6. I usually spend my summer holidays with my parents. (to have a rest in the students' camp with your friends)
- 7. I don't have an opportunity to take part in international projects. (to participate in an exchange programme)
- 8. I have some difficulty in understanding English speech. (to communicate with Englishmen without any difficulty)
- 9. I can translate sentences from English into Ukrainian with the help of a dictionary. (to do a translation without any dictionary)
- 10.I am a good mixer. (to take part in extra-curricular activities)

B. Say what you will have to do if you become a student of this faculty.

Model: Pupils don't conduct any research. -I will have to conduct research if I study at the Foreign Languages Faculty.

- 1. Pupils don't attend lectures.
- 2. Pupils live with their parents.
- 3. Pupils don't listen to the BBC news.
- 4. Pupils don't take exams twice a year.
- 5. Pupils don't study Linguistics at school.
- 6. Pupils don't attend the language laboratory.
- 7. Pupils don't work much in the reading hall.
- 8. Pupils don't have any teaching practice at school.
- 9. Pupils don't spend much time on doing homework.
- 10. Pupils don't have individual research tasks in each subject.

Exercise 35. Explain to the British pupils when they will be allowed to do these things.

Model: 17 - to drive a car – You will be allowed to drive a car at the age of 17.

- 1. 11 to study in secondary school
- 2. 13 to have a part-time job
- 3. 16 to have a full-time job
- 4. 16 to buy cigarettes
- 5. 17 to ride a motorbike
- 6. 16 to ride a moped
- 7. 18 to drink alcohol in pubs
- 8. 18 to get married
- 9. 18 to get a tattoo
- 10.18 to own land and buildings

Exercise 36. Give negative answers to the following questions. Develop the situations as in the model.

Model: Will you participate in tomorrow's concert? - No, I won't be able to take part in it. I have a sore throat.

- 1. Will you indulge in amateur-art activities?
- 2. Will he borrow this book from the library?
- 3. Will your teacher be satisfied with this task?
- 4. Will your family set out on a journey in summer?
- 5. Will your group-mates cope with this research soon?
- 6. Will he achieve good progress in German?
- 7. Will your fellow students go on an excursion on holiday?
- 8. Will your group-mates hand in their research papers tomorrow?
- 9. Will your sister become a student of the extra-mural department?
- 10. Will the students make a presentation of their project work at tomorrow's lesson?

Exercise 37. Respond to the following sentences using the expressions in brackets.

Model: The University is within walking distance of the hostel. (to take a bus) – So, I won't have to take a bus to get there.

- 1. Our University has a canteen. (to cook meals)
- 2. There are several hostels on campus. (to rent an apartment)
- 3. The lecture attendance is optional. (to attend all the lectures)
- 4. Pat is determined to work hard at all subjects. (to retake exams)
- 5. There is a well-stocked library at our University. (to buy text-books)
- 6. Susan has a profound knowledge of English. (to take additional lessons)
- 7. You know all Grammar rules perfectly well. (to revise the rules before the exam)
- 8. The students of the Foreign Languages Faculty study in the second shift. (to get up early)
- 9. There is a well-equipped language laboratory at our faculty. (to buy a CD-player to work at Phonetics)
- 10.He always listens to the teachers' explanations very attentively at the lessons. (to explain the rules to him again)

Exercise 38. Say what you will (won't) have/ be able to do in the following situations.

Model: if you fall behind the group - If I fall behind the group I'll have to catch up with it. (If I fall behind the group I won't be able to achieve good progress.)

- 1. if you skip classes;
- 2. if you fail at the exam;
- 3. if you indulge in sports;
- 4. if you work by fits and starts;

- 5. if you attend classes regularly;
- 6. when you are in your first year;
- 7. if you mispronounce some words;
- 8. when you graduate from the University;
- 9. if you want to enlarge your vocabulary;
- 10. if you have some difficulty in studying English.

Exercise 39. Ask questions to find out some more details. Use to have to, to be able to.

Model: Tomorrow I'm going to help Nick with English. -1. What will you have to explain to him? 2. How long will you have to work with him? 3. When will you be able to finish your work?

- 1. I think I'll sit up late tonight.
- 2. Soon the classes will be over.
- 3. She wants to be a top student.
- 4. We have too much work for tomorrow.
- 5. Pete is going to take his exam tomorrow.
- 6. It's a pity but he works by fits and starts.
- 7. I want to enter the Foreign Languages Faculty.
- 8. The teacher wants us to stay after classes today.
- 9. Clare is eager to participate in the running competitions.
- 10. If the weather is fine we'll go on a picnic at the weekend.

Exercise 40. Fill in the blanks using will (won't) have/ be able.
1 I think I to enter the University next year though the competition for the
places will be fierce. – Then you to work hard.
2. The students to correct the mistakes if they don't revise the rules.
3. I can't understand the task. Perhaps, I to ask the teacher to explain it to me
again.
4. I'm afraid we to go camping at the weekend. Mother says it's out of the
question.
5. They to promote you to the next year if you fail at one of your exams.
6. – Tomorrow you to get up early. We are setting off on a trip to London. –
we to go sightseeing about the city?
7. We to find the answer to this question in our reading hall. There are a lot
of reference books at our disposal there.
8. It is the end of the term. Soon the students to take exams.
9 we to go on a picnic at the weekend if the weather is fine?
10. You to graduate from University if you work by fits and starts.

Exercise 41. Translate the sentences from Ukrainian into English.

1. Ви неправильно вживаєте дієслово "to attend". Вам доведеться подивитися це слово у словнику і написати декілька прикладів з ним.

- 2. Ти зможеш значно розширити свій словниковий запас, якщо будеш читати англійські книжки в оригіналі.
- 3. Пішли з нами на прогулянку. Боюся, що я не зможу приєднатися до вас. Я зараз готуюся до екзамену з мовознавства. Сподіваюся, тобі не доведеться його перескладати.
- 4. Скільки часу тобі доведеться витратити на підготовку домашнього завдання з історії? Не більше двох годин. Я думаю, я зможу підготувати доповідь до семінару за цей час.
- 5. У студентів буде десять хвилин на те, щоб прочитати цей текст та поставити до нього десять запитань у письмовій формі. Вони не зможуть виконати це завдання за такий короткий час. У тексті є багато незнайомих слів. Студентам доведеться часто дивитися у словник.
- 6. Якщо ти хочеш, щоб тебе перевели на наступний рік, ти повинен наполегливо працювати. Тобі доведеться регулярно відвідувати лекції та готуватися до семінарів.
- 7. Я нічого не бачу на дошці. Відійди, будь-ласка.
- 8. Він уміє вільно говорити англійською, але йому важко писати цією мовою. Він робить багато орфографічних помилок. Як він може їх позбутися?
- 9. Чому Алекс відсутній на уроці? Мабуть, він погано себе почуває. Ви зможете відвідати його після занять?
- 10.— Тобі дозволять вирушити у цю подорож під час навчального року? Думаю, що так. Я зможу легко наздогнати групу.

THE PASSIVE VOICE

Exercise1. Read the sentences with the verbs in the *Passive Voice*, pay attention to the auxiliary verb *to be* in stressed and unstressed positions and Participle II.

- 1. ['Đis 'buk iz 'rith bai ə↑'veri 'feiməs ə'merikən \raitə || \jes | its 'rith bai 'mα:k \twein əz fα:r əz ai rimembə ||]
- 2. ['wen w3· 'D3vz \skaiskreipəz bilt || Dei w3· 'bilt 'not 'loŋ ə\g3v || Dei α · 'meid əv 'sti:l ənd \gla:s ||]
- 3. ['Dis rekri'ei∫n 'pα:k wil bi· 'vizitid bai ↑'meni \siti dweləz | ∠wʒunt it || 'jes it \wil || 'nʒu ∠daut | it wil bi· 'veri \popju:lə wiP Pəm ||]
- 4. [Pə 'mænıdzə rı'maındıd Pə 'mi:tın wvd bi· 'held Pə 'folsvın \wi:k ||]
- 5. ['dɜvnt 'spi:k ın ə 'lavd \vsi || Də mju:'zɪəm ız bi·ıŋ 'vızıtıd baı ə 'gru:p əv \tvərısts | ənd Deı 'wɜvnt bi· 'eɪbl tə 'hɪə Də 'gaɪdz \str:!]
- 6. [wen aı 'keim /hɜvm | aı 'smelt 'sʌmθɪŋ \bɜ:nɪŋ || Đə 'nju: 'dɪʃ wəz bi·ɪŋ 'kvkt baı maı \sistə ||]
- 7. [ℙi· 'α:tıkl 'hæznt bi·n trən'sleɪtɪd tə ℙi· \end ∠jet | bət ə 'greɪt 'di:l əv 'wɜ:k həz ɔ:l'redɪ bi:n \dʌn ||]
- 8. ['hæv ju· 'fını∫t jɔ· rı/pɔ:t || ıt həd bi·n 'fını∫t baı Đi· 'end əv Đə 'lα:st \wi:k ||]
- 9. ['z:1 Də 'teritəri əravnd avə 'sku:1 wil həv bi·n 'peivd bai Də 'f3:st əv səp\tembə ||]
- 10. [mai 'frendz 'davtit if Də ↑best 'saits əv 'rɜvm wvd həv bi·n 'si:n bai 'fraidi \mɔ:nin||]

Exercise 2. Express your agreement as in the model.

Model: They call their dog Spickey, don't they? – Just so. The dog is called Spickey.

- 1. Thousands of people all over the world play football, don't they?
- 2. They speak English and French in Canada, don't they?
- 3. The nanny looks after the twins, doesn't she?
- 4. They usually pack eggs in boxes of ten, don't they?
- 5. They always serve jelly for dessert at this restaurant, don't they?
- 6. They sell milk either in bottles or cartons, don't they?
- 7. They grow a lot of oranges in Egypt, don't they?
- 8. They buy organic food at this shop, don't they?
- 9. A lot of people visit this castle every year, don't they?
- 10. Students write tests at the end of each module, don't they?

Exercise 3. Comment on the situation as in the model.

Model: I wanted to have a talk with my new roommate from Austria but he didn't understand me. (to speak Italian) – No wonder. Italian isn't spoken in Austria.

1. I can't find any meat dishes on the menu. (to serve / at a vegetarian restaurant)

- 2. It is impossible to find Italian mobile phones in Ukrainian shops. (to produce)
- 3. I have never seen a wooden skyscraper. (to make of wood)
- 4. There are no horror films on the program. (to show / in the morning)
- 5. These pills don't help me. (to use for toothache)
- 6. I was not allowed to enter. (to wear jeans / a cocktail parties)
- 7. I can't find Stylistics in the timetable. (to teach / in the first year)
- 8. I couldn't find ballet shoes at the sports shop. (to sell)
- 9. I didn't see any orange trees while travelling in Ukraine. (to grow / oranges)
- 10. There is no cricket national team in Ukraine. (to play)
- 11. My granny didn't like the rock concert. (to play / classical music)
- 12. The hall is dirty. (to clean / every day)

Exercise 4. Ask questions as in the model.

Model: You want to know if you can use a credit card at this supermarket. (to accept) – Are credit cards accepted at this supermarket?

You want to know if you can:

- 1. buy Japanese books at this book shop; (to sell)
- 2. order lobsters at this cafe; (to serve)
- 3. ask for a loan at this bank; (to give)
- 4. propose a new plan at the meeting; (to discuss)
- 5. use a pencil to write your essay; (to write)
- 6. buy these leather shoes by phone; (to order)
- 7. get the answers to all your questions there; (to answer)
- 8. rent one of these flats; (to let)
- 9. borrow a big sum of money there; (lend)
- 10. take singing lessons at this school; (to give)
- 11. bring your personal things to the camp; (to take)
- 12. organize a party in this hall. (to hold)

Exercise 5. Express your agreement as in the model.

Model: The police questioned the young man yesterday, didn't they? - Just so. The young man was questioned by the police yesterday.

- 1. Somebody stole her bag yesterday, didn't they?
- 2. Somebody hit Nick last night, didn't they?
- 3. They presented her with a diamond ring last Sunday, didn't they?
- 4. They earthquake destroyed the city, didn't it?
- 5. They found some golden coins in the cave, didn't they?
- 6. Her scream frightened you, didn't it?
- 7. Somebody broke the window in her house last night, didn't they?
- 8. They built this shopping center five years ago, didn't they?
- 9. Mother cooked dinner long ago, didn't she?
- 10. They drew the picture at night, didn't they?

Exercise 6. Answer the questions as in the model.

Model: They didn't organize their party last week, did they? - No, the party wasn't organized last week. It was organized two days ago.

- 1. The students didn't read the book on holidays, did they?
- 2. They didn't cut down all trees in that park last autumn, did they?
- 3. She didn't hide the money in the wardrobe, did she?
- 4. He didn't send the letter in the morning, did he?
- 5. The dog didn't eat the sandwiches, did it?
- 6. They didn't throw away the litter in the morning, did they?
- 7. They didn't produce this film in India long ago, did they?
- 8. She didn't invite her relatives to her yesterday's party, did she?
- 9. They didn't pay Simon any money for his work, did they?
- 10. They didn't ask a lot of difficult questions at the exam, did they?
- 11. The snake didn't bite you in the forest, did it?
- 12. They didn't sing that song at the concert, did they?

Exercise 7. Ask questions as in the model.

Model: The castle is ancient. (when / to build) – When was it built? – It was built in the 14^{th} century.

- 1. The film is interesting. (who...by / to direct)
- 2. The ground in the flowerbed looks dry. (when / to water)
- 3. The documents are ready. (when / to print)
- 4. Your ex-boyfriend is here. (why / to invite)
- 5. We have a new shopping centre in the town. (where / to build)
- 6. You can enter the house through that door. (how / to open)
- 7. The accident was terrible. (how many people / to kill)
- 8. Peter is in prison. (why / to arrest)
- 9. My grandpa had a lot of such tools at home. (what....for / to use)
- 10. This souvenir is unique. (where / to buy)
- 11. The city is in ruins. (when / to destroy)
- 12. This device is very useful. (who...by / to invent)

Exercise 8. Express your agreement as in the model.

Model: They'll paint the house soon, won't they? – Just so. The house will be painted soon.

- 1. They'll send the letter tomorrow, won't they?
- 2. They'll deliver the purchase to your house, won't they?
- 3. They'll meet the children at the station, won't they?
- 4. They'll make this dish out of healthy ingredients, won't they?
- 5. They'll name their son after their grandpa, won't they?
- 6. They'll eat the sandwiches after the lesson, won't they?

- 7. They'll close the shop at midnight tomorrow, won't they?
- 8. They'll spend a lot of money on books, won't they?
- 9. They'll take the thief to the police, won't they?
- 10. They'll laugh at the joke, won't they?

Exercise 9. Express your agreement as in the model.

Model: They have invited more than 50 people to the party, haven't they? - *Just so. More than 50 people have been invited to the party.*

- 1. Mother has just cooked pizza, hasn't she?
- 2. They have served the chicken with rice, haven't they?
- 3. They've made this sauce with lemon juice, haven't they?
- 4. They've already built the house, haven't they?
- 5. They've sold all candy bars, haven't they?
- 6. They've just visited the patient, haven't they?
- 7. He has written the story, hasn't he?
- 8. They've read the novel to the end, haven't they?
- 9. They've hidden the money, haven't they?
- 10. Somebody has eaten her sandwich, haven't they?

Exercise 10. Answer the questions as in the model.

Model: Are they still writing their essays? - No, the essays have already been written.

- 1. Is she still marking her students' tests?
- 2. Are they still choosing a present?
- 3. Is she still writing a letter?
- 4. Are they still weeding the flower beds?
- 5. Is he still sweeping the yard?
- 6. Are they still polishing the shoes?
- 7. Are they still making a report?
- 8. Is he still delivering a speech?
- 9. Are they still considering new proposals?
- 10. Is she still signing the contracts?
- 11. Are they still ordering fast food?
- 12. Is he still decorating the Christmas tree?

Exercise 11.

A. Answer the questions as in the model.

Model: Have they discussed the question? - No, the question hasn't been discussed yet.

- 1. Have they built a new metro station?
- 2. Have they taken their exam?
- 3. Have they cleaned the hall?

- 4. Have they reconstructed the church?
- 5. Have they read the book?
- 6. Have they painted the walls?
- 7. Have they arranged the furniture?
- 8. Have they cooked dinner?
- 9. Have they printed the documents?
- 10. Have they washed the cars?
- 11. Have they planted the bushes?
- 12. Have they translated the article?

B. Paraphrase the questions as in the model.

Model: Have they discussed the question yet? – Has the question been discussed yet?

Exercise 12. Express your agreement as in the model.

Model: They are building a new bridge over the river, aren't they? – Just so. A new bridge is being built over the river.

- 1. They are laughing at Tom, aren't they?
- 2. Everybody is looking for the key, aren't they?
- 3. Granny is looking after the children today, isn't she?
- 4. They are listening to the teacher attentively, aren't they?
- 5. She is designing a new wedding dress, isn't she?
- 6. They are choosing the presents at the moment, aren't they?
- 7. They are still teaching the children how to use the devise, aren't they?
- 8. They are laying the table in the dining-room, aren't they?
- 9. They are doing the most difficult part of the work, aren't they?
- 10. He is leading the team to the victory, isn't he?

Exercise 13. Answer the questions as in the model.

Model: Have they discussed the question? – No, the question is still being discussed.

- 1. Have they built a new metro station?
- 2. Have they taken their exam?
- 3. Have they cleaned the hall?
- 4. Have they reconstructed the church?
- 5. Have they read the book?
- 6. Have they painted the walls?
- 7. Have they arranged the furniture?
- 8. Have they cooked dinner?
- 9. Have they printed the documents?
- 10. Have they washed the cars?
- 11. Have they planted the bushes?
- 12. Have they translated the article?

Exercise 14. Respond to the statements as in the model.

Model: The guests will come soon. (to set the table) – Don't worry! The table will have been set before (by the time) they come.

- 1. The taxi will arrive any minute now. (to pack the luggage)
- 2. It is going to rain. (to repair the roof)
- 3. Parents will come soon. (to clean the house)
- 4. The boss will be here any minute now. (to type the documents)
- 5. The customer is going to be angry. (to serve the order)
- 6. His birthday is in two days. (to buy presents)
- 7. The party starts in two hours. (to bring snacks and drinks)
- 8. Parents will return in the evening. (to do homework)
- 9. The shop closes at 7 pm. (to make a purchase)
- 10. I am leaving the capital in two days. (to sign the contract)
- 11. I leave for work at 7.30. (to deliver letters)
- 12. I am meeting the delegation later this afternoon. (to prepare everything)

Exercise 15. Express your agreement as in the model.

Model: They had left the house by the time the earthquake hit the town, hadn't they? – Just so. The house had been left by the time the earthquake hit the town.

- 1. They had ordered pizza before Jack arrived at the caf?, hadn't they?
- 2. The children had broken the toy before the nanny returned to the room, hadn't they?
- 3. He had cut the grass before it began to rain, hadn't he?
- 4. He had paid his bills by the 20th of December, hadn't he?
- 5. They had done their homework by midnight, hadn't they?
- 6. They had sold the furniture before they moved house, hadn't they?
- 7. They had known the news for some days before one of them decided to spread it, hadn't they?
- 8. The police had caught the thief by noon, hadn't they?
- 9. They had fed the children by the time it got dark, hadn't they?
- 10. They had chosen the present by that time, hadn't they?

Exercise 16. Express your agreement as in the model. Add some details.

Model: The ancient furniture is still used. – Exactly so. The ancient furniture is still used. Granny's favorite old cups are used, too.

- 1. The car engine is broken.
- 2. The kittens have been fed.
- 3. French is spoken in Canada.
- 4. The letter will be sent immediately.
- 5. The twins are looked after by a nanny.
- 6. The shop will be closed for Christmas.
- 7. The money was stolen by a pickpocket.
- 8. Music was heard from the disco nearby.
- 9. The compositions are being marked now.

- 10. The manager was asked lots of questions.
- 11. The Picture Gallery has already been opened.
- 12. The writer has been invited to sign the books.
- 13. The lecture will be given by Professor Forest.
- 14. A new gymnasium is being built near our hostel.
- 15. The parcels were delivered the day before yesterday.
- 16. The speaker was being listened to from 10 till 12 am.
- 17. Mother had been told everything before Dan came home.
- 18. When new guests arrived, tea was being served on the terrace.
- 19. The flowers were planted near the University building in April.
- 20. The question of famine in Africa had been discussed by the time the press conference began.

Exercise 17. Express your disagreement as in the model.

Model: Mary is always forgiven by her family - Oh, no, Mary is not forgiven by all the members of her family. She is not always forgiven by uncle Rodger.

- 1. The hall is being repaired.
- 2. The letter will be sent by fax.
- 3. Dad's bicycle has been stolen.
- 4. All the paintings have been sold.
- 5. Bad news had been told by dinner time.
- 6. The child is often left alone in the house.
- 7. Fruit and vegetables are kept in the basement.
- 8. The symphony was being listened to attentively.
- 9. The flight to New York was cancelled an hour ago.
- 10. Two new hotels are being built opposite the stadium.
- 11. We had been noticed before we approached the gates.
- 12. The basketball match will be postponed till next Wednesday.
- 13. When the secretary entered the conference room the questions were being discussed.
- 14. The negotiations were interrupted yesterday because of some complications.

Exercise 18. Choose the correct form of the verb.

- 1. Cotton wears/ is worn well.
- 2. We wore/were worn our raincoats.
- 3. The office is cleaning/is being cleaned.
- 4. Soft drinks *serve/ are served* in the lounge.
- 5. A new terminal has built/ has been built in the city.
- 6. Professor Martin sent/ was sent for several minutes ago.
- 7. The train to Kyiv will cancel/will be cancelled tomorrow.
- 8. The roads are repairing/ are being repaired after severe winter.
- 9. Many flights all over the world *sell/ are sold* by British Airways.
- 10. The monument has damaged/has been damaged by the vandals.
- 11. Passengers *gave/were given* their boarding passes at the check-in desk.
- 12. The suit-case *had left/ had been left* at the baggage reclaim before Christmas.

Exercise 19. Complete the sentences with the passive form of the verbs in brackets. Use the correct tense.

Model: Millions of SMS messages (to send) every day. – Millions of SMS messages are sent every day.

- 1. We shall wait until the departure platform (to announce).
- 2. You (to take) to the railway station tonight by taxi.
- 3. The water pipe (to repair) now so there is no running water.
- 4. The first mobile phone (to demonstrate) in New York.
- 5. A lot of money (to invest) already into the project.
- 6. Many people think that books (to replace) by computers.
- 7. Coffee beans (to sell) in South America.
- 8. Dinner (to serve) in the lounge near the swimming-pool.
- 9. The house (to renovate) next summer.
- 10. After the windows (to wash) yesterday the curtains (to hang).
- 11. The books (to return) to the library in two days.
- 12. The Sydney Opera House (to include) in the National Heritage List in 2005.

Exercise 20 Answer the following questions according to the model.

Model: How was the information sent? (by e-mail). – The information was sent by e-mail.

- 1. Who was the vase broken by? (the kitten)
- 2. Who is the floor being polished by? (the maid)
- 3. Where can he be seen on Sundays? (in the club)
- 4. When will the party be organized? (after the show)
- 5. Who was the film directed by? (Steven Spielberg)
- 6. What have the holidays been spoilt by? (rainy weather)
- 7. How many books are kept in the library of the British Museum? (millions)
- 8. What subjects are taught in the first semester? (English, Linguistics, History)
- 9. Who will the furniture be delivered by? (the workers from the furniture shop)
- 10. How often is the medicine given to the child? (three times a day before meals)
- 11. Why haven't the students been taken to the laboratory? (the key from the laboratory was lost)
- 12. What pyramids are visited most frequently by the tourists? (several of the Giza pyramids in Egypt)

Exercise 21. Put questions to the words in bold type.

Model: The children will be taken to **the aquarium** on Thursday. – Pardon. Where will the children be taken to?

- 1. He hasn't been offered any **promotion.**
- 2. **His achievement in research work** is much spoken about.
- 3. The mountains are covered **with snow** till late May.
- 4. The ticket for the **rock** concert was bought beforehand.
- 5. **Hundreds** of people were arrested after the demonstration.
- 6. Everything was destroyed by the earthquake within five minutes.

- 7. You are being waited for at the entrance to the University.
- 8. The film **about prehistoric creatures** was being discussed when Ben turned up.
- 9. The picture **will be sold** at the exhibition if the artist agrees.
- 10. The treaty will be signed as soon as the President agrees.
- 11. The girls haven't been invited to the **birthday party**.
- 12. The report had been written by detective Cooper by midnight.

Exercise 22.

A. Mrs Dexter was having her office done up. Write what she saw when she went to inspect the work. Use the suggested prompts. Pay attention to the tense form of the verbs in the passive voice.

Model: The windows/ clean (already) – The windows have already been cleaned.

- 1. The new curtains/ put up (already);
- 2. The walls/ paint (already);
- 3. The floor/polish (already);
- 4. Some furniture/ deliver (still);
- 5. Light fittings/install (still);
- 6. New carpets/ not buy (yet).

B. Make up some sentences of your own.

Exercise 23. You are a tourist. Look at the hotel information table. Ask the manager questions about the hotel facilities. Use the suggested prompts. Let your partner/ manager answer them.

Model: Breakfast/serve/Where?/When?

Where is breakfast served? – It is served in Aloha Restaurant

When is breakfast served? – It is served from 7 till 9 am.

HOTEL INFORMATION

Breakfast	In Aloha Restaurant 7 – 9 am	
Dinner	In Main Restaurant 6 – 8:30 pm	
Newspapers	At the Reception desk	
Telephone calls	At the Reception desk	
Currency Exchange	At the Reception desk	
Hotel Cinema	Film every evening at 9 pm	
Rooms	Maid service daily	
Hot water	24 hours daily	

- 1. Dinner/ serve/ Where?/ When?
- 2. Newspapers/ sell/ Where?

- 3. Telephone calls/ make/ Where?
- 4. Currency/ exchange/ Where?
- 5. Film/ show/ Where?/ When?
- 6. Rooms/ clean/ Who by?/ How often?
- 7. Hot water/ supply/ When?

Exercise 24. Translate into English.

- 1. Правил вуличного руху не дотримуються у деяких країнах Азії.
- 2. Тебе обманули. Студентам пояснили, коли вживається неозначений артикль.
- 3. Роман Миколи Гоголя "Мертві душі" так ніколи і не було опубліковано.
- 4. Усі фотографії та описи будуть перевірені редактором.
- 5. Не шуміть. Тигрів зараз годують, тому вони можуть бути агресивні.
- 6. Закладаюсь, що молодятам подарували новий автомобіль.
- 7. Після того, як їй показали змонтований фільм, дівчина вирішила запросити родичів на перегляд.
- 8. Де ти ходиш? За тобою послали ще півгодини тому.
- 9. Твір вже написано і зараз його ретельно перевіряють.
- 10. Щойно буде подано вечерю, тебе покличуть.
- 11. Туристам допомогли місцеві жителі, перш ніж прибули рятувальники.
- 12. Це потрібно тримати все в секреті. Обіцяй!
- 13. На Дена завжди можна покластися. Він надійна людина.
- 14. Ким було зроблено ці знімки? Це шедевр!

Exercise 25.

A. Read the text and answer the questions.

THE STATUE OF LIBERTY

The Statue of Liberty, one of New York's most popular tourist attractions, has captivated travelers from every corner of the world for over one hundred years. It is a huge sculpture that is located on Liberty Island in New York Harbor.

The Statue of Liberty is almost as American as apple pie, but the iconic New York monument was actually given to the United States as a gift from France in honor of the Centennial of American Independence.

The formal name of the statue is "Liberty Enlightening the World." It pictures a woman who has escaped the chains of tyranny (the broken chains lie at her feet). Liberty's right hand holds a torch that is a symbol of liberty. The statue is a symbol of freedom and of the United States. For the many immigrants who flocked from Europe to New York, the Statue of Liberty was the first image they saw of the USA.

The Statue of Liberty, the most famous symbolic statue of a woman, was designed by the French sculptor Frederic Auguste Bartholdi, and was modeled after Marie Bartholdi, the sculptor's mother. Bartholdi was inspired by French law professor and politician ?douard Ren? de Laboulaye, who commented in 1865 that any monument raised to American independence would properly be a joint project of the French and American peoples. The hollow copper statue was constructed in Paris, France. It took nine years before it was completed in 1884. It was shipped

overseas to New York in 350 pieces on a French ship called the "Isere" (in June, 1885).

It was decided to erect the statue at a small island in the harbor of New York City. Today the island is known as Liberty Island. The statue was re-assembled on the completed pedestal on October 28, 1886. The 150-foot pedestal was designed by Richard M. Hunt and built by Gen. Charles P. Stone, both Americans. The statue's steel framework was made by the French engineer Gustave Eiffel, better known as the man behind the Eiffel Tower in Paris. The Statue of Liberty is 46,5 meters tall and together with the pedestal it reaches a height of 93 meters. Total weight of the Statue of Liberty is 225 tons.

The Statue of Liberty has towered above the New York Harbor since 1886 and was designated as an American National Monument in 1924 and a World Heritage Site in 1984. On September 26, 1972, President Richard M. Nixon dedicated the American Museum of Immigration, housed in structural additions to the base of the statue. In 1984 it needed major restoration and the torch was extinguished on July 4. It was relit with much ceremony on July 4, 1986, to mark its centennial. The Statue of Liberty was closed to visitors following September 11, 2001, but Liberty Island was reopened on December 20, 2001. The Promenade and Observatory were reopened to visitors beginning August 3, 2004 by reserved ticket only. On July 4, 2009 the Crown was once again made accessible to visitors. The 25 windows are located in the crown which comprises the jewels beneath the seven rays of the diadem. You can take the staircase inside the statue and walk all the way up the 354 steps to the crown from where you have a nice view over New York City.

People across the world are inspired by the Statue of Liberty. It might just be one of your favorite attractions while you're in New York City.

- 1. Where is the Statue of Liberty located?
- 2. Was the Statue of Liberty given to the United States as a gift? Who from?
- 3. Who was the Statue of Liberty designed by?
- 4. Who was the Statue of Liberty modeled after?
- 5. Who was the sculptor Frederic Auguste Bartholdi inspired by?
- 6. Where and when was the Statue of Liberty constructed?
- 7. How was the Statue of Liberty transferred to New York?
- 8. When was the Statue of Liberty re-assembled?
- 9. Does the Statue of Liberty in New York have anything in common with the Eiffel Tower in Paris?
- 10. Why was the torch of the Statue of Liberty extinguished? When was it relit?
- 11. Why do you think was the Statue of Liberty closed to visitors following September 11, 2001? When was it reopened?
- 12. Where in the Statue of Liberty are 25 viewing windows located?
- 13. Is the Crown accessible to visitors?
- 14. What are the monuments/ sights/ places you are inspired by?

B. Describe one of the sights in your home town. Use the Passive Voice where possible.

REPORTED SPEECH

Exercise 1. Read the statements in direct and indirect speech with the author's words at the beginning of the sentence.

- 1. a) [hi·\sez | wi· 'præktıs 'ınglı | 'saunds ət 'evrı \lesn ||]
 - b) [hi· 'sez Peı 'præktıs 'ıŋglı] 'savnds ət 'evrı \lesn ||]
- 2. a) [Pei \sei | Peər α· 'sunli \fo: sʌbdʒikts on Pə kərikjuləm ||]
 - b) [Pei 'sei Peər α· 'sunli \fo: shbdzikts on Pə kərikjuləm ||]
- 3. a) [mistə 'hæmptən \sez | /sju:zi | ju· həv ən \eksələnt ,opə'tju:niti tə 'l3:n ə 'forin \længwidz ||]
- b) [mıstə 'hæmptən 'telz 'sju:zı ∫i· həz ən ↑eksələnt ,opə'tju:nıtı tə 'lɜ:n ə 'forıŋ `læŋgwɪdʒ ||]

Exercise 2. Read the imperatives in direct and indirect speech.

- 1. a) ['megən \sez | \po:l | 'traı tə 'ksup wıθ ↑ɔ:l θə \ta:sks ||]
 - b) ['megən 'telz 'pɔ:l tə 'traı tə 'ksup wıP ↑ɔ:l Pə \ta:sks ||]
- 2. a) ['dɜvnt bi· ət ə /los | 'α:sks 'bob hız 'jʌŋgə /sıstə ||]
 - b) ['bəb 'a:sks hız 'jangə 'sıstə 'nət tə bi· ət ə $\label{eq:bbb}$ |]
- 3. a) ['lets 'gɔu on a \piknik | 'ofəz 'dʒein tə hɔ: \frendz ||]
 - b) ['dʒeɪn 'ðfəz ha· 'frendz tə 'gav ən a \piknik ||]
- 4. a) [Də 'ti:t∫ər \α:sks | 'supn jɔ· 'buks ət 'peɪdʒ 'θɜ:\ti:n ||]
 - b) [Də 'ti:tJər 'α:sks tə 'zupn avə 'buks ət 'peɪdʒ 'θɜ:\ti:n ||]

Exercise 3. Read the general questions in direct and indirect speech.

- 1. ['mʌĐər \α:sks | /wendı | 'ız jɔ· 'sæləd dı/lıʃəs ||] ['mʌĐər 'α:sks wendı ıf hɜ· 'sæləd ız dı\lıʃəs ||]
- 2. ['mæks \α:sks | 'α: Φə 'næpkınz ın Φə /k\pbɔ:d ||] ['mæks 'α:sks ıf Φə 'næpkınz α·r ın Φə \k\pbɔ:d ||]
- 3. [hi· α :sks | 'd α z jɔ· 'ni:s həv ə ' θ ri:kɔ:s β dınər əz ə ru:l ||] [hi· ' α :sks ıf maı 'ni:s həz ə ' θ ri:kɔ:s β dınər əz ə ru:l ||]
- 4. ['k/mıŋ '/p tə Đεə /teɪbl | Đə 'weɪtər \α:sks æn | 'du: ju· 'laɪk jɔ· 'kʊfı /blæk ||] ['k/mıŋ '/p tə Đεə /teɪbl | Đə 'weɪtər 'α:sks 'æn ɪf ʃi· 'laɪks hɜ· 'kʊfı \blæk ||]

Exercise 4. Read the general questions, change them into indirect speech, transcribe and intone them.

- 1. Margaret asks us: "Can I offer you some roast beef?"
- 2. One of them says: "Is there any special dish for the main course?"
- 3. Mother asks her daughter: "Will you help me to lay the table?"
- 4. He wonders: "Have you put the mustard-pot, the salt-cellar and the pepper-box on the table, Jane?"

Exercise 5. Read the special questions in direct and indirect speech.

- 1. [$\int i \cdot \alpha$:sks | 'weər ız Də \teiblkl θ 0 lındə ||]
 - [ʃi· 'a:sks 'lındə weə Də \teɪblkloθ ız ||]
- 2. ['lærı \a:sks | 'wot 'els məst aı 'put \aut ||] ['lærı 'w∧ndəz wot 'els hi · məst 'put \aut ||]
- 3. ['emili\sez | 'wot did ju· 'sprinkl συνο Φο \keik steisi ||] ['emili 'α:sks wot 'steisi 'sprinkld συνο Φο \keik ||]
- 4. [hi· \α:sks | 'wen wıl ju· həv jɔ· \snæk denı||] [hi· 'α:sks 'denı wen hi· wıl həv hız \snæk ||]

Exercise 6. Read the special questions, change them into indirect speech adding the author's words, transcribe and intone them.

- 2. How many meals do you have a day?
- 3. Why hasn't she bought fresh vegetables for the picnic?
- 4. When are they going to lay the table?
- 5. When will you teach me to cook stuffed peppers?
- 6. What dish did she have for the first course at the cafe?

Exercise 7. Read the sentences in reported speech.

- 1. [aɪ 'nju: Deɪ 'lʌvd 'sɪtɪŋ ɪn 'frʌnt əv Də \faɪəpleɪs | ən 'glu:mɪ 'ɔ:təm \deɪz ||]
- 2. ['toməs 'tɔ:ld mi· hi· wəz ın'dʒɔɪɪŋ ə 'bju:tɪfvl 'wɪntə \lændskeɪp | avt əv hɪz hɜv'telru:m \wɪndɜv ||]
- 3. [hi· ə'navnst hi· həd 'fını∫t Də əks'perımənts wıD ↑'eksələnt rı'z∧lts ||]
- 4. ['evrib**ə**di wəz '∫və Də 'weDə wud 't∫eindʒ fə Də ∕betə | əz it wəz 'kliəriŋ '∧p \ræpidli ||]
- 5. ['lets 'g3v tə Də \pikt∫əz təmਰr3v naɪt || 'du: ju· 'θιηk 'keɪt wɪl \dʒɔɪn əs ৴tu: || \nsv | ∫i· 'sed ∫i· wvd bi· 'w3:kɪŋ ɪn Də 'laɪbrərɪ Də ↑h3vl \i:vnɪŋ ||]

Exercise 8. Change the quoted speech to reported speech.

Model: Sam says, "I broke Jim's mobile phone." (to confess) – Sam confesses that he broke Jim's mobile phone.

- 1. The tourists say, "We can't afford to stay in this hotel." (to complain)
- 2. Mother says, "It is dangerous to play with this dog." (to warn)
- 3. The passer-by says, "There is not much traffic in this street." (to remark)
- 4. The woman says, "I have some new furniture in my room." (to say)
- 5. My cousin says, "Mom, we can die of boredom in this village." (to tell)
- 6. My friend says, "I will join you with pleasure if I have free time." (to promise)
- 7. Mary says, "Ok, I will help you with your homework if you have any problems with it." (to agree)
- 8. Alice says, "I spend much time on books." (to admit)
- 9. My niece says, "Dad, this computer doesn't work." (to inform)
- 10.My elder brother says, "You are always asking me stupid questions!" (to exclaim)
- 11. The pupil says, "I never cheat in class. (deny)
- 12. The girl says, "Canada is one of the biggest countries in the world." (to know)

Exercise 9.

A. Use an appropriate introductory verb from the box to report the instructions that the Mother is giving to her son who lives in the hall of residence.

Model: Make your bed every morning. – Mother tells her son to make his bed every morning.

to advise, to ask, to order, to remind, to warn, to tell, to forbid

- 1. No girls in the room.
- 2. Clean your room regularly.
- 3. Don't forget to phone me every evening.
- 4. Come home before it gets dark.
- 5. Don't order fast food.
- 6. Be polite with your room-mates.
- 7. No smoking in the room.
- 8. Keep food in the fridge.
- 9. Don't read far into the night.
- 10. Change your bed linen every week.
- 11.Don't forget to write a letter to your Granny every week.
- 12.Don't start playing computer games until you finish your homework.

B. Report the instructions that 1) your teacher usually gives you before writing a test; 2) librarians give students in the reading-room.

Exercise 10. Turn the following dialogues into reported speech.

A.

Steve: — I'm at a loss when it comes to my rest. I can't relax after a long working week because even at the weekend I'm under a mountain of work.

Jack: — It's because your time management is not effective enough. You leave too much work for the weekend when you have plenty of time to do it during a week.

Steve: - It's easy for you to give advice when you are not a first-year student.

В.

Lena: – I study English at University. It's not easy to learn it, you know.

Sally: – I quite agree with you. I also find it difficult to master a foreign Lena: language.

True, true ... I'm doing my best to develop the reading, writing,
 Sally: speaking and listening skills, but it seems to me I will never succeed.

 Don't be pessimistic about your progress. If you are persistent enough, you'll see the results of your work sooner or later.

C.

Miss Harris: – Class, hand in your essays.

Henry: — Wait a bit, Miss Harris. I'm not ready with my conclusion.

Miss Harris: - You are too slow, Henry. Your time is up. Leave your essay as it

is.

Henry: — Be merciful. I need only 5 minutes to wind up.

Miss Harris: - OK, Henry. You can go on writing, but never let it happen

again.

Exercise 11. Translate into English.

A.

1. Декан говорить, що відвідування лекцій ϵ обов'язковим.

- 2. Я рідко прошу свою подругу допомогти мені з англійською мовою.
- 3. Викладачі забороняють нам користуватися калькуляторами під час занять.
- 4. Студентка скаржиться, що у неї труднощі з орфографією.
- 5. Татко просить дітей не шуміти під час футбольного матчу по телевізору.
- 6. Хелен знає, що неможливо вивчити іноземну мову за короткий час.
- 7. Мама попереджає, що на вулиці холодно і необхідно тепло одягнутися.
- 8. Я знаю, що він уміє грати на гітарі.
- 9. Другокурсники радять нам регулярно працювати над лабораторними завданнями.
- 10. Він визнає, що жити в гуртожитку не дуже зручно, але весело.
- 11. Моя старша сестра часто нагадує, щоб я робила зарядку щоранку.
- 12. Куратор попереджає студентів не запізнюватися на заняття.

В.

- 1. Мама скаржиться, що я часто запізнююсь у школу, бо я люблю поспати вранці.
- 2. Диктор телебачення інформує глядачів, що водіям необхідно бути обережними на дорогах взимку. А я взимку користуюся лише громадським транспортом.
- 3. Він єдина дитина у родині? Так, він говорить, що у нього немає братів і сестер.
- 4. Мама забороняє мені гуляти після 9 години вечора на вулиці. А тобі можна гуляти, коли стемніє?
- 5. Я знаю, що Олег найкращий спортсмен у групі. Повідомте його, що в університеті ϵ декілька спортивних секцій.
- 6. Попросіть його допомогти Вам з математикою. Він знає цей предмет найкраще з усіх одногрупників.
- 7. Ріелтер говорить, що цей котедж дуже зручний. А скільки в ньому кімнат?
- 8. Я раджу Вам взяти таксі. Парк відпочинку знаходиться далеко звідси.
- 9. Вчителька часто скаржиться, що я неуважна на уроках біології. А мені просто нецікавий цей предмет.
- 10. Тітка каже, щоб я приїхала до неї улітку. Я із задоволенням відвідаю її. Я дуже люблю бувати в неї.

Exercise 12. Complete the sentences in reported speech.

Model: "I have a lot of free time now". - **She** said (that) **she** had a lot of free time **then**.

- 1. 'We aren't leaving tomorrow'. They said ... weren't leaving
- 2. 'We'll call you back in a couple of days'. ... said would call back in a couple of days.
- 3. 'I'm going to change my work place next month'. ... said ... was going to change ... work place
- 4. 'I can't remember the numbers well now'. said couldn't remember the numbers well
- 5. 'See you tomorrow'. said would see
- 6. 'We went hiking last year'. ... said ... had gone hiking
- 7. 'We had a school reunion party last Friday'. ... said ... (had) had a school reunion party
- 8. 'You must work hard to achieve progress these days. ... said ... had to work hard to achieve progresses
- 9. 'I don't like it here'. ... said ... didn't like it
- 10. 'This is your choice'. ... said ... was ... choice.

Exercise 13. Turn Present Simple statements into reported speech.

Model: "I work as an interpreter", he said. – He said he worked as an interpreter.

- 1. "I'm a fan of a football team 'Dynamo' ", my brother said.
- 2. "We like spending time in the countryside", the children said.
- 3. "I'm interested in ancient history", my fellow-student said.
- 4. "I appreciate your help", she said.
- 5. "I'm never late for classes", he said.
- 6. "We regularly participate in class tournament", they said.
- 7. "We don't understand Spanish", they said.
- 8. "I don't commute by the metro to my job", she said.
- 9. "I'm not ready for the lesson", he said.
- 10. "We aren't afraid of spiders", they said.

Exercise 14. Turn Present Continuous statements into reported speech.

Model: He said: "I'm reading an interesting book".

He said (that) he was reading an interesting book.

- 1. Andrew mentioned, "I'm preparing for avery important event these days".
- 2. Margaret told us, "I'm looking for a part-time job".
- 3. Nick said, "I'm taking an exam in IT next week".
- 4. The children told me, "We are going on a picnic at the weekend".
- 5. My father said, "I'm planning to plant some fruit trees in the orchard this year".
- 6. My neighbor mentioned, "I'm moving to the countryside for the summer".

- 7. The teacher told us, "We are writing a test next week".
- 8. The CEO said, "We're establishing our branches in Warsaw and Prague".
- 9. My colleague mentioned, "They're increasing our salaries next month".
- 10. The breaking news reporter said, "Waste food is becoming an environmental issue at a global scale".

Exercise 15. Turn the following conversation into reported speech. Use 'said', 'told', 'mentioned', added', etc.

Model: Vike asked Alex if he had done the shopping. Alex answered (that) he had.

Vika: - Alex, have you done the shopping?

Alex: - Yes, I've bought some meat and fish, though I haven't bought any fruit and vegetables yet.

Vika: - Let me know what meat you've bought.

Alex:- Oh, I've bought 2 kilos of mutton and 2 kilos of pork.

Vika: - What about fish? What sort of fish have you bought?

Alex:-I've bought some salmon. You're sure to like it.

Vika: - Great, Alex. We're going to have a tasty dinner today.

Exercise 16. Turn the following Past Simple story into indirect speech.

"I left school in 2007. I entered the university that year. I became a student of the Economics Faculty. It was pretty challenging for me as our teaching staff happened to be very demanding. However, I did my best and graduated from the university with A- and B- grades in 2012. Then I compiled a resume and sent it on *work.ua*. Although I had no experience I got some replies on my e-mail. In a fortnight I had my first interview. I was very anxious but I was lucky to get my first job. It was just the beginning of my career.

Exercise 17. Translate into English.

- 1. Мама сказала, що діти завжди прибирають свої кімнати самі. Вона думала, що на наступному тижні у них буде генеральне прибирання.
- 2. Алекс сказав, що він був у відрядженні 2 роки тому. Він також повідомив, що вони підписали угоду з їхніми партнерами на вигідних для них умовах.
- 3. Петро нічого не сказав про те, що вони приймали участь у престижних змаганнях з волейболу.
- 4. Учасники гуртку планували йти у похід. Проте їхній керівник сказав, що їм потрібно буде відкласти похід, у зв'язку з поганими погодними умовами. Він додав, що збирається йти дож увесь наступний тиждень.
- 5. Катерина виглядала такою щасливою. Вона розповіла нам, що склала екзамен з англійської мови на успішно і планує поїхати на стажування до Лондону влітку.
- 6. Як показали опитування, що все менше і менше людей читають книги сьогодні. Саме тому багато українських видавців книг заявили про наміри

провести ряд заходів по пропагуванню читання серед молоді у наступному місяці.

7. На жаль Андрій не склав екзамен з математики. Його куратор заявив, що він регулярно пропускав заняття, не займався самостійно і має перескласти екзамен на початку осені.

Exercise 18. Put the verbs in brackets into the correct form.

- 1. Nobody argued that English weather (to be) changeable.
- 2. My best friend told me that actions (to speak) louder than words.
- 3. The salesman assured that there (to be) good sales next July.
- 4. Mother admitted that she (to have) strong coffee every morning.
- 5. The coach said that we (to win) the game if we (to train) a lot.
- 6. The film director promised that Julia (to become) a famous actress soon.
- 7. The young cook assured the Chef that he never (to eat) such a tasty dish before.
- 8. The stewardess promised that the passengers (to feel) better in half an hour when the storm (to be over).
- 9. The students weren't certain if they (to manage) to cope with the tasks in time.
- 10. Helen said that she (to write) invitation cards for her wedding at the moment, that was why she (not to be ready) to go out yet.
- 11. She said she (to pack) her suit-cases at that time and (to leave) in an hour.
- 12. The Professor warned the committee that he (must) be in time for the conference.
- 13. The schoolchildren admitted that their favourite pastime (to be) surfing the net.
- 14. Father agreed that he didn't really care what colour of the car they (to buy) in two days.
- 15. Jason admitted that he (not to buy) anything for dessert as he (to run out) of money.

Exercise 19. Change the following sentences into indirect speech.

Model: "He always cheats at tests," warned Mrs. Brown.

- 1. "The food at our restaurant is excellent," promised the waiter.
- 2. "No news is good news," stated the nurse.
- 3. "They are not football fans," the captain assured.
- 4. "The child always behaves," admitted the headmistress.
- 5. "I'm sorry I can't accept your offer," whispered Sarah.
- 6. "Granny is cooking something delicious. I can smell it," said little Jane.
- 7. "The guide is instructing the tourists at the moment," warned Wendy.
- 8. "The football match was disappointing," the friends agreed.
- 9. "The service at the hotel was bad," complained the customer.
- 10. "The food during the trip was disgusting," exclaimed the tourist.
- 11. "The police were two minutes late," regretted the victim.
- 12. "Mike cheated at the exam," Celia pointed out.
- 13. "The boy learned to drive at the age of 12," boasted the instructor.
- 14. "The child was playing computer games," said the nanny.
- 15. "The kittens were playing with a toy," Margaret explained.
- 16. "I shall be late," Sam Jackson warned.

- 17. "I'll learn to cook," promised Christina.
- 18. "The hotel butler will open the door for you," assured Marion.
- 19. "My friend will get married in August," informed Jennifer.
- 20. "She has won the lottery," stated Michael.
- 21. "Father has reserved a room in the hotel for all of us," remarked mother.
- 22. "I've failed to get the job," admitted George.
- 23. "They have reached the North Pole," assured the Vice President.
- 24. "We haven't discussed the results yet," regretted the coach.

Exercise 20. Use the following phrases as a principal clause of a complex sentence: I thought, they realized, he knew, we were sure, I found out, it was clear, it occurred to me, I came to understand, she assured, he admitted, I was interested.

Model: Something funny has happened. – They realized that something funny had happened.

- 1. The average temperature in North Africa in winter is 18 degrees Centigrade.
- 2. Smoking is harmful for one's health.
- 3. Actions speak louder than words.
- 4. We cannot cross this bridge, it's too shabby.
- 5. If you drink a lot of coffee, you will sleep badly.
- 6. The Vikings first set foot in America.
- 7. The plane took off in time.
- 8. There were not enough lifeboats on the ship.
- 9. The child is sleeping soundly.
- 10. The bride is having her hair done; she can't answer the phone call.
- 11. In the kitchen Bess was reading the SMS-message aloud.
- 12. Garry was looking for something special to present Gill with.
- 13. I shall do my best to pass the exam successfully.
- 14. Parents will always be on your side.
- 15. The sun will shine tomorrow and the day after tomorrow.
- 16. It hasn't rained for a fortnight.
- 17. She has never been in love.
- 18. The first-year-students haven't taken part in the concert.

Exercise 21. Change the following sentences into indirect speech.

- 1. "Is the weather nasty in autumn in this location?" inquired the tourist.
- 2. "Are you engaged in research work?" the dean questioned Maggie.
- 3. "Do you do morning exercises every day?" asked Judy.
- 4. "Does he smoke?" wondered the yoga instructor.
- 5. "How do you spend your summer holidays?" asked Freddy.
- 6. "Was she in a hurry to the University?" asked the Professor.
- 7. "Were they at hospital?" wondered the girl.
- 8. "Did you go shopping with your twin yesterday?" asked father.
- 9. "When did the plane land?" inquired the manager.
- 10. "Who won that fight?" asked the fan of the boxer.
- 11. "Shall we be ready with the project for tomorrow?" wondered the students.
- 12. "Shall I have time for the video club?" the fresher inquired.

- 13. "Will you show me the way to the British Museum?" requested the pedestrian.
- 14. "Will the children have ice-cream for dessert?" asked Aunt Elizabeth.
- 15. "Who will the girl be happy with?" wondered Jane.
- 16. "Is George writing a report now?" inquired the Monitor.
- 17. "Am I playing a joke?" the teacher asked.
- 18. "Are they approaching the final point of their destination now?" wondered the instructor.
- 19. "Was she making the child's favourite dessert?" asked granny.
- 20. "Were they telling the truth?" the headmaster wondered.
- 21. "Has the weather changed for the better?" asked the reporter.
- 22. "Have you learned the grammar rules?" inquired the teacher.
- 23. "Have your grandparents told you anything about their youth?" asked Bob.
- 24. "Why has she got wet through?" inquired the father.
- 25. "What have they done with these photos?" wondered Ann.

Exercise 22. A tourist has some complains about the hotel accommodation. You are a receptionist. Report the complains to the manager using the following verbs to complain, to notice, to declare, to state, to assure, to remark, to add, to think, to find out, to realize, to inquire.

Model: There is dust everywhere! – The tourist complained that there was dust everywhere.

- 1. My room is much too small.
- 2. I can't sleep in an uncomfortable bed.
- 3. There are no clean towels.
- 4. It's dirty in the bathroom.
- 5. There is no hot water in my room.
- 6. The staff are very unhelpful!
- 7. The window doesn't open.
- 8. The view from the window is disgusting.
- 9. There is no balcony in my room.
- 10. The air conditioner doesn't work.
- 11. There is no extra bed for my child.
- 12. The maid hasn't cleaned my room.
- 13. There are too many mosquitoes!
- 14. I have noticed a cockroach!
- 15. There is a lot of noise from the disco!
- 16. There is no Wi-Fi in my room.
- 17. I shall never make a reservation at your hotel.
- 18. I shall write the feedback about your hotel in all social networks!

Exercise 23.

A. Tell your mother what the guests were talking about at your elder sister's wedding.

Model: "They will make a lovely couple," remarked Aunt Emily.

- Aunt Emily remarked that they would make a lovely couple.
- 1. "The bride is wearing a beautiful wedding dress," commented Sandra with envy.

- 2. "They are going to live in Edinburgh," supposed Jeremy.
- 3. "The groom's father has bought a house," boasted Paul.
- 4. "The couple's parents look happy," said Veronica.
- 5. "The bride and the groom are very nice young people," Granny commented.
- 6. "Sally will catch the bride's bouquet," whispered Angela.
- 7. "The music band is fantastic!" declared the best man.
- 8. "They will go to Italy for their honeymoon!" remarked Mrs. Finch.
- 9. "When will their first child be born?" wondered the neighbors.
- 10. "Who will be the child's godfather?" inquired Mr. Parker.

B. Make up some sentences of your own.

Exercise 24.

A. You went to the birthday party yesterday. Report to your friend who missed it what the guests spoke about.

Model: "The chicken is nice," said Emma.

- Emma said that the chicken was nice.
- 1. "I'm hungry. I had only sandwiches for breakfast," complained Harry.
- 2. "I'm going to start my diet tomorrow," promised Ann.
- 3. "Is there any more salad?" asked Martin.
- 4. "Does anyone want pasta?" inquired Mary.
- 5. "Don't talk with your mouth full," remarked Clair.
- 6. "I don't want anything else," declared George.
- 7. "What are we having for dessert?" asked Patrick.
- 8. "This is the best dinner I've ever had," announced Dannie.
- 9. "We'll have a picnic on Sunday," stated Mark.
- 10. "Shall we dance after a hearty meal?" wondered Julia.

B. Make up some sentences of your own.

Exercise 25. Turn the following dialogues into indirect speech. Use the following phrases as a principal clause of a complex sentence: she asked, she wondered, he was interested, she inquired, he thought, she realized, he knew, he was sure, he complained, it was clear, he added, she assured, he admitted, she stated, she found out, he declared.

A.

Tom: What was the weather like in London?

Mary: It was lovely almost every day.

Tom: Didn't it rain at all?

Mary: It was raining only when we decided to go to Hyde Park, so we had to cancel the walk. We went to the Picture Gallery instead.

B.

Jack: Where were you born?

Jane: I was born in Lviv, went to school there, graduated from Lviv Ivan Franko

National University.

Jack: When did you move to Kyiv?

Jane: My family moved to Kyiv three years ago. And I've been in Kyiv since last

year.

C.

Sally: What was your brother doing when you came home?

Cynthia: When I looked into Mark's room, he was practising the violin and didn't see me. So I left the house unnoticed.

Sally: That's great. Now we can follow our plan.

D.

Frank: When did you see Mary?

Jason: I haven't seen her since school time. Has she changed?

Frank: She has put on some weight as she has two daughters. But she is as merry

as when she was 16.

Jason: I'm looking forward to meeting her.

E.

Tourist: Will you help us, please. *Policeman:* What can I do for you?

Tourist: Can you show us the way to Khreschatyk Street?

Policeman: If you take the second turning to the right, you'll be there.

Tourist: Thank you ever so much.

F.

Billy: Uncle Sam has rung up. *Mother:* Is he coming for lunch?

Billy: No, he is in trouble. *Mother:* What happened?

Billy: He's got into a car accident. He is on the way to the hospital now.

G.

Veronica: Has your sister got married?

Ann: Yes, she has. She married Tom on Saturday. Now she is married to a doctor.

Veronica: Are they on their honeymoon now?

Ann: Not yet. They will go to Venice next week.

Veronica: She is so lucky!

H.

Manager: Why do you want a job with our newspaper?

Applicant: I want to become a newspaper reporter. I saw your job advertisement.

So I filled in an application form.

Manager: What other jobs have you done?

Applicant: I was a sports reporter when I studied at the University. Now I've got a job in a sports shop.

Manager: Are you interested in sports?

Applicant: Yes, I like watching volleyball. I always watch our local team when they play at our gym. And I play table tennis.

Manager: Well, I'll tell you what this job involves.

Exercise 26.

A. Read the dialogue between the police officer and the suspect about the missed Mr. Barnes.

Police officer: Are you on easy terms with Mr. Barnes?

Suspect: I get on very well with him. I've known Mr. Barnes for 12 years. I work as his personal driver.

Police officer: When did you see him last?

Suspect: The last time I saw him was at 10:30 last night. I drove him to the theatre in town and left him there.

Police officer: When did you get home?

Suspect: On the way back I had a flat tyre. I think I arrived home at about midnight. You can check the information with my wife. I swear I haven't hurt Mr. Barnes!

B. You are the suspect. Tell your wife about the conversation with the police officer.

C. You are the detective. Write the report about the interrogation.

Exercise 27. Translate into English.

- 1. Вони сподівалися, що витівка хлопчика залишиться таємницею.
- 2. Гід поцікавився, чи хтось із групи вже бував у замку.
- 3. Вона зашарілася й зізналася, що не вміє ані читати, ані писати.
- 4. Ніхто не повідомив батьків, що діти спокійнісінько бавляться у парку і мати дуже нервувала.
- 5. Шеф-кухар запитав, чи я коли-небудь їв сиру рибу. Я відповів, що куштував сиру рибу під час поїздки до Японії у 2012 році.
- 6. Тітка скаржилася, що надворі не теплішає.
- 7. Доповідач спитав, чи його добре чують.
- 8. Дівчина заперечила, що коли-небудь бачила цього юнака.
- 9. Відвідувач кафе сказав, що помирає з голоду і попросив принести йому велику порцію м'яса.
- 10. Джейн обіцяла, що навідає дядька щойно складе вступні іспити.
- 11. Хлопець зауважив, що ставлення до нього змінилося.
- 12. Дитина вигукувала, що на небі з'являється веселка.
- 13. Я поцікавилася, де можна смачно попоїсти. Перехожий підказав, що за рогом є затишне кафе, де чудово готують.
- 14. Діти сказали, що увімкнули телевізор після того, як вони зробили всі уроки.
- 15. Мати обіцяла, що подарує доньці бабусине намисто, коли вона буде виходити заміж.
- 16. Ти можеш собі уявити? Він сказав, що Земля не обертається довкола Сонця. От невіглас!

THE NOUN

Exercise 1. Read the nouns, pay attention to the pronunciation of their endings in the plural.

d) [-z] after vowels and voiced consonants except [z], [3], [d3].

['stɔ:rɪ] – ['rstɔ:rɪz]	[təˈmα:tɜʊ] – [təˈmα:tɜʊz]	['lemən] – ['lemənz]
[ple1] – [ple1z]	[ˈkælɪndə] – [ˈkælɪndəz]	['teɪbl] – ['teɪblz]
[ˈkʊpɪ] – [ˈkʊpɪz]	[hɜv'tel] – [hɜv'telz]	['wɔ:drsub] – [ˈwɔ:drsubz]

e) [-s] after voiceless consonants except [s], [\int], [t \int]:

[meit] – [meits]	[klok] - [kloks]	[læmp] – [læmps]
[list] - [lists]	[kæmp] – [kæmps]	[n3vt] - [n3vts]
[sent] – [sents]	[pi:k] – [pi:ks]	[lip] - [lips]

f) [-1z] after [s], [z], [\int], [3], [t \int], [d3]:

[foks] - [foksiz]	[keɪs] – [ˈkeɪsɪz]	[dʒʌdʒ] – ['dʒʌdʒız]
$[\mathbf{w}_1] - [\mathbf{w}_1]_{1\mathbf{Z}}$	[kʒvt∫] – ['kʒvt∫ız]	['vɪlɪdʒ] – ['vɪlɪdʒɪz]
[ˈaɪlæʃ] – [ˈaɪlæʃız]	[tɔ:t∫] – [ˈtɔ:t∫ız]	[t∫eındʒ] – ['t∫eındʒız]

g) some changes of the consonants:

[ʃelf] – [ʃelvz]	[wu:lf] - [wu:lvz]	$[bu:\theta] - [bu:\mathfrak{D}z]$	$[\text{mav}\theta] - [\text{mav}\theta z]$
[waıf] – [waıvz]	[la1f] - [la1vz]	$[p\alpha:\theta] - [p\alpha:\vartheta z]$	$[b\alpha:\theta] - [b\alpha:\theta z]$

Exercise 2. Read the words, pay attention to the pronunciation of the endings of the nouns in the plural, transcribe them.

pool – pools	potato – potatoes	tulip – tulips	box - boxes
leaf – leaves	photo – photos	institute – institutes	dress – dresses
bag – bags	city – cities	pet – pets	boss-bosses
lesson – lessons	letter – letters	desk – desks	bus – buses

Exercise 3. Write the given words in the plural. Read the words.

an umbrella, an elephant, a brother, a bath, an ostrich, a wish, a buzz, a lorry, a berry, a family, an enemy, a chef, a wolf, a calf, a holiday, a tomato, a bookshelf, a butterfly, a policeman, a blackboard, a tree

Exercise 4. Write the given words in the plural and arrange them into the categories.

Model: a city – cities

 A.
 B.

 I. cats,
 I. [s] – cats,

 II. cities,
 II. [z] – cities,

```
III. potatoes, ....

IV. wolves,....

V. buses, ....

VI. cacti, ....

VII. men, ....

VIII. group-mates, ....
```

a pot, a safe, a cry, a porch, a half, a crisis, a child, a passer-by, a leaf, a zoo, a day, a party, a nest, a diagnosis, a quiz, a nucleus, a loaf, a hero, a piano, a chief, a toy, a case, a bath, a mosquito, a buzz, a goose, a person, a criterion, a life, a mouth, a kilo, a group, a vet, a country, a policeman, a mouse, a boss, a thief, a roof, a bacterium, a tooth, a house, a fly, an ox, a woman, a foot, a tomato, a donkey, analysis, a try, a medium, a wife, a mother-in-law, a louse, an oasis, a volcano, a church, a phenomenon, a forget-me-not, a stimulus, a lady, a bush, a baby, a photo, a pet, an echo, a knife, a boyfriend, a bookworm

Exercise 5. Arrange the words into three groups: 1 - words which are used only in the singular, 2 - words which are used only in the plural, 3 - have the same form in the singular and plural.

crossroads, scissors, advice, chewing gum, athletics, congratulations, sheep, news, knowledge, clothes, police, furniture, homework, species, equipment, information, binoculars, cattle, goods, means, series, fish, grass, deer, luggage, money, trousers, progress, outskirts, research, stairs, traffic, rubbish, scales, contents, luck, weather, surroundings, measles, mathematics, billiards, accommodation, bread, jeans, hair

Exercise 6. Put down the words into two columns: Countable nouns and Uncountable nouns.

Information, clothes, litter, milk, air, leaves, potatoes, knowledge, trees, laptops, grass, bushes, furniture, news, hair, people, goods, luggage, biscuits, butter, sand, problems, juice, page, ideas.

Exercise 7. Write the given words in the singular.

Model: problems – a problem

strawberries, peas, geese, children, duties, lice, sheaves, faxes, lies, radios, Germans, places, knives, teeth, feet, fish, people, languages, addresses, sandwiches, women, forget-me-nots, bases, nuclei, criteria, sisters-in-law, means, pence, proofs, species

Exercise 8. Write phrases as in the model

Model: Peter/ a book – Peter's book

birds/ a nest – a birds' nest

the roof/ the house – the roof of the house

Alice/ a friend, my colleague/ a file, his parents/ a farm-house, children/ toys, the hand/ the clock, John/ an address, the top/ the page, the beginning/ the story, Nick

and Ann/ a car, the Smiths/ a house, women/ dresses, yesterday/ a newspaper, the team/ victory, a mile/ a distance, the frame/ the picture, an hour/ a conversation, the title/ the book, a teacher/ a remark, cats/ tails, four hours/ delay.

	or case > 1 Comprete time semiconees.
1.	I don't know (the name/ your friend).
2.	Look at (the page/ the top).
3.	I've never seen (a boyfriend/ your sister). Is he handsome?
4.	Mr Jones is sick and tired of (silly questions/ his neighbours)
5.	(the chair/ the legs) are too short.
6.	Is it true that (a wife/ Simon) is pregnant?
7.	He didn't follow (advice/ his doctor).
8.	When is (birthday/ your best friend)?
Ω .	What is (the message/ the story)?

9. What is ____ (the message/ the story)?

Exercise 9. Complete the sentences.

10. I can't understand ____ (his words/ the meaning).

11. We'll spend next two days at (a place/ Peter).

12. Why did you decide to sell ____ (old furniture/ your parents)?

Exercise 10. Change the word-combinations as in the model.

Model: Mary's dress – her dress

the title of the book, pupils' tests, a friend of mine, the roof of the house, Simon's car, my and my sister's room, the Browns' flat, my family's cottage, the hand of the clock, Betty and Nelly's bicycle, Sally's and Betty's toys, the dog's kennel, the end of the story, your and your husband's photo, Joan's doll

Exercise 11. Translate into English.

- 1. Наш багаж невеликий. Ми можемо взяти його у літак.
- 2. Її знання з англійської граматики дуже глибокі.
- 3. Існує буклет, у якому прописані поради як створити свою власну справу.
- 4. На вітрині є великий вибір сонцезахисних окуляр. Приміряй ось оці.
- 5. Скільки у тебе ϵ з собою грошей? Небагато, але нам вистачить на проїзд.
- 6. Можна тобі дати поряду? Не вдягай цей одяг. Він немодний.
- 7. Ці джинси відомого бренда, чи не так? Так. Вони коштують досить дорого. Я не можу собі це дозволити.
- 8. У кімнаті прохолодно. Одягни піжаму. Вона не тепла.
- 9. У моїй кімнаті немає багато меблів, проте вони дуже зручні.
- 10. Більярд стає все більше і більше популярним серед молоді, чи не так? Так, Ви маєте рацію.
- 11. Етика це наука, яка вивчає суспільні правила та норми поведінки.
- 12. Скільки зараз дітей у класі? Присутні двадцять вісім учнів. Одна дитина відсутня.
- 13. Великі успіхи чекають на цю спортсменку.
- 14. Цей товар дешевий, але й якість його ϵ низькою.

Ця інформація дуже важлива для нашого проекту.

THE PRONOUN

Exercise 1. Read the sentences, pay attention to the *personal pronouns* and the verb *to be* in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. ['ız 'keıt ın Də /klɑ:sru:m || 'nɜv ʃi· ız \not || ʃi· 'ıznt ın Də \klɑ:sru:m || ʃi·z ın Də \laıbrərı ||]
- 2. ['stefənı ənd 'megı α· \kreızı əbavt Də konsət | ∠α:nt Deı || 'jes Deı \α: ||]
- 3. ['α: ju·/bɪzɪ tənaɪt || 'nɜʊ aɪm \not || bət aɪ əm əz 'bɪzɪ əz ə 'bi: on \fraɪdı ||]
- 5. ['hu: 1z on \dju:t1 təde1 || 'bet1 ənd \r3vz \ \alpha: ||]
- 6. [hi·z 'kα:m ənd rɪ\zɜ:vd | ənd hı· ız 'verı 'gud ət \fızıks ||]

Exercise 2. Read the sentences with the *demonstrative pronouns*, pay attention to their pronunciation in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. ['Φις ιz ə 'dα:k \kα: | /ιznt ιt|| \jeς | ιt \ιz|| 'ιz Φις 'kα: /bιg || \nзυ| ιtς \smɔ:l ||]
- 2. ['α: Di:z 'tju:lɪps /bju:tɪfl ||\jes |'Di:z 'tju:lɪps α·\bju:tɪfl || 'α: Də 'tju:lɪps /pɜ:pl || Di:z 'tju:lɪps α·'braɪt \jelɜv ||]
- 3. ['Dis 'buk iz /θin | ənd 'Dæt 'buk iz \θik || 'dɜunt \teik Dəm || 'teik Də 'nju: 'kukəribuk frəm Də \desk ||]
- 4. [' α : P3 ν z 'penz in Pə / bæg || \n3 ν | Pə 'penz ' α :nt in Pə \bæg || P3 ν z 'penz α ·r \desk ||]

Exercise 3. Read the sentences, pay attention to the possessive pronouns in stressed and unstressed positions.

- 1. ['ız \mathfrak{D} ıs 'buk /jɔ:z || \n3v | ıts 'not \main || ıts \hız ||]
- 2. ['hu:z \dres ız \mathbb{P} ıs || 'ıznt ıt \mathbb{Z} h3:z || 'jes ıt \ız || ıts h3· 'nju: 'dres fə \mathbb{P} ə \pa:tı ||]
- 3. [hɪz 'sɪstər 'ofn 'mi:ts ə 'frend əv \h3:z ||]
- 4. [' α : h3· 'buks on Pə /teɪbl | ɔ· r on Pə $\sqrt{\text{elf}}$ || 'h3:z α ·r on Pə $\sqrt{\text{teɪbl}}$ | bət 'jɔ:z α ·r on Pə $\sqrt{\text{elf}}$ ||]

Exercise 4. Read the sentences, pay attention to the verb *to have* in stressed and unstressed positions. Mind the absence of reduction in the words *any* [eni] and *many* [meni].

- 1. ['hæv ju· enɪ /relətɪvz ın frɑ:ns || 'jes aɪ \hæv sʌm || aɪ hæv ən 'ɑ:nt ənd hɜ· \fæmɪlı ın pærɪs ||]
- 2. ['nænsı 'hæznt enı \kaznz | /hæz $\int i \cdot || \n3\upsilon | \int i \cdot hæz \n\upsilon t || \int i \cdot hæz \n 'ni:s \nevju:z ||]$
- 3. ['hæv Dei 'got eni 'boks on ∕kemistri in Də laibrəri || \jes | Deiv 'got \meni ||]

4. ['betsi hæz 'nsv 'red \pensilz in hs. penslboks | /hæz ʃi. || 'jes ʃi. \hæz || ʃi. hæz ə \fju: ||] 5. ['maikl hæz meni mis \teiks in hiz test | /hæznt hi· || 'nɔu hi· hæz \not ||] 6. ['hav meni ig'zæmz hæv Dei 'got ət Di· end əv Də \t3:m ||] Exercise 5. Read the sentences, mind the absence of reduction in prepositions before pronouns after the nuclear tone. 1. [\luk æt it pli:z ||] 2. [its 'not 'ssu \i:zi fo: mi·||] 3. [aɪ ˈgɜʊ tə Đə Naɪbrərɪ wɪĐ hɜ·||] 4. ['gıv maı 'best rı**g**α:dz tu: Đəm |] Exercise 6. Use pronouns instead of the words and phrases in bold. **Model: Jack and Mary** are so happy together. – They are so happy together. **Physics** is boring. 1. 2. The dog is so cute. Where is **my luggage**? **Uncle Jack** is busy today. 4. **Peter** is my bosom friend. 5. **The children** are in the park. 6. 7. My sister is interested in music. Let's go home. **People** are tired. 8. 9. **These tables** are very expensive. 10. **My friend and I** are fond of poetry. 11. My parents and I are late for the concert. 12. Your brother and you spend too much time watching TV. Exercise 7. Put the correct object pronoun into each gap. My bosom friend has got a lot of new dresses but she likes none of _____. Give ____ the newspaper, please. I want to know the latest news. Don't look at ____. She is so shy. 4. Nick is constantly asking me silly questions. I can't stand . 5. Are they in the office? Did you tell ____ the news? 6. I can't understand . Be more specific.

8. We are going to play a game of tennis. Will you join _____?

7. It's a snake. Don't touch .

10. We'll take the cat with

As for ____, it's just what you need.

12. Where are my glasses? I can't find .

11. Stay at home. I'll call for at about 5 o'clock.

Exercise 8. Read the text. Make it sound natural replacing some of the nouns with pronouns.

Mary Mason is my best friend. Mary is in her late thirties but my friend doesn't look her age. My friend is a librarian and Mary likes what she is doing. Mary is fond of reading. Give Mary an interesting book to read and you'll make Mary the happiest person in the whole world. Sometimes it seems to me that Mary lives in a fictional world of her books.

The good thing is that it is never boring with Mary. Mary is a brilliant storyteller. Mary can amuse her friends for hours telling interesting stories. The stories are about lives of famous and not very famous people.

Mary's husband Jack is a well-known writer. Mary and Jack are a perfect match. Mary and Jack are both bookworms and when Mary and Jack are tired of each other Mary and Jack spend time with books. Mary and Jack never fail to find an interesting topic for discussion.

Mary and Jack live in New York. New York is a monster city of towering skyscrapers, rushing here and there people, severe traffic jams and rude taxi drivers but Mary and Jack never complain. Mary and Jack don't let the surrounding world interfere with their family happiness.

Exercise 9. Open the brackets using the possessive pronouns in the Absolute form.

- 1. Is this umbrella (you)?
- 2. Give me a pen. (I) is broken.
- 3. Don't touch the book. It is (I).
- 4. My dress is short. (She) is longer.
- 5. My computer is old. (He) is modern.
- 6. My broth is not ready. Let's eat (your).
- 7. Our story is interesting. (They) is boring.
- 8. My laptop is on the desk. Where is (she)?
- 9. They are not our keys. The keys are (they).
- 10. I don't like my room. It's rather dark. (He) is much lighter.
- 11. Bill and Kate's mother is a journalist. (We) is an interpreter.
- 12. Our dog likes rubber toys. Don't touch those ones. They are (it).

Exercise 10. Fill in the gaps with possessive pronouns.

- 1. Give me __1_ umbrella. Don't you have __2_? __3_ is broken.
- 2. Pete's room is clean, isn't it? He likes to spend time in __4__ room. __5__ is dirty. They seldom clean it.
- 3. __6__ dog is clever. She trains it regularly. Do you teach __7__?

4 What is the time? - It is 5 pm Isn't8_ watch slow? - No,9_ is just
right.
5. The Smiths are fashionable10 clothes are expensive. We can't say the
same about11
6. My friend Tom is a top student12 tests are always excellent.
7. Take my hands in1314 are cold15 are warm.
8. Don't enter16 room. She is busy with17 report. Are you ready with18?
919 colleagues are friendly. They help me a lot20 are not so helpful.
He never asks them for help.
10. Look at this costume. Do you like21 colour?
1122 house is comfortable. They look after it carefully. Does your brother
take care of23 the same way?
12. Help yourself to this exotic fruit. Do you like24 taste?
· — —
Exercise 11. Fill in the gaps with pronouns.
1. My husband and1 live in the country2 house is not big but3 is
comfortable and well-planned.
2. Peter likes4 new bicycle5 spends hours riding6
3. This is7_ cat Boss. I found8_ in the street when9_ was a kitten.
10 are good friends now.
4. What is11? – I don't know. Let's ask Mary12 is Mike's cousin.
5. I saw13 test results14 are so poor. Did you see15?
6. Jack and Jill have never seen16 grandchildren17 quarreled with
18 daughter long ago10 promised never to talk to20 parents.
7. – How are21 today? – Never better. Thank22 – How is Mr
Thomson? –23 is fine. – Remember24 to25
8. – Where is26 dictionary? I can't find27 anywhere. – You may take
28 O It's 20 Den't touch 20 She'll be an arry with you
9. It's29 Don't touch30 She'll be angry with you.
10.— Why are31 crying, Alice? —32 have a reason but please don't ask me about33
11. These jeans are so fashionable. Let34 buy35
12. The police will come soon. Feel free and tell36 everything37 know.
12. The poince will come soon. I con nee und tenso everythings/_ know.
Exercise 12. Fill in the blanks using reflexive pronouns.
1. The child liked the new toy so much that it could amuse for hours playing
with it.
2. Mary excused and left the party early.
3. John blamed for that quarrel.
4. We were lucky. We didn't hurt in the accident.
5. Peter and Mary introduced to the committee.
6. Be careful. Don't cut while shaving.
7 The film was very interesting but the acting left much to be desired

8. Did your parents and you enjoy at that celebration?
9. He took a shower and dried on the towel.
10. They do it to prepare for the adult life.
11.I can't believe she has cooked it .
12.If you continue teasing me, I will complain to the headmistress
Exercise 13. Fill in the blanks using personal pronouns in the Objective Case
or reflexive pronouns if necessary.
1. He loves his nephew so much that he bought1_ a car.
2. He has enough money to buy2_ a car.
3. I'm not an early riser, so when I have to get up early, it is difficult for me even
to dress3
4. Though being physically challenged she can dress4
5. I couldn't concentrate5 that day, I didn't feel6
6. I feel 7 betrayed. I didn't expect him to behave 8_ like that.
7. She felt ashamed. Her children couldn't behave9 in public.
8. He is young enough to shave10
9. A famous actor dropped in at the beauty centre and every barber was ready to
shave11
10. The test results were excellent and we were pleased with12
11. He is the teacher's pet and whatever he says in class, the teacher is always
pleased with13
12. Take my dog with14 if you are going for a walk.
Exercise 14. Paraphrase the sentences using the reflexive verbs in the box.

to make the most of oneself, to feel oneself, to enjoy oneself, to pull oneself to make sth of oneself, to find oneself, to make oneself at home, to behave oneself, to push oneself forward, to help oneself to, to be oneself, to amuse oneself, to bring oneself to.

- 1. She doesn't know how to show herself in the best possible way.
- 2. John didn't live a long life but he was successful.
- 3. He was happy and got pleasure from the party.
- 4. Feel free to taste everything you see on the table.
- 5. I want you to be polite and respectful.
- 6. Everything was strange for Peter in that house and he couldn't feel comfortable there.
- 7. I don't like when you put on airs. Behave naturally.
- 8. I'm not quite well today.
- 9. She was surprised to discover herself in that mysterious place.
- 10.I'm leaving you for a couple of hours. Will you find what to do?
- 11. Don't be nervous. Take control of your feelings and behave in a calm way.
- 12. She did her best for her boss to notice her to get a promotion.
- 13.He had to force himself to tell the truth.

Exercise 15. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. Він позичив ці гроші для себе.
- 2. Не дозволяйте дитині брати гарячий чайник, вона обпечеться.
- 3. Не гнівайтеся на нього: він вміє сміятися не тільки над іншими, але й над собою.
- 4. Її зовуть Анастасія, але вона називає себе Ася.
- 5. Зроби каву собі й мені. Не чекай на мене.
- 6. Діти, поводьте себе гарно.
- 7. Я обпеклася, коли розливала чай.
- 8. Можливо, він купив цей капелюх для себе.
- 9. Він сам тобі все пояснить.
- 10. Я знаю себе, я не зможу цього зробити.
- 11. Зберися з думками. Це ж іспит.
- 12. Студентка зробила помилку, але виправилася, і викладач поставив їй гарну оцінку.
- 13. Ти думаєш, вони впораються з цим завданням самі?
- 14. Боюся, ти застудишся. Як тільки прийдеш додому, зроби собі чашку чаю.
- 15. Тобі нічого не доведеться їм пояснювати: вони самі знають, що робити.

Exercise 16. Change into the plural.

Model: this lady – these ladies that photo – those photos

this girl, that ball, that car, this horse, this pot, that mole, that foot, this tooth, that rose, this map, that book, this cook, this pet, that tin, this park, that pillow

Exercise 17. Fill in the gaps with this/ these, that/ those.

I.	Who's over there?
2.	Get cat off my knees.
3.	I like music. Who is the composer?
4.	Who said?
5.	cake is so tasty. Can I have some more?
6.	was horrible. How could you?
7.	ear-rings are so beautiful. May I put them on?
8.	I even don't want to speak about friends of yours

Exercise 18. Make up sentences using the verbs, the nouns, the adjectives as in the model.

Model 1: Take this ball. That one is flat.

Model 2: Pass me those scissors. These are blunt.

Verbs: to take, to look at, to give, to read, to pass, to bring, to fetch, to go to, to open, to buy.

Nouns: ball, story, apple, book, umbrella, picture, pen, exercise-book, scissors, juice, magazine, caf?, museum, jeans, knives, clothes, furniture, equipment, carpet. *Adjectives:* boring, sour, thick, old, ugly, blunt, old-fashioned, long, cheap, sweet, short, expensive, thin, flat, broken.

Exercise 19. Fill in the blanks using some, any, no, a (an).
1. I don't eat1_ meat. I'd like2_ fruit instead.
2. What colour shall we paint the walls? –3 colour will do.
3. Let's buy4_ sweets. – I have hardly5_ money.
4. Don't go out without6 umbrella. It's raining.
5. The teacher doesn't like7_ talking in class. – What does he do if8_ of
his students break the rule?
6. She asks if we have9_ questions. Of course, we have10, but we are
not sure if she can answer11 of them.
7. I can give you12 paper if you want. – No, thank you. I have13 paper
in the drawer, but I have14 ink.
815 doctor will tell you alcohol is bad for your health.
9. Would you like16 milk in the coffee? – No, I don't want any.
10. Every dress looks nice on you. You can buy17 of them.
11. We need more sugar. There isn't18 left.
12. I need19 napkins. Are there20 in your bag?
13. Fancy a drink? – There is21 champagne in the bottle.
14. Have22 more vegetables No, thank you. I don't want23 more
vegetables. Is there24 steak left?
1525 people find learning foreign languages more difficult than others.
16. I like26 modern art.
17. Is there27 juice left? – You'll find28 in the fridge.
18. Have you29 spare pen? – I have30 pens at all. I have only pencils.
19. I have31 new camera. – Have you taken32 interesting photos? – Not
yet. I have33 film.
20. We haven't34 plump tree in our garden. We have35 apple trees.
Exercise 20. Fill in the blanks using somebody, something, anybody, anything,
nobody, or nothing.
1. Is there1_ in the room? – It is dark there. I think there is2_there.
2. There is3 about this place that frightens me.
34_ has left the umbrella behind. Do you know5_ about its owner?
4. I'm so thirsty. I'll drink6
5. Can I help you? – No, thank you. There is7 you can do for me now.
6. I'm so bored. Give me8 to do.
7. We've invited only our group-mates to the party. Does9_ else want to
come?

- 8. There is never __10__ worth buying in this shop.
- 9. Why was everybody silent at the meeting? __11__ knew what to say.
- 10. I was at the exhibition of modern art. Did you see __12__ you know?
- 11. There is __13__ wrong with my computer. Do you know __14__ who can put it right?
- 12. I'm sure there is 15 upstairs. Can you hear 16 ?
- 13. If you find out __17__ about her, let us know.
- 14. The task is so easy that almost __18__ can cope with it.
- 15. All doctors say there is __19__ wrong with me. But I feel __20__ is wrong with my lungs.
- 16. I don't want __21__ to join me. There is __22__ to do there together.
- 17. __23__ can participate in the exhibition.

Exercise 21. Translate the sentences into English.

- 1. У Вас ε якісь домашні тварини? Так, ми маємо декілька курчат та корову.
- 2. Давай приготуємо щось перекусити. У нас є якісь продукти у холодильнику? Ми маємо декілька яєць та сир.
- 3. У тебе ϵ щось цікаве почитати? Мені так нудно, бо нема чого робити.
- 4. Це пальто занадто дороге. У Вас ϵ щось дешевше?
- 5. Випий трохи кави. Ти дуже сонний. Я нічого зараз не хочу.
- 6. Вибирай будь-яку сукню. У мене їх багато.
- 7. Якщо щось не так із твоїм комп'ютером, попроси мого старшого брата його відремонтувати.
- 8. У нього ϵ декілька картин цього художника, але він нічого не зна ϵ про їхню історію. У тебе ϵ якась інформація про них?
- 9. У мене ϵ декілька цікавих фільмів. Давай зайдемо до мене та переглянемо один із них. Шкода, але в мене нема ϵ часу.
- 10. Вам немає про що хвилюватися. Вона талановита акторка.

Exercise 22. Ask questions as in the model.

Model: I have some English books in my home-library. – How many English books have you in your home-library?

There is some cheese in the fridge. – How much cheese is there in the fridge?

- 1. I have some pence in my purse.
- 2. There are some students in the room.
- 3. There is some garbage in the waste bin.
- 4. We have some relatives in Australia.
- 5. There are some goods on the counters.
- 6. The farmer has some sheep in the barn.
- 7. Our Zoo has some rare species of birds.
- 8. She has some savings in her bank account.

- 9. The boy has some chewing gum in his pocket.
- 10. We have some difficult homework for tomorrow.
- 11. They have some new equipment in the laboratory.
- 12. The soldiers have some binoculars in their rucksacks.

T		•	41	1. 1 1		1.		1	····
Exercise 2	3. HIII	ın	tne	nianks	iising	much	manv	ส เกร	Ot.
Linei cibe 2	O. I III	***		DIGITIES		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	uioi	·., •

1. Peter doesn't have1_ money left. Can you lend him some more? – Yes, but
not2
23 students understand that the test will be difficult.
34 of those present noticed the thief.
4. How5 milk do you need for your omelette?
56 people like Italian food.
6. Did you manage to get7_ experience from your journeys?
7. We don't have very8_ biscuits left.
8. I like classical music and go to9 concerts.
9. There is so10 traffic that we are going to be late.
10. I admire11 his ideas.
11. How12 cousins on your Mother's side do you have?
12. There are so13 dresses in the shop-window. How14 are they?
13. There are too15 mistakes in his test.
14. It was one of16 companions.
1517 time is needed to learn Chinese.

Exercise 24. Paraphrase the words in the italic type using little, a little, few, a few.

- 2. She is so untidy. She has *hardly any* clean plates left.
- 3. We are working at *several* projects at the same time.
- 4. I have *not much* interest in show business.
- 5. Almost no student understood the rule.
- 6. We've got *some* bacon and *a small number of* potatoes.
- 7. I have two or three sandwiches left. Let's have a bite.
- 8. Our director has *almost no* real power.
- 9. *Not many* children like this game.
- 10. There is *hardly any* doubt. Our team will win the game.
- 11. Could I taste *some* cake?
- 12. Only *several* friends of mine stay in town for summer.
- 13. The plant needs *almost no* water.

Exercise 25. Fill in the blanks using little, a little, few, a few.

1	of my	colleagues	understood	the	significance	of this	agreement.	That's
why it wa	as cance	elled.						

2. I need ____ photographs from your family album. We are going to organize a photo exhibition.

3.	There is doubt that he won't cope with this task. He is so persistent.
4.	of us can say that we always tell the truth.
5.	You can ask your question. I have time to spare.
6.	He was quick at translating the text. There were unknown words.
7.	I have or no choice in this situation.
8.	Give your dog love and it will be your best friend.
9.	There is nothing to see in that village, so tourists visit it.
10.	I understood of what he said.
11.	I'm not bored here. I have friends and we often meet together.
12.	You can have a nap. We have time before the taxi comes.

THE ADJECTIVE

Exercise 1. Read the sentences, mind the word-stress in compound adjectives.

- 1. [ʃi·ız 'verı 'æbs(ə)nt\maındıd || ∫i·ız ə 'verı 'æbs(ə)ntmaındıd \gɜ:l ||]
- 2. [hi·ız 'kaınd\ha:tıd || hi·ız ə 'kaındha:tıd 'j\n \mæn d\u:lı ||]
- 3. $\lceil d \exists e \mid n \mid \exists e \mid \alpha \cdot | \exists e \mid \exists e \mid \alpha \cdot r \mid \exists e \mid \alpha$
- 4. ['α:r 'ælısn ənd 'sju:zı 'hα:d/w3:kıŋ ||'α: Φeι 'hα:dw3:kıŋ /stju:d(ə)nts ||]
- 5. [wi·α·r 'i:zɪ\gɜυɪŋ | ∠α:nt wi·|| 'jes wi·\α: || wi·α·r 'i:zɪgɜυɪŋ \pi:pl ||]

Exercise 2. Give the comparative and superlative forms of the following adjectives.

pleasant, careful, clear, polite, clever, big, heavy, little, far, serious, funny, old, good, important, difficult, high, fast, early, short, thick, narrow, enjoyable, easy, loud, late, near, expensive, slow, cheap, thin, dangerous, cold, bad, bold, pretty, calm, attractive, thick, sour, convenient, strong

Exercise 3. Complete the sentences using the comparative forms of the adjectives from the box.

	lean distinct cold comfortable enjoyable good legible	
	difficult thin sharp nervous important	
1	like to sleep in the had. It's much then the sofe	
	like to sleep in the bed. It's much than the sofa.	• •
	My Granddad prefers to live in the countryside. He says it's than in the	16
city		
3.	t's a good day to lie in the sun and swim in the river. Yesterday the weath	er
was		
4.	can't cut tomatoes with this knife. It is blunt. – Take that one. It's	
5.	t took me two hours to do Physics yesterday Is it for you than oth	er
	ects?	
6.	Can you give me your notes of the lecture? Your handwriting is that	an
Pet		
7.	This dress is tight on you but it will fit Lucy perfectly. She is than you.	
	Today you seem to be than ever. What's up?	
	don't like this concert. I expected it to be .	
	think Bill can't recite this poem. Let Jim do it. His speech is	
	*	
	Now he understands that good health is than money.	
12.	think Vicky can explain this process to you. She is at Chemistry than	l
am		

Exercise 4. Support or challenge the statements.

Model: Ukrainian is easier than Latin. -I don't agree. Ukrainian is more difficult than Latin.

- 1. English is more interesting than Latin.
- 2. Linguistics is more difficult than Computer Studies.

- 3. Foreign Literature is more boring than English.
- 4. Theory of Education is more important than Life Protection.
- 5. History is the most enjoyable of all the subjects.
- 6. Physical Training is the most exciting of all the subjects.

Exercise 5. Give your opinion about the hobbies. Use the adjectives from the box.

Model: Playing computer games is more boring than rollerblading. Watching films is the most boring of all.

interesting boring exciting important ea	asy difficult boring enjoyable
--	--------------------------------

Playing computer games, dancing, surfing the Internet, rollerblading, listening to music, partying, doing sports, watching films.

Exercise 6. Complete the sentences using the superlative forms of the adjectives from the box.

short	нарру	boring	good	popular	near	expensive	
	cheap	tall	silly	long	difficult		
1. I will	never forget	that dav. It v	was d	av of mv life	2.		
	't afford to sta	•		•			
	ch is moi	•		_			
	ery ashamed.	•		ever done.			
5. This	young man ha	is a great fut	ture. He is	footbal	l player in th	e team.	
6. Thou	gh it is 1	estaurant in	the city, th	e dishes are	very tasty he	ere.	
7. The C	Congo River i	s river	in the worl	ld.			
8. It is r	necessary to ta	ike a taxi. Tl	he sho	op is a long o	distance from	n here.	
9. Let P	9. Let Paul gather some cherries from the tree. It will be easy for him. He is						
of us.							
10. Was	it easy for you	ı to take tha	t decision?	− No, it was	s decisi	on I had ever	
had to ma							
	11. I don't want to see that film. Mike says it is film of all he has seen.						
12. What	t is sport	in the world	d?				

Exercise 7. Open the brackets using the adjectives in the comparative or superlative form.

- 1. I think they will lose without her. She is (fast) runner in their team.
- 2. Though she is (young) than her sister, she is much (tall).
- 3. We can't afford even (cheap) computer in this shop. Its price is too high for us.
- 4. Is Everest (high) mountain in the world?
- 5. This test seems to be (easy) than the previous one. The students made (few) mistakes.
- 6. It's much (quiet) to live in the suburbs than in the centre.

- 7. What is (short) way to get from the railway station to your place?
- 8. You'll never get bored with him. He is (witty) student in our group.
- 9. We need a (big) room than this one. There are not enough desks for all the pupils.
- 10. Be (careful) next time or you will hurt yourself easily.
- 11. I'm afraid we can't offer you a (small) size. That's (small) we have.
- 12. The lemon is much (sour) than the tangerine.

Exercise 8. Open the brackets using the adjectives in the comparative or superlative form.

- 1. She was (late) to come to the party.
- 2. We waited for (far) explanation.
- 3. My (old) sister is 5 years (old) than me.
- 4. What is (far) planet from the Sun?
- 5. Today the boss is (late) than usual.
- 6. Can you tell me where (near) bus stop is?
- 7. Betty is (old) of us. She is already 16.
- 8. What is (late) news?
- 9. Which hostel is (near) to the university: Hostel 3 or Hostel 4?
- 10. I seldom buy vegetables and fruit at the green grocer's. It is (far) from my house than the market, so I usually go there.
- 11. Our country is rich in oil and coal. The (late) is mined in the Eastern part.
- 12. Get off at (near) bus stop but two.

Exercise 9. Paraphrase the following sentences.

Model: Margaret is more intelligent than Paula. – Paula is not so (as) intelligent as Margaret.

- 1. John is friendlier than Joan.
- 2. My friend is taller than me.
- 3. Phil is more serious than Pete.
- 4. The cat is smaller than the dog.
- 5. Our teacher is stricter than theirs.
- 6. She is more creative than her friend.
- 7. The students are busier than the pupils.
- 8. They are more experienced than we are.
- 9. This book is more interesting than this one.
- 10. My younger brother is more careless than me.
- 11. The film is more boring than the performance.
- 12. The green dress is more expensive then the blue one.

Exercise 10. Agree with the statements. Use the suggested words.

Model: He and his cousin are the same age. (old) – Yes, he is as old as his cousin is.

- 1. I can trust both Bill and Kate. (trustworthy)
- 2. My cousin and I each weigh 50 kg. (heavy)
- 3. The cottage and the flat are the same price. (expensive)
- 4. Both mother and father work hard. (hard-working)
- 5. Betsy and Mary have both excellent marks in Maths. (good at)
- 6. I enjoyed both: the detective story and the historical novel. (exciting)
- 7. I am usually bored at the lectures in Geometry and Algebra. (boring)
- 8. My uncle and my aunt have been working at the same plant as engineers for 15 years. (experienced)
- 9. These two patients are seriously ill. (weak)
- 10. The students and their teachers have too much work today. (busy)
- 11. Susan and Kate have just been working in the kitchen-garden. (tired)
- 12. These two buildings are both five-storied. (high)

Exercise 11. Compare the following using the adjectives from the box.

Model: This shop is as far from our house as this supermarket.

popular dangerous tall famous expensive difficult high big heavy long

- 1) the History exam/ the Biology exam
- 2) Nick/ father
- 3) our school/ our block of flats
- 4) the hotel room/ the lodging
- 5) her hair/his hair
- 6) your bedroom/ their living room
- 7) the bag/ the suitcase
- 8) football/hockey
- 9) the wolf/ the lion
- 10) the singer/ the artist

Exercise 12. Agree with the statements using one of the suggested expressions.

Model: They just can't get on well. They are very different. – Yes, they are as different as chalk and cheese.

- 1. The facts are quite clear.
- 2. He is cruel to his staff.
- 3. The man is happy and content.
- 4. Sandy has gained much weight.
- 5. She can deceive anybody easily.
- 6. He will never betray my secrets.
- 7. My uncle never loses his temper.
- 8. He can't see anything without his glasses.
- 9. The children haven't eaten anything since morning.

- 10. He always does something and seldom takes a rest.
- 11. The child is very awkward and often breaks things unintentionally.
- 12. Though the man is 50, he is in an excellent state of health and physical condition.

Expressions: as big as a barn, as blind as a bat, as cunning as a fox, as hard as nails, as clumsy as a bull in a china shop, as busy as a bee, as plain as day, as dumb as an oyster, as happy as a clam, as different as chalk and cheese, as fit as a fiddle, as cool as a cucumber, as hungry as a bear.

Exercise 13. Compare these people.

Model A: Chris is younger than Simon. He isn't so young as Adam, though. Adam is the youngest of all.

Name	Chris	Adam	Simon
Age (old)	24	23	27
Height (tall)	1,77 m	1,80 m	1,85 m
Weight (heavy/ light)	76 kilos	70 kilos	73 kilos

Model B: Adam is happier than Simon. Adam is as happy as John. But they are not as happy as Chris. He is the happiest of all.

	Adam	Simon	Chris	John
Нарру	**	*	***	**
Hard- working	*	**	***	**
Smart	***	**	**	*
Polite	***	**	*	**
Cheerful	*	***	**	**

Exercise 14.

A. Fill in the gaps using the suitable form of the adjectives.

We are a company of 4. I'm 18 years old and I'm (young) of my friends. Sally is as (old) as Jill. Cathy is (old) but she is (short) of us.

We are the members of the same class. We study foreign languages: French and German. For me French is (easy) than German but it's (difficult) for Sally. Jill is (good) at languages. It's a pity, Cathy is not so (good) at these subjects as we are but she is (hard-working) and her marks are getting (good) and (good).

I'm fond of my class-mates. We are (friendly) of all.

B. Make up a similar story about your small company.

Exercise 15. Translate the sentences into English.

Α.

- 1. Хто у Вашій родині найталановитіший?
- 2. Допоможи мені нести зелену сумку. Вона важча, ніж чорна.
- 3. Давай купимо котедж. Правда, він дорожчий, ніж квартира, але він більш комфортабельний.
- 4. Лютий найкоротший місяць у році.
- 5. З Кейт цікавіше, ніж із Елізабет. У неї чудове почуття гумору. Елізабет трохи нудна.
- 6. 21 червня найдовший день у році. А який найкоротший?
- 7. Я впевнена, що ця вправа легша, ніж попередня.
- 8. Візьми цю книжку. Вона найзахоплююча з усіх, що ϵ у моїй домашній бібліотеці.
- 9. Сьогодні діти спокійніші, ніж завжди. Що трапилося?
- 10. Дешевші речі справді гірші, ніж дорожчі?
- 11. З ним дуже легко спілкуватися. Він найбільш комунікабельний з моїх друзів.
- 12. Це найстаріший замок у країні, чи не так?

Б.

- 1. Він найвищий з нас усіх, але за віком ми однакові.
- 2. На скільки років твоя старша сестра за тебе старша?
- 3. Де найближчий комп'ютерний центр?
- 4. Ця сукня останній писк моди. Чому вона найдешевша з усіх?
- 5. Яка подальша інформація щодо цієї проблеми?
- 6. Гуртожиток № 5 знаходиться найдалі від усіх інших гуртожитків, але він найбільш комфортабельний.
- 7. Олена та Марія дуже схожі. Олена така ж струнка, як і Марія. Вони обидві світловолосі. Вони сестри?
- 8. Я боюся робити це. Я не такий сміливий, як ти.
- 9. Мої найкращі друзі Біл та Стів. Останній ϵ моїм одногрупником.
- 10. Він часто запізнюється на уроки і завжди останній заходить до класу перед дзвінком.
- 11. Це завдання менш складне, але більш цікаве.
- 12. Це останній вечірній потяг. Наступний буде уранці.

THE NUMERAL

Exercise 1. Read the words, pay attention to the word-stress in numerals.

Exercise 2. Write the numbers in words.

11, 56, 4, 40, 44, 8, 59, 95, 100, 23, 33, 67, 19, 18, 15, 80.

Exercise 3. Say the next number.

40 ____, 66 ____, 43 ____, 25 ____, 17 ____, 12 ____, 98 ____, 14 ____.

Exercise 4. Ask and answer about the letters.

Model: What's A? – Twenty-two.

	one	two	three	four	five	six	seven	eight	nine
twenty		A				J		Н	
thirty	M			Е		Z		Q	
forty			T		F				С
fifty			K				P		
sixty	X			U		D		V	
seventy		L			О				W
eighty				D		Y		S	
ninety	G		N				I		R

Exercise 5. Answer the questions. Write the numbers in full.

Model: How old are you? – Seventeen.

- 1. How old is your mother?
- 2. How many students are there in your group?
- 3. How much is your bag?
- 4. How much are your note-books?
- 5. How much money have you got on you now?
- 6. What size shoes do you wear?
- 7. What size jeans do you wear?

8. How many tables are there in your classroom?9. What's your home telephone number?10. What's your mobile telephone number?11. What's the zip code of your city/ town/ village?

11. What is the zip code of your city, town, vinage.
Exercise 6. Write down the corresponding ordinal numerals. One –
Two
Three –
Four –
Five
Six
Seven –
Eight —
Nine –

Exercise 7. Say these dates.

Model: September 25, 1993. – The twenty-fifth of September, nineteen ninety-three or September the twenty-fifth, nineteen ninty-three

1. May 28, 1974

Ten – _____

Twelve – _____

Seventeen – ____

Twenty – _____

Twenty-two – _____

Thirty-six — _____

- 2. April 12, 1993
- 3. June 21, 1965
- 4. Sepetember 1, 2013
- 5. July 9, 2010
- 6. January 12, 2005
- 7. March 30, 2007
- 8. August 7, 2000
- 9. October 18, 2004
- 10. February 28, 2006

Exercise 8. Answer the questions.

Model: When is your birthday? – On the seventh of August.

- 1. When is your mother's birthday?
- 2. When is your best friend's birthday?
- 3. When is Constitution Day?
- 4. When is Independence Day?
- 5. When is Victory Day?
- 6. When is Christmas Day?
- 7. When is Halloween?
- 8. When is the beginning of the school year?
- 9. When was your school leaving party?
- 10. When do your summer holidays usually start?

Exercise 9. What time is it?. Write in words.

3.10, 5.05, 7.45, 9.25, 10.30, 11.15, 8.30, 7.50, 2.35, 3.27, 12.44, 10.15

Exercise 10. Answer the questions.

Model: When do you usually get up? – At 7 am.

- 1. When do you usally have breakfast?
- 2. When do you usually have dinner?
- 3. When do you have supper?
- 4. When do you usually go to the University?
- 5. When do your classes begin?
- 6. When are your classes over?
- 7. When do you come home after classes?
- 8. When do you start doing your homework?
- 9. When does your favourite TV-progaramme start?
- 10. When do you go to bed?

Exercise 11.

A. Read the dialogue. Act it out.

- What time is it by your watch?
- It's half past five.
- I'm afraid your watch is five minutes fast (slow).
- No, my watch keeps good time.

B. Make up similar dialogues.

THE ADVERB

Exercise 1.

A. Agree with the following statements according to the model.

Model: His writing is illegible. – That's true. He writes very illegibly.

- 1. Sam's pronunciation is not correct.
- 2. Joe's speech is slow.
- 3. Tom's translation is correct.
- 4. Karen's careless about her homework.
- 5. Kim is a quick learner.
- 6. Audrey is an attentive listener.
- 7. Bill is an active member of the English speaking club.
- 8. Betty's spelling is bad.
- 9. Larry is a fluent speaker of English.
- 10.My progress in learning foreign languages is satisfactory.

B. Say if it is true about you.

Model: His writing is illegible. – That's a pity. I write illegibly as well. Not everybody can understand my handwriting.

Exercise 2.

A. Match the adverbs and adjectives/ participles to fill in the blanks.

carefully	anxious
perfectly	unpopular
terribly	planned
incredibly	relaxed
completely	calm
fairly	easy
extremely	organized
well	sure
surprisingly	well
absolutely	quickly

In a few months you will take the exams. Exams are <u>extremely unpopular</u> with students. It really gives butterflies in your stomach and this is not surprising. In fact, it is quite normal to feel ... about exams.

To reduce any pre-exam stress you may talk to your course tutor or get help from your group-mates and remember your stress is not about the exam, but what you think about the exam. Think positively and concentrate on your strength. You can boost your confidence by mentally repeating: "I'm ... and I'm ... that I'll do ...".

Your routine should be Create a schedule so that you can track and monitor your progress. Make sure you allow time for fun and relaxation to avoid burning out.

If you prepare for the exam properly there is no need to worry much. With ... schedule your preparation time will pass ... and productively and the exam will seem

B. What do you feel about the coming exams? Share your feelings with your group-mates.

Exercise 3.

A. Match the adverbs and their definitions.

wide/ widely	a) to the full extent	
	b) to a large extent	
short/ shortly	a) abruptly	
	b) in a short time; soon	
last/ lastly	a) at the end or at the last point	
	b) after all others; at or in the end	
deep/ deeply	a) a long way from	
	b) greatly	
pretty/ prettily	a) in attractive way	
	b) quite or very	
high/ highly	a) at or to a height	
	b) very much	
late/ lately	a) in recent times; of late	
	b) after the correct or expected time	
hard/ hardly	a) scarcely; barely	
	b) with great energy, force, or vigour	
free/ freely	a) without payment	
	b) willingly	
sharp/ sharply	a) exactly	
	b) in an aggressive manner	
near/ nearly	a) not quite; almost; practically	
	b) at or to a place or time not far away; close by	

B. Complete the sentences with an adverb from the box.

Last/ lastly near/ nearly short/ shortly deep/ deeply pretty/ prettily wide/ widely free/ freely sharp/ sharply late/ lately hard/ hardly high/ highly

- 1. It is a ... developed industrial country.
- 2. The tower stands ... above the city.
- 3. I believe that ... I'll make good progress in teaching.
- 4. He comes home ... after work.
- 5. The academic year is ... over.
- 6. You did a ... good job.

- 7. He works ... to do well at the exam.
- 8. You can ... develop your language skills without working systematically.
- 9. Computer programs are ... used in teaching foreign languages.
- 10.It's so stuffy here. Open the door
- 11. Seeing her smile at me ... I can't help smiling in return.
- 12. ... I've been satisfied with his answers.
- 13. ..., put the sentences in the right order.
- 14. Can you work in your computer class ...?
- 15.I never take a bus when going to the University as I live quite ... it.
- 16. What professions are ... respected in the society?
- 17. Your today's answer is ... good.
- 18. To find the lost necklace he had to dive ... into the river.
- 19. The driver stopped ... seeing a policeman ahead.
- 20.It is seven
- 21.He spoke about his past ... as if it didn't hurt him.
- 22. She looked ... at me.

Exercise 4. Choose the correct item.

- 1. As people became old they grow *slow/ slowly* at remembering dates.
- 2. The sky seems *dark/darkly*. Storm must be coming again.
- 3. We looked *anxious/ anxiously* up the street.
- 4. The speaker sounds *hoarse/hoarsely*. Let him drink some water.
- 5. The car looked exceptionally *good/well* for its age.
- 6. The moon appeared *slow/ slowly* from behind the cloud.
- 7. I usually become *impatient/impatiently* when I have to wait.
- 8. Carl appears *sad/sadly* today.
- 9. I went over to comfort him and he looked at me sad/ sadly.
- 10. The weather turned *cold/coldly*.
- 11. She turned cold/coldly away from the salesman.
- 12. The milk smells *rotten/rottenly*. Isn't it sour?
- 13. The doctor felt my leg *careful/ carefully* not to hurt me.
- 14. How sweet/ sweetly that voice sounds.
- 15.I remain *calm/ calmly* whatever happens.
- 16. The sea turned rough/roughly.
- 17. The negotiations proved pointless/pointlessly.
- 18. The newly baked cake smelt so *delicious/deliciously*.
- 19.He smelt the substance *careful/carefully* to make sure what it was.

Exercise 5.

A. Read some foreign language learning tips. Choose the correct item.

- 1. Remember that learning a language is a *gradual/ gradually* process it does not happen overnight.
- 2. Make learning a habit. It's necessary to study a little bit every day to become and stay *proficient/ proficiently*.

- 3. Choose your materials *careful/ carefully*. You will need reading, grammar, writing, speaking and listening materials.
- 4. Find friends to study and speak with. Learning English together can be very enjoyable/enjoyably.
- 5. You should practise what you are learning by employing it actively/ active.
- 6. Move your mouth! Understanding something doesn't mean the muscles of your mouth can produce the sounds. Practise speaking what you are learning aloud. It may seem *strange/strangely*, but it is very *effective/effectively*.
- 7. Be *patient/ patiently* with yourself. Remember learning is a process speaking a language well takes time. It is not a computer that is either on or off!
- 8. Communicate! There is nothing like communicating in English and being *successful/ successfully*. This is vital, as this person can correct you, and teach you more colloquial tricks to help you sound like a native.
- 9. Use the Internet. It is a valuable resource, because it spans the *entire/ entirely* world and it is right at your fingertips.

B. What is your strategy to master the language?

GRAMMAR REFERENCE

The Verb

IMPERSONAL SENTENCES

It is was will be	dark. November. warm in the house. easy to understand it.
-------------------	---

IMPERATIVE SENTENCES

Hurry!	
Wait!	Don't hurry!
Stop!	

THERE IS/ ARE

When a noun representing an indefinite person or thing is the subject of the verb be we normally use a there + be + noun construction:

e.g. There is a mistake in this sentence.

There is no mistake in this sentence.

There aren't any mistakes in this sentence.

Is there a mistake in this sentence?

Note that, though *there* appears to be the subject, the real subject is the noun that follows the verb, and if this noun is plural the verb must be plural too:

e.g. There are some mistakes in this sentence.

THE PRESENT INDEFINITE TENSE

I. The Present Indefinite Tense is formed with the help of the infinitive without the particle *to*. In the third person singular it has the suffix *-s/-es*. The interrogative and the negative forms are built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to do* in the Present Indefinite Tense and the infinitive of the notional verb without the particle *to*.

e.g. I work hard.

I don't work hard.

Do you work hard?

He works hard.

He doesn't work hard.

Does he work hard?

The suffix -s/-es is pronounced:

- [s] after voiceless consonants *cooks*, wants;
- [z] after voiced consonants and vowels *brings*, *answer*;
- [1z] after sibilants [s, z, f, 3, tf, d3] dresses, closes, washes, catches, judges, fixes.

Spelling Rules

In spelling most verbs have the ending -s in the third person singular. The ending -es is added in the following cases:

- if the infinitive ends in -s, -ss, -sh, -ch, -tch, -x passes, wishes, teaches, boxes;
- if the infinitive ends in -y preceded by a consonant in this case -y changes into -i before -es-carries;
- in the verbs to go and to do goes, does.
- II. The Present Indefinite Tense is used:
- to state simple facts, habitual actions in the present:
 - e.g. Cats catch mice.

I spend my summer in the country.

- to state laws of nature, universal truths, in proverbs and sayings:
 - e.g. It snows in winter and it rains in summer in Ukraine.

The sun rises in the east and sets in the west.

A barking dog doesn't bite.

Old love doesn't rust.

- to denote a succession of actions going on at the moment of speaking, when describing the action of a play, opera, etc., in sports commentaries:
- e.g. She comes in, takes off her coat, flings it on the chair and walks over to the mirror.

France kicks off, Zidane passes to Henry, Henry cuts inside...

- to express a future action in adverbial clauses of time and condition after the conjunctions when, till, until, as soon as, before, after, if, unless, in case, on condition that, provided, even if:
 - e.g. If I get a good rest, I'll help you tomorrow.

Note: in object clauses introduced by the conjunctions *when* and *if* the Future Indefinite Tense is used to denote future actions:

e.g. I don't know when she will come.

I'm not sure if she will come at all.

- to express an action going on at the moment of speaking with non-progressive verbs like *believe*, *belong*, *understand*, *need*, *realize*, *remember*, *prefer*:
 - e.g. I believe I understand her.
- to express a future action which is certain to take place according to a timetable, programme, schedule or arrangement:
 - e.g. The ship sails tomorrow.
- to express a past action in past-time contexts to make the narration more vivid, i.e. so called "historic present":
- e.g. Listen to this. Yesterday I come into the kitchen and what do you think I see? My cat is sitting on the table and eating the fish. And she looks so innocent that I have no heart to say anything.
- to denote past actions with the verbs to forget, to hear, to be told:
 - e.g. I forget your address. Will you say it again, please?

I hear you are getting married. We are told he bought a new house.

Common adverbs with this tense are: always, occasionally, as a rule, often, ever, regularly, every day (week ...), seldom, generally, sometimes, never, usually.

THE PAST INDEFINITE TENSE

I. The Past Indefinite Tense of regular verbs is built up by adding the suffix -ed.

e.g. He worked hard.

The suffix -ed is pronounced:

- [t] after voiceless consonants except *t cooked, asked*;
- [d] after voiced consonants except d and after vowels cleaned, answered;
- [1d] after t, d, te, de wanted, ended.

Spelling Rules

- if the infinitive ends in -e, this e is dropped before the ending -ed: love loved;
- if the infinitive ends in -y preceded by a consonant, the final y is changed into i before -ed: envy envied;
- if the infinitive ends in one consonant preceded by a short stressed vowel, the final consonant is doubled before the ending *ed: admit admitted*;
- final r is doubled if the last syllable of the infinitive contains a stressed monophthong: occur occurred;
- final *I* is doubled if it is preceded by a short vowel, stressed or unstressed: *quarrel quarrelled*.

The Past Indefinite Tense of irregular verbs is formed in different ways, mostly by changing the root vowel.

e.g. He sang a new song.

The interrogative and the negative forms are built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to do* in the Past Indefinite Tense and the infinitive of the notional verb without the particle *to*.

e.g. Did he work hard? – No, he didn't. He did not work hard.

Did they do it? — No, they did not do it.

What did they cook for dinner? – They cooked borsch.

II. The Past Indefinite Tense is used to express:

- a single action completed in the past and in no way connected with the present. The time of the action is mostly given or may be implied in the situation.
 - e.g. He arrived yesterday.

They met in Germany in 2008.

- facts; habitual, recurrent actions in the past.
 - e.g She lived alone.

We had no car then.

Every day we got up early in the morning and went to bed at eleven.

- a succession of actions in narration to describe the development of events. *e.g She stood up, smiled and left the room.*
- an action which occupied a whole period of time which is now over. The period of time is usually indicated in the sentence by means of adverbial phrases

with the preposition for or during.

e.g He studied hard for ten years.

I waited for you for twenty minutes yesterday.

We stayed in the country for a long time.

Sometimes you can come across the cases of the so called "historic present", when in past-time contexts present tenses are used to make the narration more vivid.

e.g Just imagine what happened to me yesterday! I come home, open the door and hear...

THE FUTURE INDEFINITE TENSE

I. The Future Indefinite Tense is built up by means of the auxiliary verbs *shall* or *will* and the infinitive of the notional verb without the particle *to*.

e.g. I will visit him soon.

We shall stay here long.

The auxiliary verbs *shall* or *will* are also used to build up the interrogative and the negative forms.

e.g. Shall we see you tomorrow?

We won't see you tomorrow.

- II. The Future Indefinite Tense is used to express:
- the speaker's opinions, assumptions, speculations, predictions about the future, an unplanned future action:
 - e.g. (I suppose) you will like it.

You will find him in the library.

I think I shall remain in love with you all my life.

Perhaps I will come.

- future habitual actions which we assume will take place:
 - e.g. Spring will come again. Birds will build nests.
- an intention or a decision made at the time of speaking, unpremeditated actions:
 - e.g. Someone is knocking on the door. -I'll answer it.

Don't worry. I'll lend you the money.

Common adverbs and word combinations with this tense are: soon, in a day, tomorrow, the day after tomorrow, I think, maybe, perhaps.

BE GOING TO

Be going to is usually used:

- to show a future action or event planned before the moment of speaking:
 - e.g. I am going to explain it once again.
- to talk about the future situation that is already developing:
 - e.g. Look at the sky! It is going to snow.
- to make a prediction, especially if there is evidence in the present to justify the prediction:
 - e.g. This singer is already very popular and he is going to be a star.

Avoid using be going to with the verbs go and come:

e.g. Are you coming to the party tonight?

I am going to the theatre on Saturday evening.

CONDITIONAL I

Note: Adverbial clauses of time and condition

In adverbial clauses of time and condition after the conjunctions when, till, until, as soon as, before, after, if, unless, in case, on condition that, provided, even if a future action is expressed by means of the Present Indefinite Tense:

e.g. If I get a good rest, I'll help you tomorrow.

Note: in object clauses introduced by the conjunctions *when* and *if* the Future Indefinite Tense is used to denote future actions:

e.g. I don't know when she will come.

I'm not sure if she will come at all.

THE PRESENT CONTINUOUS TENSE

I. The Present Continuous Tense is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to be* in the Present Indefinite Tense and Participle I of the notional verb:

e.g. I am listening to you.

The same auxiliary verb is used in the interrogative and the negative forms.

e.g. Are you working? - We are not working.

Is he working? – He is not working.

Spelling Rules of Participle I:

• if a verb ends in a mute -e, this -e is dropped before the ending -ing:

e.g. argue – arguing

hate – hating

The exceptions are **age**, **dye** and **singe** - *ageing*, *dyeing*, *singeing*.

• if a verb ends in one consonant preceded by a short stressed vowel, the final consonant is doubled before the ending *-ing*:

```
e.g. run – running
begin – beginning
```

• a final r is doubled if the last syllable is stressed and has no diphthong:

e.g. refer – referring

• a final -*l* is doubled if it is preceded by a short vowel, stressed or unstressed, except in American English:

 $e.g.\ travel-travelling$

• if a verb ends in -ie, -ie is changed into -y before the ending -ing:

e.g. die – dying

lie – lying

tie – tying

• y is not changed before -ing:

e.g. hurry – hurrying

II. The Present Continuous Tense is used to express:

- an action going on at the moment of speaking:
- e.g. Look, how happily they are smiling!
- an action going on at the present period of time:

e.g. Are you writing a new play?

No sweets for me. I'm slimming.

- to describe things which are changing:
- e.g. The climate is getting warmer and warmer.
- actions generally characterising the person denoted by the subject, bringing out the person's typical traits. Such sentences are emotionally coloured, expressing irritation, disapproval, praise, etc. In such sentences the adverbials *always* or *constantly* are obligatory:

e.g. You're always grumbling!

She's constantly complaining about her neighbours.

• actions which will take place in the near future due to one's previous arrangement. The action is regarded as something definitely settled. We usually find an indication of future time in this case:

e.g. He is taking the children to the zoo on Saturday.

She is getting married soon.

- an action in progress which is simultaneous with some other action or state denoted by the verb in the Present Indefinite Tense. It is used in adverbial clauses of time and condition after the conjunctions *when*, *while*, *as long as*, *if*, *in case*, *unless*.
 - e.g. I never talk when I am working.

Try not to make much noise when you are stirring your tea.

Common adverbs with this tense are: now, just, still, at the moment.

Note: There are a number of verbs in English which are rarely used in a continuous tense. The most common of these verbs are:

verbs denoting existing and being -be, consist of, contain, exist;

verbs denoting physical perceptions – feel, hear, see, smell, taste;

verbs denoting feelings and emotions – adore, desire, despise, detest, dislike, fear, envy, hate, like, loathe, love, need, pity, prefer, respect, trust, want, wish;

verbs denoting mental activity - agree, assume, believe, doubt, expect (= think), feel (= think), forget, imagine, intend, know, mean, perceive, realize, recall, recognize, recollect, remember, suppose, think $(= have \ an \ opinion)$, understand, trust (= believe);

verbs denoting possession – belong to, have (= own), include, lack, owe, own, possess;

verbs of appearance – appear, resemble, seem;

other verbs - concern, depend, deserve, fit, matter, measure, mind, weigh.

The Present Indefinite Tense is used instead in this case:

e.g. Do you understand me?

I recognize you.

However, some of these verbs can be used in a continuous form when they have a different meaning or express a temporary action:

e.g. They have a good shower in the bathroom.

Where is Mary? – She is having a shower. (= taking)

I taste pepper in this dish. (= there is pepper in the dish; involuntary action)

I am tasting this dish. (= I am testing if there is enough pepper in it; intentional action)

I think it's interesting. (= my opinion)
I'm thinking of joining this club. (= am considering)

The fish weighs 5 kilos. (= a characteristic of the fish)
They are weighing the fish to put a price on it. (= action of weighing)

It appears they have not started the preparations yet. (= seem) The rock group is appearing tonight. (= is performing)

The girl is very obedient. (= a permanent characteristic)
The girl is being obedient at the moment. (= a temporary characteristic, is behaving obediently)

The Present Continuous Tense is not usually used with performative verbs in the first person when they are used to "perform" the function they express, i.e. saying *I apologize* performs the action of apologizing:

e.g. On behalf of the company, I apologize for any inconvenience caused.

The company guarantees that your children will be safe.

However, if we use the verb to describe the action rather than to do it, we can use the continuous form:

e.g. The company's executive is apologizing for the inconvenience on TV now. Common performative verbs are: accept, agree, apologize, congratulate, declare, deny, disagree, forbid, forgive, guarantee, insist, invite, order, predict, promise, recommend, refuse, request, say, suggest, thank, and warn.

THE PAST CONTINUOUS TENSE

I. The Past Continuous Tense is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to be* in the Past Indefinite Tense and Participle I of the notional verb:

e.g. I was working hard.

They were reading in silence.

The same auxiliary verb is used in the interrogative and negative forms:

e.g. Were you working? – I was not working. Were they reading? – They were not reading.

II. The Past Continuous Tense is used in the following cases:

• to express an action which was going on at a given moment in the past. In some cases, there is no indication of a given past moment. It is implied in the situation. Sometimes it is indicated with the help of another action in the Past Indefinite

Tense, or by stating the precise time:

e.g. You were taking a shower when I left.

At that moment she was sleeping.

- to express an action going on at a given period of time in the past. The indication of the past period of time is understood from the context or is given in the sentence:
- e.g. What were you doing in London? I was trying to find a job.
- to express a past action which was temporary, changing or developing:
- e.g. I was living at my aunt's then.

The wind was changing.

The symptoms were getting more and more pronounced each day.

- to express an ongoing action which forms the background for past events; the Past Indefinite Tense is used for an action that happened against this background:
- e.g. When I was returning home, I met my former classmate.
- to express two or more simultaneous actions in the past:
- e.g. We were watching the river and listening to the birds.
- to describe past arrangements:
- e.g. She had to leave early as she was taking the next flight to London.
- to express an action generally characterizing the person denoted by the subject, bringing out his (her) typical traits. Often, always, constantly are found in such cases in the sentence. Such sentences are emotionally coloured:
 - e.g. He was always grumbling and mumbling!

She was constantly suffering from headaches.

THE FUTURE CONTINUOUS TENSE

I. The Future Continuous Tense is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to be* in the Future Indefinite Tense and Participle I of the notional verb:

e.g. We will be seeing each other often now.

In the interrogative form the first auxiliary verb is placed before the subject:

e.g. Shall we be seeing each other often now?

In the negative form the negative particle *not* is placed after the first auxiliary:

e.g. We won't be seeing each other often now.

II. The Future Continuous Tense is used to express:

- an action in progress at a definite future moment. The given future moment at which the action takes place is usually indicated by an adverbial modifier or is clear from the context or situation:
- e.g. Don't come to my place at 7. I'll be packing.
- an anticipated (a matter-of-course) action which is supposed to take place in the future in the normal, natural course of events:
- e.g. I will be working in the garden tomorrow.

She feels she'll be suffering all her life.

THE PRESENT PERFECT TENSE

I. The Present Perfect is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to have* in the Present Indefinite Tense and Participle II of the notional verb.

e.g They have met at last.

She has finished her work already.

The same auxiliary verb is used to form the interrogative and the negative forms.

e.g Have you ever met?

He has not finished her work yet.

II. The Present Perfect is used in present time contexts, i.e. conversations, letters, newspapers and television and radio reports. It is not found in narration where reference is usually made to past events. The Present Perfect Tense may be **resultative** (**exclusive**) and **durative** (**inclusive**).

I. The Present Perfect Resultative (Exclusive) is used to denote a completed action connected with the present through its result.

e.g I've bought a new TV set.

You can't see him here, he has gone away.

The Present Perfect Tense is used when the time of the action is usually indefinite.

e.g The Professor has arrived. He is in the staff room.

The Present Perfect Tense isn't used with a definite time in the past. The Past Indefinite Tense is used then.

e.g The Professor arrived half an hour ago.

The Present Perfect may be found with certain adverbs of indefinite time and frequency such as ever, just, already, before, never, not ... yet, lately, of late, so far.

e.g Have you seen him lately?

I haven't even had breakfast yet.

We have learned five tenses so far.

The Present Perfect Tense is possible with adverbial modifiers of time that denote a period of time which is not over yet: *today, this morning, this week, this month, this year*. But if the period is over, the Past Indefinite Tense is used.

e.g I haven't seen him today. (today is not over yet).

Did you see him this morning? (It is no longer morning)

In special questions introduced by *where, how, who, what, why, what ... for* both the Present Perfect and the Past Indefinite Tense are possible. The choice of tense in such cases is situational.

e.g Why have you done this to me? (I'm upset)

Why did you do this? (at a certain past moment)

In "when"-questions only the Past Indefinite Tense is used.

e.g When did you come?

When did it happen?

The Present Perfect Tense is used in adverbial clauses of time introduced by the conjunctions *when*, *before*, *as soon as*, *till and until* to stress the completion of the action of the subordinate clause before the action of the principal one.

e.g We'll talk about it when you've settled your problems.

II. The Present Perfect Durative (Inclusive) is used to expresses an action which began before the moment of speaking and continues into it. This grammatical meaning is mainly expressed by the Present Perfect Progressive. However, the Present Perfect Durative is found with verbs that cannot be used in the continuous form. The whole period of the duration of the action may be marked by prepositional phrases with *for*. The starting point of the action is indicated by *since*.

e.g She has been sick since Monday.

I've known this man for many years.

They have had a car for as long as I can remember.

The Present Perfect Durative (Inclusive) may also express an action that began in the past, continued for some time and has just stopped.

e.g I haven't seen you for ages!

THE PAST PERFECT TENSE

I. The Past Perfect is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to have* in the Past Indefinite Tense and Participle II of the notional verb.

e.g. I had finished my work by that time.

The same auxiliary verb is used in the interrogative and the negative forms.

e.g. Had you finished your work by that time?

I hadn't finished my work by that time.

The Past Perfect Tense is mainly found in narration and in past-time contexts.

II. The Past Perfect Tense is used to express:

- an action completed before a given past moment. The time of the action may be indicated by a phrase or by another past action.
 - $e.g.\ By\ 8\ o\ 'clock\ she\ had\ cooked\ breakfast\ and\ tidied\ the\ kitchen.$

She looked tired. She had been up with the baby the whole night.

- an action which began before a given past moment and continues into it or up to it. In this case the Past Perfect Tense is found with the verbs not used in the continuous tense forms. Here *for* is used to indicate a whole period of duration of the action, *since* indicates its starting point.
 - e.g. He mentioned that he had known the teacher for three years.

 She told me he had been badly ill since she (had) returned from Africa.

Note: In clauses of time introduced by *since* the Past Indefinite Tense is commonly used, though the Past Perfect Tense is also possible.

- the Past Perfect Tense is often used in combination with the Past Continuous Tense when both actions are viewed from the same past moment. One action is completed before that past implied moment while the other is still in progress.
 - e.g. It had stopped raining and the sun was shining again.
- the Past Perfect Tense is found in the principal clause of a complex sentence with a subordinate clause of time introduced by the conjunctions *scarcely... when, hardly... when, nearly... when, no sooner... than.* The action of the subordinate clause takes place when the action of the principal clause is hardly completed yet.

Such sentences are emphatic in meaning and the word order in them may be inverted.

- e.g. I had hardly closed my eyes when I fell asleep. Hardly had I closed my eyes when I fell asleep.
- the Past Perfect Tense is found in the principal clause of a complex sentence with *when*-clauses or *before*-clauses to express an unaccomplished action, the predicative verb is always in the negative form, there is always some indication of measure in such sentences.
- e.g. We hadn't been in the house for twenty minutes when she got acquainted with everybody.

They hadn't covered five miles before it started raining.

Such sentences are translated into Ukrainian as *не пробув я там і двадцяти* xвилин, як..., не пройшли вони і п'яти міль, <math>як..., не встигли вони ... як, etc.

- the Past Perfect Tense may be found in subordinate clauses of time to emphasize the completion of the action.
 - e.g. When he had left the room, I began my story.

I waited till she had calmed down.

THE FUTURE PERFECT TENSE

- I. The Future Perfect Tense is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to have* in the Future Indefinite Tense and *Participle II* of the notional verb:
 - e.g. I will have read the book by Friday.

In the interrogative form the first auxiliary verb is placed before the subject:

- e.g. Will she have found the address by that time?
- In the negative form the negative particle *not* is placed after the first auxiliary.
 - e.g. She will not have finished the work by that time.
- II. The Future Perfect Tense is used to express an action completed before a given future moment which is usually indicated by an adverbial modifier of time:
 - e.g. You will have forgotten me by that time.

THE PRESENT PERFECT CONTINUOUS TENSE

- I. The Present Perfect Continuous Tense is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to be* in the Present Perfect Tense and the *ing-form* of the notional verb (Participle I):
 - e.g. I have been working here for ten years.
 - e.g. She has been reading the article for an hour.

In the interrogative form the first auxiliary verb is placed before the subject:

- e.g. Have you been working here long?
- e.g. Has she been reading the article for an hour?

In the negative form the negative particle not is placed after the first auxiliary verb:

e.g. We have not been reading this book long.

- II. This tense is found in present time contexts, i.e. conversations, newspapers and radio reports, lectures and letters. It has two uses: the Present Perfect Progressive Durative (Inclusive) and the Present Perfect Progressive Resultative (Exclusive).
- 1. The Present Perfect Progressive (Inclusive) serves to express an action in progress which began before the moment of speaking and continues into it. In this case either the starting point of the action or the period of time during which it has been in progress is usually indicated:
 - e.g. It has been snowing for a week.
 - e.g. I've been translating the article since morning and so I shall soon stop.
- 2. The Present Perfect Progressive (Exclusive) serves to express an action which was in progress quite recently and which in one way or another affects the present situation, explains the state of things at the present moment. In this case, as a rule, there is no indication of time:
 - e.g. You look tired. Have you been working hard?
 - e.g. I'm sorry the room is such a mess. We've been decorating it.

Note: The Present Perfect Continuous Tense is not commonly found in the negative sentences, when it is the action itself that is completely negated. The Present Perfect Tense is preferred in this case:

e.g. I haven't read newspapers for the last three days.

However, the Present Perfect Continuous Tense is also found in negative sentences, in this case the negation does not refer to the action itself but to the circumstances attending the action:

e.g. He hasn't been working hard recently. (=He has been working recently but his work hasn't been hard)

MODAL VERBS

Modal verbs express the speaker's attitude towards the action in the sentence. We find the following modal verbs in English: *can, may, must, to have to, to be to, ought to, should, need.* Most of the modal verbs have more than one meaning. They all show that a certain action is represented as necessary, possible, desirable, doubtful, or obligatory from the point of view of the speaker.

Modal verbs have the following peculiarities:

- they are followed by the infinitive without the particle *to* (with the exception of *ought to, to have to* and *to be to*);
- their interrogative and negative forms are built up without the auxiliary verb (except the verb *have to*);
- they do not have many forms characteristic of regular verbs: no -s in the third person singular in the Present Indefinite Tense, no verbals, some of them have no form of the past tense.

THE MODAL VERB CAN

The modal verb can has two tense-forms: can (the Present Indefinite) – could (the Past Indefinite).

Can is used to express the following meanings:

1) ability (mental, physical or circumstantial):

e.g. He can count very quickly.

He could read when he was 5.

She can run very fast.

We can have much fun together.

The modal equivalent to be able to can be used in all tense forms:

e.g. Don't worry! I am quite able to take care of myself.

I am happy I was able to help you.

No doubt they will be able to support us.

- 2) permission, request in affirmative and interrogative sentences, prohibition in negative sentences:
 - e.g. Can I help you? Yes, you can cut some sandwiches if you like.

You can't cross the street here.

Could expresses a more polite request:

e.g. Could you come a bit earlier?

THE MODAL VERB MAY

The modal verb *may* has two tense-forms: *may* (the Present Indefinite) – *might* (the Past Indefinite).

May can express the following meanings:

- 1) permission, request (more formal than can):
 - e.g. You may take my dictionary if you need.

May I stay here? – No, you mustn't.

- 2) possibility due to circumstances (only in affirmative sentences):
 - e.g. You may find a lot of rare books in this library.

THE MODAL VERB MUST

The modal verb *must* has only one tense-form – the Present Indefinite. It is used to refer an action to the present or future:

e.g. You must remember this rule.

You must do it tomorrow.

Must can express the following meanings:

- 1) obligation, duty, necessity:
 - e.g. We must help old people.

Must he help his siblings?

Note: absence of necessity is expressed by the verb to need or have to:

e.g. You needn't hurry. There is a lot of time.

You don't have to do it alone.

- 2) prohibition (in negative sentences):
 - e.g. You must not smoke in this room.
- 3) strong advice:
 - e.g. You must be more careful.

You really must take these pills.

THE PASSIVE VOICE

The Passive Voice is the form of the verb which shows whether the subject of the sentence is the doer of the action expressed by the verb or whether it is acted upon. There are two voices in English – the Active Voice and the Passive Voice.

The Active Voice shows that the person or thing denoted by the subject of the sentence is the agent (the doer) of the action expressed by the predicate verb.

It is common knowledge that the Passive Voice is more extensively used in English than in Ukrainian. As a general rule, *the Passive Voice* is used when there is no need to mention the agent of the action because it is either easily understood from the situation or context, or because it is not important.

e.g. Her brother was sacked.

The telegram had been delivered on time.

The Passive Voice is built up by means of the auxiliary verb *to be* in the required form and *Participle II* of the notional verb.

The interrogative form is built up by placing the (first) auxiliary verb before the subject of the sentence.

e.g. When was the window broken?

Has the room been done?

When will the fax be sent?

Where is the mall being built?

The negative form is built up by placing the particle *not* after the (first) auxiliary.

e.g. The work was not finished yesterday.

The room hasn't been aired yet.

The Passive Voice in English is found with different types of verb, but mostly with transitive verbs.

- e.g. These trees were planted by my parents.
- There are a number of verbs in English which take two objects a direct and an indirect object. These verbs may have two passive constructions. The most frequently used verbs of this kind are: to tell, to give, to offer, to show, to pay, to live, to promise, to send, to teach, to allow, to ask, to answer, to forgive, to invite, to advise and a few others.
 - e.g. A very good job was offered to my brother.

He was offered a well-paid job.

- There are a great number of verbs in English that require a prepositional object. These verbs may also be used in the Passive. The preposition retains its place after the verb. This construction may be called *the Prepositional Passive*.
 - e.g. The book is much spoken about.

The children will be looked after.

• The Prepositional Passive is not used with verbs which take two objects, direct and prepositional. Here belong such verbs as *to explain* (something to somebody), *to point out, to announce, to dictate, to describe, to mention, to repeat, to suggest, to propose.*

- e.g. The problem was explained to the staff. The mistake was pointed out to the students.
- **Note 1:** The active forms of the verbs sell, wash, peel, crease, wear, bake, burn are used though the meanings are passive.
 - e.g. This stuff washes and wears well and doesn't crease. Detective stories sell well. Dry leaves burn well.
- **Note 2:** There is a certain group of transitive verbs which are not used in the Passive Voice, as these verbs don't denote actions or processes, but states. They are: to have, to belong, to seem, to lack, to become, to fit, to suit, to resemble.
 - e.g. Wendy resembles her father. (She looks like his father). He has become a professional.

They seem to know everybody here.

- *Note 3:* In colloquial speech *get* is sometimes used instead of *be*.
 - e.g. The egg got broken. How did she get hurt?

REPORTED SPEECH STATEMENTS IN INDIRECT SPEECH

Direct Speech \Rightarrow

Indirect Speech

Wendy says (that) she has a lot of Wendy says, "*I have* a lot of problems". ⇒ problems.

The children say, "Our classroom is very The children say (that) their classroom is very light. light". ⇒

There are a number of introductory verbs which are used to report statements: say, tell, add, continue, answer, reply, mention, remark, etc.

IMPERATIVE SENTENCES IN INDIRECT SPEECH

Direct Speech \Rightarrow

Indirect Speech

Helen said to me, "Call me in the Helen asked me to call her in the evening". ⇒ evening. She said to me, "Don't worry over such She asked me not to worry over such a small thing. a small thing". \Rightarrow

There are a number of introductory verbs which are used to report commands: tell, order, command and forbid (negative).

GENERAL QUESTIONS IN INDIRECT SPEECH

Direct Speech \Rightarrow

Indirect Speech

She often asks me, "Are you listening to She often asks me if I am listening to

German well?"⇒

They usually ask me, "Do you speak They usually ask me whether I speak German well.

SPECIAL QUESTIONS IN INDIRECT SPEECH

Direct Speech \Rightarrow

Indirect Speech

They often ask me, "What do you study at college?'⇒

what I study at college.

They often ask me, "Why do you want to be a teacher?"⇒

why I want to be a teacher.

teacher.

They often ask me, "When are you going to give up smoking?"⇒

when I am going to give up

smoking.

They often ask me, "Where did you study English?"⇒

where I studied English.

They often ask me, "How will you help us?"⇒

how I will help them.

The most common verbs for reporting questions are ask and want to know.

THE RULES OF THE REPORTED SPEECH

When we report what someone said we need to show any changes in the situation, for example, in the speaker, the time or place. Here are some typical changes of time phrases in reported speech.

Direct statements	Reported statements
now	then, at that time
today	that day, last Tuesday etc.
yesterday	the day before, the previous day
tomorrow	the next day, the following day
this week	last week, that week
last year	the year before, the previous year
next month	the month after, the following month
an hour ago	an hour before, an hour earlier
here	there
this	that
these	those

[!] However, we often omit the time reference if it is not important.

The announcer said (that) they were unable to announce the results.

e.g. 'We are unable to announce the results this evening'.

Here are some basic rules of reported speech to follow:

Reported Speech			
Direct statements	Reported statements		
Present simple (I do)	Past Simple (I did)		
Present Continuous (I am doing)	Past Continuous (I was doing)		
Present Perfect (I have done)	Past Perfect (I had done)		
Past Simple (I did)	Past Simple (I did) or Past Perfect (I		
	had done)		
Past Continuous (I was doing)	Past Continuous (I was doing) or Past		
(this frequently does not change in	Perfect Continuous (I had been doing)		
reported speech)			
Past Perfect (I had done)	no change possible		
Past Perfect Continuous (I had been	no change possible		
doing)			
will	would		
is going	was going		
can	could		
might/may	might		
must	had to		

The Noun

THE PLURAL OF NOUNS

The plural of a noun is usually made by adding the ending -(e)s to the singular of nouns:

```
e.g. a day – days
    a dog – dogs
    a cat – cats
The ending -s is pronounced as
[s] – after voiceless consonants:
    e.g. a book – books
[z] – after vowels and voiced consonants:
    e.g. a bee – bees
a room – rooms
[□z] – after the sounds [s], [z], [∫], [ʒ], [t∫], [dʒ]:
    e.g. a sentence – sentences
    a pause – pauses
    a dish – dishes
```

*an orange – oranges*The ending *-es* is added to the nouns ending in:

a garage – garages a watch – watches

-s, -ch, -tch, -sh, -ss or -x:
 e.g. a bus – buses
 a dress – dresses
 a torch – torches
 a watch – watches

a wish – wishes

a fox - foxes

• -y following a consonant; the y is changed into i:

e.g. a city – cities

a fly – flies

Note: nouns ending in -y following a vowel form their plural by adding -s:

e.g. a boy – boys a guy – guys

• -*o* following a consonant:

e.g. a hero – heroes

Note: words of foreign origin or abbreviated words ending in -o add -s only:

e.g. a kimono – kimonos

a piano – pianos

Twelve nouns ending in -f or -fe drop the -f or -fe and add -ves. These nouns are calf, half, knife, leaf, life, loaf, self, sheaf, shelf, thief, wolf, wife:

```
e.g. a wolf – wolves
a loaf – loaves
a wife – wives
```

```
Other words ending in -f or -fe add -s in the ordinary way:
    e.g. a cliff – cliffs
       a handkerchief – handkerchiefs
A few nouns form their plural by a vowel change:
    e.g. a foot – feet
       a goose – geese
       a tooth – teeth
       a louse – lice
       a mouse – mice
        a man – men
        a woman – women
The plurals of child and ox are children, oxen.
Names of certain creatures do not change in the plural: deer, sheep, swine, fish.
Some words borrowed from Greek or Latin make their plurals according to the
rules of Greek and Latin:
    e.g. a crisis ['krassis] – crises ['krassi:z]
       a phenomenon – phenomena
       a radius – radii
        a memorandum – memoranda
        oasis [3v'e1s1s] -oases [3v'e1s1:z]
Certain words are always plural and take a plural verb:
    e.g. clothes, police, arms (weapons), premises/ quarters, earnings, riches,
goods/ wares, savings, greens (vegetables), spirits (alcohol), stairs, outskirts,
surroundings, pains (trouble/ effort), valuables;
garments consisting of two parts – breeches, pants, pyjamas, trousers;
tools and instruments consisting of two parts – binoculars, pliers, scissors, spectacles,
glasses, scales, shears etc.
A number of words end in -s but normally take a singular verb:
    e.g. sciences – ethics, mathematics, physics, politics;
sports – athletics, aerobics, gymnastics;
diseases – mumps, rickets;
games – billiards, darts, draughts, bowls, dominoes etc.
    e.g. news – The news is good.
In compound nouns normally the last word is made plural:
    e.g. boy-friends
```

e.g. boy-friends break-ins

travel agents

But where man and woman is prefixed both parts are made plural:

e.g. men drivers women drivers

The first word is made plural with compounds composed of noun + preposition + noun:

```
e.g. ladies-in-waiting sisters-in-law
```

Initials can be made plural:

e.g. MPs (Members of Parliament)
VIPs (very important persons)

OAPs (old age pensioners)

UFOs (unidentified flying objects)

THE POSSESSIVE CASE OF NOUNS

The form of the possessive case 's is used with singular nouns and plural nouns not ending in -s:

e.g. a child's voice

the children's room

A simple apostrophe (') is used with plural nouns ending in -s:

e.g. a girls' school

the students' hostel

Classical names ending in -s usually add only the apostrophe:

e.g. Pythagoras' Theorem

Archimedes' Law

Other names ending in -s can take 's or the apostrophe alone:

e.g. Mr Jones's house or Mr Jones' house.

With compounds, the last word takes the 's:

e.g. my brother-in-law's car

Names consisting of several words take the 's:

e.g. Henry the Eighth's wives

The 's can also be used after initials:

e.g. the PM's secretary

The possessive case is chiefly used of people, countries or animals as shown above. It can also be used:

- of ships and boats
 - e.g. the ship's bell, the yacht's mast
- of planes, trains, cars and other vehicles, though here the *of construction* is safer:

e.g. a glider's wings or the wings of a glider the train's heating system or the heating system of the train

• in time expressions

e.g. a week's holiday today's paper tomorrow's weather in two years' time ten minutes' break (or a ten-minute break)

• with for + noun + sake

e.g. for heaven's sake, for goodness' sake

• in a few expressions such as:

e.g. a stone's throw journey's end the water's edge Sometimes certain nouns can be used in the possessive case without the second noun:

e.g. a/ the baker's/ butcher's/ chemist's/ florist's etc. can mean a /the baker's/ butcher's etc. shop

Names of people in the Possessive Case can sometimes be used to mean *sb's house*:

e.g. We had dinner at Ann's.

The Pronoun

PERSONAL PRONOUNS

The personal pronouns are used to refer to both people and objects. There are cases for personal pronouns – the nominative case and the objective case.

The personal pronouns *in the nominative case* are used instead of a noun as the subject of a verb:

Wendy works hard. She is a top student.

The personal pronouns *in the objective case* are used instead of a noun as a direct or indirect object:

e.g. I met Wendy and Paul yesterday. I saw them in the library.

There are some cases where we can use either personal pronouns in the nominative case or personal pronouns in the objective case. After *as* and *than* in comparative patterns, we use personal pronouns in the nominative case only in very formal English; personal pronouns in the objective case are more common in such sentences.

e.g. Formal: Wendy plays tennis better than I.

Informal: Wendy plays tennis better than me.

After *as* and *than* in comparative patterns, we can use personal pronouns in the nominative case with an auxiliary or modal verb:

e.g. Wendy plays tennis better than I do.

Wendy plays tennis better than I can.

Personal Pronouns		
The Nominative Case	The Objective Case	
I	me	
you	you	
he	him	
she	her	
it	it	
we	us	
they	them	

POSSESSIVE PRONOUNS

Possessive Pronouns		
The Conjoint The Absolut		
Form	Form	
my	mine	
your	yours	
his	his	
her	hers	
its	its	
our	ours	
their	theirs	

The possessive pronouns are used to express "belonging". There are two forms of possessive pronouns: the conjoint form and the absolute form.

The possessive pronouns *in the conjoint form* are used before nouns:

e.g. I like **their** house.

The possessive pronouns *in the absolute form* are used instead of the possessive pronouns in the conjoint form and the noun:

e.g. I like their house. Ours is older and smaller.

REFLEXIVE PRONOUNS

The reflexive pronouns are formed with -self/selves. They are used when the subject and object are the same person or thing.

e.g. Quick! The child has hurt himself.

Reflexive Pronouns
myself
yourself/ yourselves
himself
herself
itself
ourselves
themselves

Remember the idiomatic phrases: *enjoy oneself* (to have a good time), *help oneself* (to take food), *behave oneself* (behave well).

e.g. The boys behaved themselves while we were away.

Help yourself to some apples.

The phrase by oneself (by myself, by yourself, etc.) means "alone" or "without help".

- e.g. The flowerbed looks amazing. Did Wendy do it all by herself? Remember the verbs which do not usually take reflexive pronouns wash, dress, feel, hurry.
 - e.g. I feel well today.

The reflexive pronouns can be used to emphasize the subject or object of a sentence. The pronoun can come after the subject, after the auxiliary verb or the verb, after the object or at the end of the sentence.

e.g. I have checked the results several times myself. I myself checked the results several times.

DEMONSTRATIVE PRONOUNS

The demonstrative pronouns are this-these, that-those.

The general demonstrative meaning of these pronouns is "near and distant reference" in time and space.

This/these identify something near to the speaker, they are associated with "here". **That/those** identify something farther from the speaker; they are associated with "there":

e.g. this house – that town these students – those teachers

INDEFINITE PRONOUNS

Some and any mean "an indefinite number or amount".

Some is used with affirmative verbs:

e.g. We bought some butter.

In interrogative and negative sentences *some* is changed into *any* or *no*. However, *some* remains unchanged in offers and requests or when the question or negation doesn't concern the part of the sentence containing *some*:

e.g. Would you like some tea?

Could you do some translating for me?

She couldn't understand some of my questions.

Any is used with negative verbs and in questions, with words hardly, barely, scarcely, without (= with no):

e.g. Have you got any French books? — I haven't got any French books. — I have no French books.

We have hardly any sugar in the house.

He translated the text without any difficulty/ with no difficulty.

In affirmative sentences any means "it doesn't matter who, what or which":

e.g. You can take any book.

Some, **any**, **every** and **no** combine with nouns or adverbs to form compound pronouns or adverbs:

promoting of act of the			
person	object	place	manner
someone/somebody anyone/anybody	something anything	somewhere anywhere	somehow anyhow
everyone/everybody no one/ nobody	everything nothing	everywhere nowhere	

THE PRONOUNS MUCH and MANY, LITTLE and FEW

The pronoun *many* means "a large number" and is used before countable nouns in the plural:

e.g. Paul hasn't many companions.

The pronoun *much* means "a large amount" and is used before uncountable nouns:

e.g. There isn't much cheese left.

Much and **many** are used mainly in interrogative and negative sentences and in object clauses introduced by "if" or "whether":

e.g. Did you have much money on your holiday?

She hasn't very much information to give us.

Do you know if many students will participate in the competition?

A lot of, lots of, plenty of, a great deal of, a large number of, a good many, a great many are used instead of much and many in affirmative sentences:

e.g. There is a lot of information to discuss.

Lots of girls are fond of dancing.

They made a great many mistakes in the last test.

Much and **many** can be used in affirmative sentences:

- a) when they are subjects or modify the subject of the sentence:
 - e.g. Much will depend on her decision.

Many people support this idea.

- b) when *much* is used in the function of an object:
 - e.g. His support meant much to me.
- c) when *much* and *many* are modified by so, too, as and how:
 - e.g. We've got too many questions to discuss today.

We've lost too much time.

The pronoun *few* means "a small number" and can be used with countable nouns in the plural:

e.g. I have few friends.

The pronoun *little* means "a small amount" and is used with uncountable nouns:

e.g. We know little information about his life.

Both *little* and *few* have a negative meaning – they mean "not enough":

e.g. You have few mistakes. Your mark is "good".

We have little sugar. Go and buy some.

A little and a few have a positive meaning – they mean "some, though not much/many":

e.g. She has a few relatives here.

We have a little time – let's write a short test.

The Adjective

DEGREES OF COMPARISON OF ADJECTIVES

There are three degrees of comparison:

Positive	Comparative	Superlative
dark	darker	darkest
tall	taller	tallest
useful	more useful	most useful

We use comparative adjectives to compare two or more things or people, and superlative adjectives to distinguish one thing or person from a number of others:

e.g. Simon is taller than his three brothers.

Simon is the tallest of the four boys.

One-syllable adjectives form their comparative and superlative degree by adding -er and -est to the positive form:

```
e.g. bright brighter brightest
```

Adjectives of two syllables ending in *-er*, *-y*, *-e* or *-ow* usually add *-er*, *-est*:

```
e.g. clever cleverer cleverest
pretty prettier prettiest
silly sillier silliest
brave braver bravest
narrow narrower narrowest
```

The following spelling rules should be observed:

• adjectives ending in -y preceded by a consonant, change the -y into -i before the endings -er and -est:

```
e.g. heavy heavier heaviest
```

But adjectives ending in -y preceded by a vowel, remain unchanged:

```
e.g. gay gayer gayest
```

• monosyllabic adjectives with a short vowel double their final consonants:

```
e.g. big bigger biggest thin thinner thinnest
```

But monosyllabic adjectives ending in a double consonant remain unchanged:

```
e.g. thick thicker thickest
fresh fresher freshest
```

• if adjectives end in -e, it is dropped before the ending -er and -est:

```
e.g. pale paler palest
```

Adjectives of three or more syllables form their comparative and superlative by putting *more* and *most* before the positive:

```
e.g. interested more interested most interested frightening more frightening most frightening
```

Irregular comparisons:

bad	worse	worst
far	farther	farthest (of distance only)
further	furthest (used more	widely)
near	nearer	nearest (of distance)
nearer	next (of order)	
good	better	best
little	less	least
many/ much	more	most
old	elder	eldest (of people only, chiefly

for comparisons within a family)

older oldest (of people and things)

later (refer to time) latest ("most recent")

latter last (of order)

If two equal things are compared, we use *as* ... *as* in the affirmative sentences and *not as/not so* ... *as* in the negative sentences:

e.g. The boy was as tall as his elder brother.

The reference book isn't so expensive as the dictionary.

The Numeral

CARDINAL NUMERALS

1. one	11.eleven	21.twenty-one	31. thirty-one
2. two	12.twelve	22.twenty-two	40. forty
3. three	13.thirteen	23.twenty-three	50. fifty
4. four	14.fourteen	24.twenty-four	60. sixty
5. five	15.fifteen	25.twenty-five	70. seventy
6. six	16.sixteen	26.twenty-six	80. eighty
7. seven	17.seventeen	27.twenty-seven	90. ninety
8. eight	18.eighteen	28.twenty-eight	100. a hundred
9. nine	19.nineteen	29.twenty-nine	1000. a thousand
10.ten	20.twenty	30.thirty	1000000. a million

When writing in words, or reading, a number composed of three or more figures we place *and* before the word denoting tens or units:

e.g. 713 - seven hundred and thirteen

5,102 – five thousand, one hundred and two but

6,100 – six thousand, one hundred (no tens or units)

320,410 - three hundred and twenty thousand, four hundred and ten

303,000,000 – three hundred and three million

The words *hundred*, *thousand*, *million* and *dozen*, when used of a definite number, are never made plural:

e.g. six hundred men ten thousand pounds two dozen eggs

If these words are used merely to convey the idea of a large number, they must be made plural:

e.g. hundreds of people thousands of birds dozens of times

ORDINAL NUMERALS

first	eleventh	twenty-first	thirty-first
second	twelfth	twenty-second	fortieth
third	thirteenth	twenty-third	fiftieth
fourth	fourteenth	twenty-fourth	sixtieth
fifth	fifteenth	twenty-fifth	seventieth
sixth	sixteenth	twenty-sixth	eightieth
seventh	seventeenth	twenty-seventh	ninethieth
eighth	eighteenth	twenty-eighth	hundredth
ninth	nineteenth	twenty-ninth	thousandth
tenth	twentieth	thirtieth	millionth

Notice the irregular spelling of *fifth*, *eighth*, *ninth* and *twelfth*.

When ordinal numbers are expressed in figures the last two letters of the written word must be added (except in dates):

```
e.g. \ first = 1^{st} twenty-first = 21^{st} second = 2^{nd} forty-second = 42^{nd}third = 3^{rd} sixty-third = 63^{rd} fourth = 4^{th} eightieth = 80^{th}
```

The Adverb

A considerable number of adverbs are formed from adjectives by adding -ly.

 $e.g.\ calm-calmly,\ happy-happily.$

The following spelling rules should be observed:

- adjectives ending in -y change it to -i:
 - $e.g.\ gay-gaily,\ busy-busily,\ happy-happily,\ but:\ dry-dryly/drily;$
- adjectives ending in -able/ ible drop the final -e and add -y:
 - $e.g.\ capable-capably,\ suitable-suitably,\ sensible-sensibly;$
- adjectives ending in -l double it:
 - $e.g.\ skilful-skilfully,\ final-finally,\ beautiful-beautifully.$

But adverbs cannot be formed from adjectives ending in -ly, such as manly, friendly, silly, lively, fatherly, etc. An adverbial phrase is used in this case instead of an adverb.

e.g. in a silly way, in a friendly manner.

Some adverbs have the same form as the corresponding adjective – *close*, *dead*, *fast*, *fine*, *long*, *low*, *pretty*, *short*, *straight*, *wide*, *wrong*.

e.g. She ran very fast.

Some other adverbs have two forms – the adjective form and the form in -ly. In most cases the two forms differ in meaning.

direct = without stopping

late = not on time, not early

high = to a great height

hard = with a lot of effort, severely

right = direction, correctly

free = without paying

deep = to a great depth, distance

pretty = very

close = not far away, near

directly = immediately, very soon

lately = recently

highly = extremely

hardly = scarcely, almost not

rightly = correctly in my opinion

freely = without limitation or control

deeply = thoroughly

prettily = beautifully

closely = very carefully

LIST OF IRREGULAR VERBS

INFINITIVE	SIMPLE PAST	PAST PARTICIPLE

be was, were been

bear bore born

beat beat beaten

become became become

begin began begun

bend bent bent

bite bit bitten

blow blown blown

break broke broken

bring brought brought

build built built

burn burnt, burned burnt, burned

buy bought bought

cast cast cast

catch caught caught

choose chose chosen

come came come

cost cost cost

cut cut cut

deal dealt dealt

dig dug dug

do did done

draw drew drawn

dream dreamt, dreamed dreamt, dreamed

drink drank drunk

drive drove driven

eat ate eaten

fall fell fallen

feed fed fed

feel felt felt

fight fought fought

find found found

fly flew flown

forbid forbad, forbade forbid, forbidden

forecast forecast, forecasted forecast, forecasted

forget forgot forgotten

freeze froze frozen

get got got

give gave given

go went gone

grow grew grown

hang hung hung

have had had

hear heard heard

hide hid hidden, hid

hit hit hit

hold held held

hurt hurt hurt

keep kept kept

kneel knelt, kneeled knelt, kneeled

knit knitted, knit knitted, knit

know knew known

laid laid

lead led led

lean leant, leaned leant, leaned

leap leapt, leaped leapt, leaped

learn learnt, learned learnt, learned

leave left left

lend lent lent

let let let

lie lay lain

light lit, lighted lit, lighted

lose lost lost

make made made

mean meant meant

meet met met

pay paid paid

put put put

quit quit, quitted quit, quitted

read read read

ride rode ridden

ring rang rung

rise rose risen

run ran run

say said said

see saw seen

sell sold sold

send sent sent

set set set

sew sewed sewn, sewed

shake shook shaken

shine shone shone

shoot shot shot

show showed shown

shrink shrank shrunk

shut shut shut

sing sang sung

sink sank sunk

sit sat sat

sleep slept slept

smell smelt, smelled smelt, smelled

speak spoke spoken

spend spent spent

spill spilled spilt, spilled

spin spun spun

spit spat spat

split split split

spoil spoiled spoilt, spoiled

spread spread spread

spring sprang, sprung sprung

stand stood stood

steal stole stolen

stick stuck stuck

sting stung stung

stink stank, stunk stunk

strike struck struck

swear swore sworn

sweep swept swept

swell swelled swollen, swelled

swim swam swum

take took taken

teach taught taught

tear tore torn

tell told told

think thought thought

throw threw thrown

understand understood understood

wake woke woken

wear wore worn

weep wept wept

win won won

wind wound wound

write wrote written

Навчальне видання

ТАРАН Олена Миколаївна, КАРПЕНКО Наталія Михайлівна, ЛАРІНА Тетяна Валеріївна, ПОНОМАРЕНКО Ольга Володимирівна, СЛИВКА Валентина Петрівна, СМЕЛЯНСЬКА Вікторія Володимирівна, ДАВИДЕНКО Олена Василівна

FIRST YEAR GRAMMAR COMPANION

Навчальний посібник для студентів І курсу факультету іноземних мов

Технічний редактор – І. П. Борис Верстка, макетування - О. В. Борщ Книга друкується в авторському редагуванні

Підписано до друку 01.10.2019 р. Формат 60х84/16 Гарнітура Times

Замовлення №

Обл.-вид. арк. 8,15

Ум. друк. арк. 10,11

Папір офсетний Тираж 110 прим.



Ніжинський державний університет імені Миколи Гоголя. м. Ніжин, вул. Воздвиженська, 3^A (04631)7-19-72 E-mail: vidavn_ndu@ukr.net www.ndu.edu.ua

Свідоцтво суб'єкта видавничої справи ДК № 2137 від 29.03.05 р.